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LIVES OF THE BRITISH SAINTS
Vol it

S. CADELL, Confessor

THE early Iedigrees in Peniarth MSS. 16 and 45 and Hafod MS.
16 enter this Saint simply as Cadell ab Urien ; but the Iolo SS.,*
through the mistake of making the next entry (S. Buan) part of
his pedigree, give him as son of Urien Rion ab Llywarch Hén, Urien
Foeddog .ab Rhun Rhion ab Llywarch Hén, and Urien ab Rhun.
He was a member, we are told, of S. Catwg’s Coér at Llancarfan,
and the founder of Llangadell, now extinct, but a capella at one
time under Llancarfan.? He is also stated to have founded Sili,
in Glamorgan,? that is, Sully, now dedicated to S. John Baptist.
“Grang’ de Eglescadel” is mentioned among the bona of the Abbot
of Bardsey in the Taxatio of 1291. His festival is not given in any of
the calendars.

One document gives us another S. Cadell,* the son of Cawrdaf ab
Caradog Freichfras. "He: had "as brothers Cathan and Medrod.
But the name appears to be a misreading. There was a Cadell bishop
of S. David’s in the gth century.

S. CADFAN, Abbot, Confessor

Just after the middle or towards the close of the fifth century, a large
company of British who had settled in Armorica, crossed over into
Wales. They were led by Cadfan, son of Eneas Lydewig and his
wife Gwen Teirbron, the daughter of Emyr Llydaw. According to
Welsh traditions, the party accompanying Cadfan, ‘“saints and
learned men,” were Padarn, Tydecho, Trunio, Maelrys, Cynon, Mael,

1 Iolo MSS., pp. 103, 128, 145 ; also Cambro-British Saints, p. 266, and Myv.
Arch., p. 419. Geoffrey of Monmouth mentions Cadell ab Urien (Bruts, ed.
Rhys and Evans, p. 200).

% Rees, Welsk Sainis, p. 336. 3 Tolo MSS., p. 221. 4 Ibid., p. 123.
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2 Lives of the British Saints

Sulien, Ethrias (or Eithras), Henwyn, Tanwg, Llywen, Llyfab, Tegai,
Trillo, Llechid, Dochdwy, Tegwyn, Baglan, Meilir, Fflewin, Gredifael,
Lleuddad, Sadwrn, Gwyndaf, Ilar, Cristiolus, Rhystyd, and many
more.! The total number has been given as 847,2 but they represent
three distinct migrations.® They were called the Gwelygordd or
Saintly Clan of Emyr Llydaw, and they take up a good deal of place
in the Welsh genealogies. The names of some of these occur in the
Life of S. Padarn, under earlier forms, as Hetinlau, Catman, Titechon.*
In the Breviary of S. Malo, 1537, they occur as Tinlatu, Cathinam and
Techo; in the Tréguier Legendarium, in the Bibliothéque Nationale,
at Paris, MS. Lat. 1148, as Quilan, Cathinam, Techucho. Cathinam
or Cathinan is probably Cadfan; Techo or Techucho is Tydecho.
Cadfan, we are told by one authority, came to this island “ in the time
of Gwrtheyrn Gwrtheneu (Vortigern) with Garmon, the son of Rhidigys,
{from Gaul, his native country, to renew Faith and Baptism in this
Island.” 8 ;

Garmon, as we hope to show under Germanus the Armorican, did
‘leave Brittany, about 462. This was not Germanus of Auxerre, but
the Germanus who later became Bishop of the Isle of Man, and died
in 474.

The name Cadfan appears earliest in the form Catamanus, which
occurs on the Llangadwaladr (Anglesey) early seventh century in-
scribed stone, put up to the memory of “ King Cadfan, the wisest,
the most renowned of all Kings.” The intermediate form Catman
occurs in the Vita S. Paterni.® An Anglian version of it is Ceedmon,
the name of the seventh century poet-monk of Whitby.

The reason of the migration can only be conjectured. Some,
such as came with Germanus, doubtless did so to assist in the
work that Saint had in hand along with Patrick, the supply of
evangelists for Ireland. But this does not explain the advent in
Wales of the great party of Cadfan, composed almost wholly of his
kinsmen. It has been supposed by Rees that these Britons fled
Armorica because of the encroachments of the Franks. But this
supposition will not avail.

There had been colonists from Britain settled in Armorica for some

! Iolo MSS., pp. 103, 111; Myv. Arch., Pp. 415, 419-20; Cambro-British
Saints, p. 266. Iolo MSS., p. 130, is wrong in making Cadfan’s mother a
granddaughter of Emyr.

2 Cambro-British Saints, p. 189.

% One band is said to have accompanied Garmon and settled at Llantwit ;
another accompanied Cadfan and settled eventually in Bardsey. JIolo MSS.,

Hwidig
3 4 Eambm-Bn’tish Saints, p. 189. 8 Iolo MSS., p. 103.
¢ Cambro-British Saints, p. 189.
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time previous to the Saxon invasion of Britain, and about the mouth
of the Loire these had been so numerous, that they had sent in 469
their King Riothimus with twelve thousand men to assist the Emperor
Anthemius against the Visigoths.! This is certain, that if there were
Britons in large number$ in Armorica in 469, they must then have
been settled there for some time previous.

It was not till the battle of Vouillé, fought in 507, that the Franks .

rendered themselves masters of Nantes. Gregory of Tours hints
that the Britons of Armorica were independent under their kings,
till after the death of Clovis, A.D. 511 ; after that they submitted to
the overlordship of the ‘Franks, and their chiefs no longer called
themselves kings.? )

The Greek historian Procopius says that “the Franks, after
their victory over the last representatives of the Roman authority
in Gaul, were incapable of struggling alone against the Visigoths and
Alaric, and they sought the friendship of the Armoricans, and made
alliance with them.” 3

The Lives of the early Breton Saints show that the British colonists
were on excellent terms with the Frank kings, and that both chiefs
and bishops and abbots sought from them confirmation of their titles
to land.

In fact, the new settlers who spread through the country could
not get on pleasantly with the Gallo-Roman citizens of Rennes,
Nantes and Vannes. Magistrates and Bishops alike viewed them
with disfavour, as having their own laws, their own customs and their
own independent ecclesiastical organization. The British colonists
would neither recognize the civil jurisdiction of the magistrates, nor
the ecclesiastical authority of the bishops. The new-comers could
expect no assistance from their native isle, where those who remained
were engaged in deadly conflict with the Teutonic invaders, and they
sought for some authority that would maintain them against
the pretensions of the Gallo-Romans in the great towns. They
sought and obtained what they required at the hands of the Frank
kings in Paris. There does not exist a particle of evidence to show
that they came into conflict with the Franks till the time of Canao of
Vannes, who took up the cause of Chramm against his father in 560.

1 “Quod conspiciens Anthemius imperator protinus solatia Britonum postu-
favit. Rex eorum Riothimus cum xii. millibus in Biturigas civitatem, Oceano
€ navibus egressus, susceptus est.”” Jornandes, De rebus Gothicis, xlv.

2 “Chanao . . . regnum ejus integrum accepit. Nam semper Britanni
post mortem Clodovechis regis sub potestate Francorum fuerunt; et duces
eorum, comites, non reges:appellati sunt.” Hist. Francorum, iv, 4.

3 De Bello Gothico, 1, 12.

——————



4 Lives of the British Saints

The Franks made no attempt to occupy Armorica, they confirmed the
Britons in their settlements and did not dispossess them.

The reason of the migration was most probably due to intestinal
feud.

It has been said ““ Gallus Gallo lupus,” and the same applies to all
Celtic races. The subdivision of rights on the death of a prince led
to fratricidal war, when the most headstrong and powerful of the
brothers either murdered or expelled his brethren, usurped their
tribal lands and rights, and reigned supreme.

The family of Emyr Llydaw migrated from Broweroc,? that is to
say from the modern department of Morbihan, where Weroc had
usurped the sovereignty. But Cadfan himself probably came from
Cornugallia, and thence Grallo had swept away all rivals and had there
made himself supreme.

The great flight of the families of Emyr and of Eneas across thesea,
we may conjecture, was to save themselves from massacre by these
two masterful men, Weroc and Grallo.

Some of the party accompanying Cadfan were kinsmen. Padarn
was son of Pedrwn, and therefore a first cousin on the mother’s side.
So was Tydecho, son of Amwn ; so also Trunio, son of Dyfwng. Gwyn-
daf was his uncle ; Sulien a first cousin, son of Hywel ; Sadwrn was son
of Bicanys brother of Emyr, Lleuddad son of Alan ab Emyr, and
Maelrys was also a cousin, as son of Gwyddno.

On his arrival in Wales, Cadfan founded a church at Towyn, in
Merioneth, land having been granted him by the king, one Cyngen,
as also another, Llangadfan, in Montgomeryshire. Later on he became
first abbot, penrhaith, or principal, as he is styled, of Bangor Gadfan
in Enlli, or Bardsey Isle,? at the instigation of Einion Frenin, prince
of Lleyn in Carnarvonshire. ,

Bangor Gadfan soon became very celebrated, for we are told that
there were there, “ a great many saints of the Welsh nation, whither
they went after Bangor Fawr in Maelor had been destroyed by the
pagan Saxons (607 or 613) ; and from the other Choirs a great many
went also ;' 2 so many that Cér Gadfan at one time accommodated
‘20,000 saints. There were no cells there, but every one did as he
chose ; and after the 20,000 saints, Bardsey became a Choir with a
cell of 500 saints.” 4

The little island became the Insula Sanctorum or the Iona of Wales,
It is called in the Book of Llan Ddv, ‘“ Roma Britanniz,” 5 "and 20,000,

t Jolo MSS., pp. 103, 1'33. give Graweg for Broweroc.

2 Jolo MSS., pp. 133, 145. 3 Ibid., p. 112. 4 Ibid., p. 151.
QI T g
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we are told, lie buried there, to whose memory the late Lord New-
borough, who owned the island, and who himself was buried on it,
erected a monument. Quaint old Thomas Fuller thought “ it more
facile to find graves in Bardsey for so many saints, than saints for so
many graves.” 1 There are two mediaeval poems, in the cywydd
metre, to the 20,000 Saints, the one by Hywel ab Dafydd ab Ienan ab
Rhys, and the other by Hywel ab Rheinallt. Taliessin, in his ¢ Gorchan
Maelderw,” in the thirteenth century Book of Aneurin, says :— .

I do mutually wish for the repose of Enlli,
The fair aspect of which is filled with deep interest; 2

and the twelfth century poet Meilir, in his “ Deathbed of the Bard,”
also fervently prayed that he might be laid ‘ to rest in happiness ”
on Enlli, which he called the “ holy isle of the saints.” 3

Owing to its sanctity and the danger often attending the voyage
across, three pilgrimages thither were considered equal to a pilgrimage
to Rome, ranking it as second to S. David’s in this respect.

There is a somewhat long but obscure poem written in honour of
S. Cadfan (Canu y Gaduan) by Llywelyn Fardd (f. c. 1230-80).
It is, however, in reality occupied principally with “ Cadfan’s high
church near the shore of the blue sea,” that is, the church of Towyn,
which, hesays, contained ‘‘ three magnificent altars, famed formiracles.”
The first was that of the Blessed Virgin, the second that of S. Peter,
and the third, “ given by hand from heaven,” was that of S. Cadfan.
This church S. Cadfan founded after a divine pattern, when he came
thither from Llydaw. It was “ the glory of Meirionydd;” and he
praises its costly crozier,® which had the power of ‘‘ checking the
enemy, and causing them to fall upon each other ; " also its sanctuary ;
numbers, he says, fled to the *“ abbot ” for protection ; then its priests,
its munificence, its relics, its choir and music; its marble and its
. miracles “constantly visible.” He invokes God’s protection and
blessing upon it and all its possessions ; and, in conclusion, eulogizes
Cadfan and Lleuddad as guardians of Enlli. In course of the poem
he speaks of Cadfan as ““ the guardian of battle,” and as ““ a hero.”
The Saint is commonly regarded as the patron of warriors, from which

1 Worthies, ed. 1840, iii, p. 528.
2 Skene, Four Ancient Books of Wales, i, p. 416 ; ii, p. 98.

3 “ Ynys glan y glain,” Myv. Arch., p. 142. Ynys Enlli probably stands for
Ynys Fenlli (cf. Moel Fenlli).
* Ibid., pp. 248-250.

 “Myn Bagyl Gadfan!” is quoted in Salisbury and Perri’s Egluryn Ffrae-
thined, ed. 1807, p. 19. '
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we may suppose that he led a military life before he left Armorica.
The fifteenth century poet, Lewis Glyn Cothi, in requesting the gift of
a bow, compliments the subject of the poem with the epithet “mab
Cadfan ” (Cadfan’s son).!

S. Cadfan is supposed to have had a preaching station on his route
from Towyn to Llangadfan at Bryn yr Eglwys, near Abergynolwyn,
a little to the north-east of Towyn. His memory is still preserved
there in the names Pistyll Cadfan (his waterfall), Eisteddfa Gadfan (his
seat), and Llwybr Cadfan (his path). This path or track, along which
he is popularly said to have habitually travelled between Towyn and
Llangadfan during his missionary labours, is still traced by the country
people at various points on the route.? Lewis Morris, in his Celtic
Remains, mentions Buarth Gadfan (his enclosure) and Dol Gadfan
(his meadow) ; but .Cadfan was not an uncommon name, and one
1; therefore not justified in assuming that all these apply to the
Saint.

A chapel dedicated to S. Cadfan stood at the north-east end of
Towyn churchyard in 1620. The Holy Well of S. Cadfan lay a little
below the church. It was much frequented for the cure of rheumatic,
scrofulous, and cutaneous disorders. For the better accommodation
of the public, it had been enclosed and made into two baths, each
about six feet square, with four dressing-rooms attached, and placed
under the charge of a caretaker. In 1804, the owners of the baths,
finding that they did not pay, filled them up with stones, and con-
verted the buildings into a coach-house and stables.

Ffynnon Gadfan at Llangadfan has been partially closed. Itlay
a short distance from the church, and was at one time covered with
a building. The efficacy of its waters was in great repute. When
the present road leading from Cann Office to the church had to be
carried over the well, care was taken to construct an arch above it.

One of the chapels in Llangathen church, Carmarthenshire, is called
Capel Cadfan. There is a Llethr Codfan (his slope) in the parish.

The church of Towyn is a very interesting early Norman structure,
a cross church with central tower. In its yard are four small menhirs
mar‘king off a quadrangular space. Graves are dense about it, but
no Interments are made within. Here, originally, stood the Cadfan
stone: now removed to the church for preservation.

It is a pillar stone seven feet long and about ten inches wide on the
two sides that are widest, the other two being considerably narrower.

! Works, Oxford, 1837, p. 373.

* For the traces of it see R. P. Morris, Cantref Meiri
s . ) s, ¢f Meiriornydd, Dolgelley,
PP 540-1; also for the well at Towyn on p. 55:.I y ity
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The inscription on it has been supposed, but wrongly, to be the
earliest known specimen of early Welsh. It was deciphered by
Williams ab Ithel as running—

4 CUNGEN CELEN ARTERUNC DUBUT MARCIAU,

and by him rendered “ The body of Cyngen is on the side between
where the marks will be,” the marks being the four upright stones in
the churchyard. The rest of the imscription he read—

4+ TENGRUGCIMALTEDGUADGAN MARTH MOLT CLODE TUAR TRICET
NITANAM,

and translated, * Beneath a similar mound is extended Cadfan, sad
that it should enclose the praise of the earth. May he rest without
blemish.” 1

The rendering has been generally disputed. Professor Rhys,2
indeed, but this seems the extreme of criticism, questions whether the
whole inscription be genuine. The stone was copied and engraved
by Lhuyd before 1709, and by Dr. Taylor in 1761, and engravings
are given of it in Gough’s Camden. As usual with these early copies
they are not accurate.

_ It is not known for certain where S. Cadfan was buried. If the above
reading of the inscription be in substance correct, then he was laid to
rest at Towyn. But his body 1s also traditionally said to have reposed
in Bardsey. He was succeeded by his cousin S. Lleuddad as abbot,
and both are regarded as patrons of Bardsey.

His festival does not occur in any of the Welsh Calendars, but it s
given as November 1 by Rees in his Essay on the Welsh Saints, and
he is followed by Williams ab Ithel in his Calendar. Browne Willis
gives the dedication of Llangadfan as All Saints, and adds, “ They
keep their Feast on All Saints’ Day, and not on the Sunday following,
as elsewhere.” 2 Bishop Maddox (1736—43), in his MS. book Z, in
the Episcopal Library at S. Asaph, gives “ Wake on All S™ Day.”
.All Saints’ Day is also given as the festival observed at Towyn

Dafydd ab Gwilym, in the fourteenth century, uses the expression,
“Myn Delw Gadfan a’i grog!” (“By Cadfan’s image and his
cross!”) * He had, no doubt, in mind the statue at Towyn, under

Y Arch. Camb., 1850, pp. 96—7. See also Haddan and Stubbs, Councils, etc.,
i, pp- 164-3.

* Ibid., 1874, p. 243 ; po forger of the seventeenth century could have written
the Irish '§ for G.

3 Survey of S. Asaph, 1720, p. 293. 4 Works, 1789, p. 130.
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which. parish is entered, in the Valor of 1535, “ Oblacion’ ad S'¢’m
Cadvan co’ibus annis—xxvj s. viij d.” (iv, p. 427; Vi, p. XXvi).

It is by no means improbable that Cadfan re-visited Brittany when
Grallo was dead, and he could do so in safety.

In Brittany Cadfan is known only in Finistére and Cotes du Nord,
and in the latter only in that part which is near the border of Finistére.
It is significant that as he is associated with Germanus as going with
him to Britain, so he should have a chapel at Brasparz adjoining
Pleyben, of which S. Germanus is patron. It is perhaps, indeed it is
probable, that it is a mistake which makes him one of the party crossing
to Wales with Germanus ; but the coincidence remains ; and he may
have been associated with the latter in Cornugallia. At Poullan near
Douarnenez, he is patron of a church and parish, in a sandy region
strewn with megalithic remains. As nothing was known there of the Life
of S. Cadfan the present curé has replaced him by S. Cadoc. The
Patronal Feast is, however, held there on Whitsun Day, whereas S.
Cadoc’s day is January 24.

The most interesting memorial of him is a statue in the chapel of
S. Venec on the road from Quimper to Chateaulin. Here is a group
of Gwen Teirbron with her three children by her second husband
Fragan, and, in addition, one of a man in armour, now ascribed to
S. Gwethenoc, one of these later sons, but Gwethenoc was a monk and
never anything else, whereas Cadfan is the patron of warriors. And
a writer in the Bullétin de la Société Archéologique de Finistére had
already suggested that this figure actually represented the eldest of
her sons, Cadfan.

Cadfan was also the original patron of Cavan, in Cdtes du Nord,
and of S. Cava near the mouth of the Abervrach in Plouguerneau.
There may have been other churches, as S. Cadou in the Sizun pro-
montory, out of the Cadoc district, that have changed their patron,
on account of so little being known of Cadfan.

That he did come back to Brittany, such dedications as remain
seem to show. And there was reason why he should. His half-
brothers Winwaloe, Jacut and Gwethenoc were notable men there
as monastic founders. But he was old, and they were young and
vigorous ; their institutions flourished, and his decayed, and he returned
to Wales, and died, either at Towyn or in Bardsey. No church in
Brittany laid claims to possess his relics.

The fixing of the dates of his life can be approximate only. Ger-
manus came over about the year 462, and Cadfan crossed probably
about the same time or a little later. Rees puts his arrival later,
‘“ Between the commencement of this century (the sixth) and the
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Statue incorrectly called S. Venec (S. Gwethenoc) in the Chapel of S. Venec,
Briec, Finistére.
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synod of Brefi, may be dated the arrival of Cadfan at the head ofa
large company of saints from Armorica.”” * Einion Frenin was the
‘great-grandson of Cunedda, and probably belonged to the first half
of the sixth century.

The Iolo MSS. are not a very trustworthy authority. In them it
is stated, ‘“ Dochdwy came with Cadfan to this island, and was in
Bardsey, and afterwards he was Bishop in the Church of Teilo, in
Llandaff, whilst Teilo was in Bardsey with the saints there, super-
intending the Choir after the death of Cadfan.”” 2 Such a statement
is clearly apocryphal. Teilo died about 580, and Cadfan was half
brother of Winwaloe, the son of the same mother by a first husband,
and consequently at least two years older than Winwaloe. This
Jatter saint died in 532, “ full of days.”” He was born about 457, and
-we may suppose that Cadfan was born at least as early as 447, but
probably much earlier, if he were a grown man when he came over to
Britain, about 462.

S. CADFARCH, Confessor

S. CADFARCH was ason of the well-known Caradog Freichfras ab
Llyr Merini, by Tegau Eurfron, daughter of Nudd Hael, celebrated
in the Triads for her beauty and chastity. He had as brothers SS.
Cawrdaf, Tangwn, and Maethlu, and he was the father of S. Elgud.?
He was a saint or monk of Bangor Dunawd on the banks of the Dee,
and, formerly, the patron of the church of Abererch, in the promontory
of Lleyn. His brother Cawrdaf is now generally, and has been for
some time, accounted the patron of Abererch, as also sometimes of
Llangoed, in Anglesey, either solely or conjointly with Tangwn.?
The older genealogies, however, never associate Cawrdaf with either.
There is a Ffynnon Gadfarch near the site of a now extinct capella,
called Llangedwydd, at the northern end of Abererch parish, and a

1 Essay on the Welsh Saints, p. 213. 2 Iolo MSS., p. 112.

® Peniarth MSS. 16 (early thirteenth century) and 435 (late thirteenth cen-
tury) ; Hafod MS. 16; Myv. Arch., p. 420; Iolo MSS., pp. 104, 123; Cambro-
British Saints, p. 267. Some of the genealogies make him to be the son cf
Cawrdaf, but he was really his brother (Myv. Arch., p. 420).

4+ See, e.g., the old parish lists in Evans, Report on Welsh MSS., i, pp. 912-3,
and cf. Myv. Arch., pp. 423, 741. Browne Willis, Bangor, pp. 275, 282, gives
both as dedicated to Cawrdaf. £ )
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Ffynnon Gawrdaf at Abererch. There is also a Cadair Gawrdaf (his
chair) near the church.

Cadfarch is the patron of Penegoes church, called occasionally
Llangadfarch, in Montgomeryshire. On the chalice, dated 1728, the
church is called “Ecclesia de Pen Egwest alias Llan Gadfarch.”
Fiynnon Gadfarch is mentioned in the terrier of 1687, and Bishop
Maddox in his MS. book Z, in the Episcopal Library at S. Asaph,
has the following note, “ St. Gadfarch’s Wellis in one field of y* Glebe.
Ano’yr P'cel of y¢ Glebe is called Erw Gadfarch.” The well is still
esteemed for its efficacy in cases of rheumatism. One of the fields
on the glebe belonging to Meifod is also called Fiynnon Gadfarch.

His Festival, October 24, is not found in the earlier calendars,
but it occurs in the calendars in the Welsh Prymers of 1618 and 1633,
in the calendar prefixed to Allwydd Paradwys, 1670 (as Calofarch),
and in almanacks generally of the eighteenth century. Browne
Willis also gives the same day.! See S. CAWRDAF.

His name hasa parallel in the Greek Immouayos. As a common
noun it means a war-horse or charger.

S. CADFRAWD, Bishop, Confessor

His name occurs among the mythical gwelygordd or clan of Bran ab
Llyr. His genealogy is variously given, as the son of Cadfan ab
Cynan ab Eudaf ab Caradog ab Bran, and the son of Cadfan ab Eudaf
ab Coel ab Cyllin ab Caradog ab Brin. He was the father of SS.
Gwrmael and Cadgyfarch. He is said tobe the patron of Caerleon
(now S. Cadoc), and to have been a bishop, but his see is not given.?

It has been supposed that Cadfrawd was the same as Adelfius, who
is recorded to have been present at the Council of Arles in 314, the
names being “ almost a translation of each other.”” ® Caerleon may
have been the seat of a bishopric, as Giraldus Cambrensis maintained,
and Adelfius may have been bishop of the see, but there is no clear
evidence that he came from this town or district. He is called in
the entry “ episcopus de civitate Colonia Londinensium.”4 There
is evidently some error here. Haddan and Stubbs and others have
suggested Legionensium for Londinensium, making it refer to Caerleon ;

1 Bangor, p. 361. z Iolo MSS., pp. 116, 135-6.
3 Rees, Welsh Saints, p. 100. 4 Mansi, Cone., ii, p. 467.
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but another reading—and a more probable one—finds favour, which
takes it as standing for Lindenstum, *“of Lincoln.” 1

S. CADGYFARCH, Bishop, Confessor

CADGYFARCH was a son of the previous saint, and brother of S.
Gwrmael2 He is said to have been a bishop, but we are not told of
what see, and to be the patron of the church of Bryn Buga, the old
name for Usk, situated in the hundred or commote of the name in Mon-
mouthshire. Usk church is now dedicated to S. Mary Magdalene

S. CADO, CADOR, or CADWY, Prince, Confessor

THIS saint was a son of Geraint, prince of Devon and Cornwall. He
has been laid hold of by Geoffrey of Monmouth, and brought
into his fictitious history. He makes Cador, Duke of Cornwall, come
to the assistance of Arthur when besieging the Saxon Colgrin in York.
Colgrin appeals for help to Germany, and Baldulf, brother of Colgrin,
goes to his aid at the head of a body of six thousand men, but is waylaid
by Cador and defeated. A little later, when Arthur hastens to Alclud,
where Howel lies sick, and is besieged by the Picts and Scots, Cador is
placed in command of the army opposed to the Saxons. “The
Duke of Cornwall, who had the command of ten thousand men, would
not as yet pursue the Saxons in their flight, but speedily made himself
. master of their ships. . . . After this he hastily pursued the enemy
and allowed no quarter.” Then we have Lucius Tiberius, procurator
of the Roman Commonwealth, making war on Arthur, and in a great
battle that ensues Cador distinguishes himself.

All this rubbish may be cast aside. The sole element of truth in it,
is the naming of Cado as Duke of Cornwall, and father of Constantine,
probably ‘‘ the tyrannical whelp of the unclean lioness of Domnonia,”
whom Gildas assailed with such rancour.

Cataw or Cado, with his brothers Cyngar, Iestyn, and Selyf, are

! Bright, Early English Church History, pp. 10, 11; Haverfield in English
Hist. Review, July, 1896, p. 419.
2 Iolo MSS., pp. 116, 136.
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mentioned in the Myvyrian Bonedd ! as sons of Geraint ab Erbin.
They were saints of Llancarfan. In Peniarth MS. 127 (early sixteenth
century) his name is written Cattw, but the Tolo MSS.? genealogies
identify him with Caw, lord of Cwm Cawlwyd. The two were con-
founded at an early period.?

Cato or Cado is mentioned in the Life of S. Carannog,* where we are
told, in an episode relating to the foundation of Carantock Church in
Cornwall, that “ in those times, Cato and Arthur ruled in that country,
living at Dindraithov,” that is, in Welsh, Dindraethwy, a place
known to be in Cornwall—‘ the Dun Tredui, the three-fossed fort
of Crimthan Mor (366«378) in Britain, when the Gadhels held sway
there down to the Ictian Sea.” ® He is mentioned, as ‘“ Cathov filius
Gerentonis,” in the Genealogy of S. Winnoc. Cado, son of Geraint,
occurs in the early fifteenth century pedigrees in the Jesus College
(Oxon) MS. 20, and he is there given a son, Pedur or Peredur, who is
probably to be identified with the Berth, son of Cado, in the Tale
of Culhwch and Olwen.®* His name assumes also the form Cadwy ;
and he is mentioned in the Triads? as one of the three men (al.
the three in Arthur’s court) who were ‘“ best towards guests and
strangers.” 8 [

No churches bear the name of Cado in Wales or in Cornwall. It is
possible that Portscatho may be named after him; it is in a portion of
Cornwall redolent with reminiscences of Geraint and the royal Dom-
nonian family. But probably any church he may have founded, if he

did found any, has been attributed to the better known and more
popular Cadoc.

S. CADOC or CATWG THE ELDER, Abbot

THE conversion of S. Illityd took place when he was a married man,
when he was hardly younger or older than twenty-seven. He became
a famous abbot, and the epoch when he exercised his great influence

1 Myv. Avch., pp. 421, 423. 2BPPNIT6, M6
® Caw is in one passage in the Tale of Culhwch and Olwen (Oxford M, abinogion,

p. 123) called Cado, and in the Bonedd in Hafod MS. 16, Cadw. Cado also
occurs for Cato the Philosopher.

* Cambro-British Saints, pp. 99~100.

® Cormac’s Glossary ; 0ld Irish Glossarvies, W. Stokes, Lond. 1862, p. xlviii.
Oxf. Mabin., p. 108.

Myv. Arch., p. 393; see also Oxf. Mabin., pp. 106, 159.

8
7
8 See Mr. Egerton Phillimore’s valuable note in Y Cymmyodor, xi, pp. 9o-1.
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as a teacher was between 490 and 520. His pupils, Gildas, Samson, and
Paul died towards the end of the sixth century. There is reason to
believe that Ilityd died between 527 and 537, and we cannot put his
conversion much later than 476.

The famous Cadoc, or Catwg, of Llancarfan was contemporary
with Gildas, Samson, David, and Paulus Aurelianus. He died about
577. Hewas nephew of Paul Penychen, with whom, before his con-
version, Illtyd served as a fighting man. It'is not therefore possible
to admit, with the authors of the Lives of S. Cadoc and of S. Illtyd,
that this latter was converted by Cadoc of Llancarfan, who was
born not before 497.

But that there was a Cadoc or Catwg an abbot in South Wales before
the renowned saint of that name, son of Gwynllyw, is more than doubt-
ful. The statements made in the Jolo MSS. are not of much value ;
they are late. According to them Garmon appointed both Illtyd and
Catwg to be abbots. Now the Garmon here referred to was certainly
not Germanus of Auxerre, as we hope to show later, but Germanus
the Armorican, who died Bishop of Man in 474. This Germanus did
have something to do with Illtyd, as ‘we learn from the Life of
S. Brioc. The late Brychan lists 2 give a Cadoc son of Brychan, and
these are responsible for the statement that “he was made bishop by
Dyfrig, his brother,” and that “he went to France where he lies buried.”?
But neither version of the Cogratio knows anything of a Cadoc the
son of Brychan. His name is clearly a misreading of the late genealo-
gies for Rydoch (i.e. Iudoc), or Ridoc, the Reidoc of the Jesus Coll.
MS. zo.

There was a Cadoc or Caidoc who crossed to the land of the Morini
from Britain at the close of the sixth century, and was the means of
the conversion of S. Ricarius, and the foundation of the Abbey of
Centule in 627. There this Cadoc died and was buried, and an epitaph
was composed for his tomb by S. Angilbert, Abbot of Centule. He is
commemorated on May 30.4 Of his parentage the Welsh authorities
have no record. ‘

The origin of the story of the association of Cadoc with Illtyd that
occurs both in the Life of S. Ill{yd and in that of S. Cadoc would seem
to be this. A tradition was current that Illtyd when in the service
of Paul Penychen had been hunting one day in the Carfan valley,
when many of his comrades floundered into the bogs that occupied

1 Jolo MSS., p. 131.

¢ Ibid., pp. 111, 119, 140; Myv. Avch., p. 419.
3 Iolo MSS., p. 119 ; Peniarth MS. 75, p. 53.
¥ Acta SS. Boll., Mai, vii, pp. 262-3.
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the bottom and perished, and this so affected the mind of Illtyd that he
renounced the world. At the same time another tradition told how
that Cadoc, when at a place unnamed, was harassed by the servants
of Sawyl Benuchel, who demanded of him a meal, and were cursed by
him, and perished miserably in a morass.

The author of the Vita S. Iltuti knew of both these legends, and
fused them together. . He turned Sawyl Benuchel into Pawl Penychen,
and located the scene in Nantcarfan, where the accident to the party
of Ilityd had actually taken place ; unconscious of the gross anachro-
nism he committed, he brought Cadoc into association with Ilityd,
and gave him a hand in the conversion of Illtyd. At a later date,
when Lifris wrote his Life of S. Cadoc, finding this storyin the Vita
Iltuti, he took it into his composition, unconscious of the fact that it
was a reduplication of the legend he had already recorded of Cadoc
and Sawyl Benuchel.

We may accordingly dismiss Cadoc the Elder as an unhistorical
personage, who never existed.

S. CADOC or CATWG, Abbot, Bishop, Martyr

BuTone tolerably complete Life of S. Cadoc exists, and that was
written by Lifris, Lifricus, or Leofric, mentioned in the Book of Llan
Ddv,! who was the son of Bishop Herwald (1056-1104), and “ Arch-
deacon of Glamorgan and Master of S. Cadoc of Llancarfan.” This
is by much the most important of all the Lives of the Welsh Saints
written in Wales. It is a composition of material of various sorts
heaped together without order. It has two prefaces, then the Life in
thirty-three chapters ; this is followed by the Passio in three chapters,
and then by a series of miracles wrought after the death of the Saint.
‘Then ensue three genealogies, a constitution of the Society of Llan-

1 Pp. 271-4. We know from the Life itself (c. 41) that Lifris wrote it. He
was probably the last abbot of Llancarfan. It is not at all improbable that
the records forming the cartulary may have been copied out of a book of the
gospels on the altar at Llancarfan. During his stay with Cadoc at Llancarfan
Gildas made such a copy, and Caradoc of Llancarfan, in his Life of Gildas, tells
us that, about 1150, it “still remained in the Church of S. Cadoc, covered all
over with gold and silver,”” and that it was used by the Welsh for taking oaths
upon. (Prof. Hugh Williams, Gildas, p. 407.) According to the Life of
S. Cadoc (Cambro-British Saints, p. 66) it was copied in Echni. Whether the
<codex Caradoc refers to was the actual work of Gildas is, of course, matter for
doubt. ‘
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carfan, with a list of its possessions and their appropriation; a rule
about making wills ; then it goes back to the story of the conversion
of Gwynllyw, to introduce his donations, and then ensues a cartulary
of Llancarfan.

The Life is in the early thirteenth century MS. Cotton. Vesp. A. xiv,
and has been printed in the Lives of the Cambro-British Saints, pp. 22—
96, very inaccurately. ] The errors have been rectified by Professor
Kuno Meyer, in Y Cymmrodor, vol. xiii (1goo), pp. 77-84, and the
donations have been correctly reprinted by Dr. F. Seebohm, in his
Tribal System in Wales, 1895, pp. 205-224.

The Life by Lifris formed the basis for that by John of Tynemouth,
Cotton. Tiberius E. 1 (fourteenth century), which is given in Capgrave’s
Nova Legenda Anglie. Another MS. is in Cotfon. Titus D. xxii
(fifteenth century). There existed formerly a Life of S. Cadoc at
Quimperlé in Finistére, but as the thirteenth century writer of the
Cartulary of Ste. Croix there complains, it had been carried off surrep-
titiously by a priest, named Judhuarn, who died before he returned
it, and the book was not recovered.l

However, probably the substance of the Life had already been
taken into the Breviary lections for the Feastof S. Cadoc at Quimperlé,
and although no copy of this Breviary now exists, Albert le Grand
saw it, and from it, and from the lections in the Vannes Breviary,
composed his Lifeof S.Cadoc. The Life in the Acta SS.of the Bol-
landists is a mere reproduction of that of John of Tynemouth,
after a transcript made from Capgrave.

Gwynllyw, King of Gwynllywg, had married Gwladys, daughter,
or more probably granddaughter, of Brychan, and had carried her
off v¢ et armis. Cadoc was their son. Gwynllyw, who was a lawless
tyrant, had sent his robber bands’ into Gwent, beyond the Usk, and
had carried off the cow of an Irish hermit, whose name was Tathan or
Meuthi.? The hermit ventured to the caer of the King to implore
its restoration. According to the account in the Life of Cadoc he was
well received and courteously treated; but according to that in the
Life of Tathan he was treated with horse-play and insult.? However,
Gwynllyw retained him to baptize the child that was then born to
him, and it was given the name of Cathmail, which occursin mediaeval
Irish as Cathmdl, in Welsh Cadfael. Although Cathmail was his

1 Cartulary of Quimperlé, Paris, 1896, p. 217.

2 In the Vita S. Tathei, Cambro-British Saints, he is called Tatheus. In that
of Cadoc he is given as Meuthi ; in the Life by Albert le Grand it is Menechesius.
Meuthi (Mo-thai) is another form of the same name as Tathan. It has the

prefix Mo (my) and the other the affix an.
8 Vita S. Tathei, Cambro-British Saints, p. 262.
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name, he is known as Cadoc or Catwg, in Latin Cadocus. In lik
manner, Briomaglus is the Brioc of hagiology. In the Quimper
cartulary it is Catuodus.

Later on, the boy was entrusted to Tathan or Meuthi, to be educa‘e
at Caerwent, where he had a college, that had been founded by Yny
king of that portion of Gwent. “And he, willingly receiving hin
diligently instructed him in Donatus and Priscian, and other arts fc
twelve years.”’?

The story is told of Cadoc, as of so many other Celtic saints, th:
he brought live coals to his master in the lap of his habit ; and thz
the place where the coals were concealed was well known till the fir
half of the eleventh century, and then forgotten. In this instan
there may be some basis of fact. Cadoc may have discovered a sea
of coal, not in Gwent, but Morganwg, and this the natives continue
to use till the irruption of the Normans, when the place was abandone
and forgotten. How old Cadoc was when he was committed t
Tathan or Meuthi we do not know, probably when he was a child ¢
six. If so, then he left his master when aged eighteen, and returne
to his father.

The Life, as given by Albert le Grand, however, makes him olds
than that. His story is as follows :—Gwynllyw, being about 1
make war on a neighbouring king, committed the command of h
men to his son Cathmail. But the young man, feeling no vocatic
for the military life, ran away, and placed himself under the directio
of the Irish teacher. We shall probably be right in transferring th
incident to his return from school at Caerwent.

Cathmail, having resolved on embracing the ecclesiastical professio:
deserted his home and the lands of his father, and went into Mo
ganwg, to the territory of his uncle, Paul or Pol, of Penychen, wt
ruled over that district in Morganwg. Here he wandered abot
alone in a marshy district, and coming suddenly on a herd ¢
swine belonging to Paul, scared and scattered them. The swineher
incensed at this, raised his lance, and would have transfixed him, ha
not Cathmail told him his name and relationship to his master.

When Paul learned that his nephew was wandering homeless ¢
his territory, he sent for him and offered him some land on which {
settle. Cathmail gladly accepted the marshy valley where he ha
met the swineherd, and his uncle made it over to him.

In one part of the marsh, where was higher ground, a wild swa
had nested, and there also an old grey boar had its lair. As Cathma
was looking about for a suitable spot on which to erect his wattle

! Vita S. Cadoci, Cambro-British Saints, P27
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cell, he disturbed the swan and the boar. The former flew away, but
the boar retired reluctantly, and turned thrice to observe the man
who had invaded its retreat. Cathmail put sticks into the ground
to mark the spots where the boar had halted, and resolved to plant
his monastery there, and build his church, refectory and dormitory,
at the points where the beast had turned to watch him. He was soon
joined by other young men, probably those who had been his fellow
students, and had no liking for the rowdy career of a man of war, and
this was the beginning of the famous monastery of Llancarfan.

“ Then the holy man undertook to throw up a large mound of earth,
and to make therein a very beautiful cemetery, to be dedicated to the
honour of God ; in which the bodies of the faithful might be buried
around the temple. The mound being completed, and the cemetery
finished in it, he made four large paths over rising grounds about his
cell.”* The position chosen was probably not that where now stands
the church of Llancarfan, but a little distance to the south, in a
field called ‘“The Cuhﬂely,” where there are traces of ancient buildings.
This spot agrees better with Lifris’ description.

After that his buildings of wood (‘monasteriolum ex lignorum
materie ”’) were completed, he looked out for another site that would
serve as a place of refuge in the event of political incursions or civil
war, and chose a hill-top, now Llanfeithin, and there also he threw
up a mound that was circular, and on it erected a castle, called
Castell Cadog (“inillo alium tumulum in modum urbis rotundum de
limo terrae exagerari, ac in tumulum eregi fecit quod Brittonum
idiomate Kastil Cadoci nuncupatur”).

Llanfeithin, this second settlement, is on high ground, whereas
Llancarfan is in the bottom of the valley, which at that time was all
morass. It is now included within the parish of Llancarfan, but was
formerly an extra-parochial district of some 433 acres. Over against
Llanfeithin, on the further side of the valley, is Garn Llwyd, whither
Dyfrig was wont to retire, according to local tradition.

The biographer goes on to relate how that Cadoc abandoned his
monastery and went to Ireland, “ after a long space of time.”  Arrived
in Ireland, he studied in the school of Lismore under S. Carthagh
Muchutu, with whom he remained three years. As Carthagh was
hardly born at this period, and Lismore was not founded till about
620,% we have here a gross anachronism. The mistake is due, prob-
ably, to the biographer having confounded the Carthaghs. There

1 Vita S. Cadoci, Cambro-British Saints, p. 34.

¥ Annals of Inisfallen. Annals of Ulster, 635 (636). Carthagh died in 637.
Annals of Ulster, 636 (recte 637) ; Annals of Inisfallen and Four Masters, 637.
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were two. The elder of that name was disciple of Ciaran of Saighir,
whom he succeeded in the abbacy about 4go. It is possible enough
that Cadoc may have gone to this, the elder Carthagh, at Saighir.

Returning from Ireland, after three years, “with a large company
of Irish and British clergy,” among whom were Finnian, Macmoil and
Gnavan, instead of going back to Llancarfan, as we might have ex-
pected, he placed himself under a celebrated rhetorician, Bachan, in
Brecknock. Bachan “ had come from Italy to that country,” and
Cadoc “much desired to be taught Latin by him after the Roman
method.”

Llanspyddid was over against the Brito-Roman town, now Y Gaer,
and which may have been called by the Romans Bannium. About
this we shall have more to say in the sequel. At the entrance to the
church of Llanspyddid lay Anlach, the father of Brychan, and grand-
father or great-grandfather of Cadoc.

Finnian, who is represented in the Life as a youth (effebus, c. g),
cannot have been young at the time, he was senior to Cadoc ; he did,
indeed, spend many years studying in Britain, and he did contract a
friendship with Cadoc, but he was not his pupil. In the Life we are
informed that Cadoc came from Ireland with “ Finian videlicet
Macmoil, atque Gnavan.” At a much later period Cadoc “ erected
a church to Macmoillus his disciple, and protected it with a fence, and
therein built an altar, that he might lodge there when he went into
Gwent, or should return ; and he appointed Macmoillus prior therein ”
(c. 55). This is Bedwellty, in Monmouthshire. He also erected, near
Llancarfan, “a chapel in honour of S. Finian.” The biographer,
apparently, was uncertain whether Finnian and Macmoil were one and
the same, or different personages. We are disposed to identify
Macmoil with Cainnech of Aghaboe. (See under S. CAINNECH.)

Whilst Cadoc studied at Llanspyddid, famine raged in the land, and
the master and his pupils were put to straits for food. However,
Cadoc observed a mouse carrying a grain of wheat. He succeeded in
catching it, and borrowing a thread from a widow, tied it to the foot
of the little creature and let it run ; whereupon it darted into a hole.
Cadoc dug on the spot, and discovered an underground chamber stored
with grain. Such secret granaries were by no means uncommon, and
are found in many ancient Welsh, Irish and Scottish forts.! Or it may
have been that one of the hypocausts that have been discovered at
Y Gaer had been used as a storehouse for grain.  On this supply the
master and his pupils were able to live for some time.

Brychan now gave the land of Llanspyddid to his grandson Cadoc,

! Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, vol. iii, Antiq., pp. 59, 75.
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who appointed his teacher Bachan to be abbot there, and departed.
It is possible, we cannot say more, that to this period belongs the
foundation of Llangadog Fawr in Carmarthenshire, also in Brychan
territory.

Llangadog is pleasantly situated between the rivers Bran and Sawdde,
above their junction with the Towy. To the east tower up the
beautiful Brecknock Beacons, and to the south is the purple ridge of
the Black Mountains, below which, and parallel with the course of
the Towy, runs the Trichrug.

An outcrop from this latter is a rock crowned by a stone fort, the
Garn Goch, of red rock, commanding the basin of the Towy. On the
side is Llys Brychan, by its name indicating its connexion with the
mysterious prince of Brycheiniog, and it is probable that the marvellous
stone caer on the summit bore this name originally, but has shed it
for the more descriptive appellation of the Red Cairn.

It was possibly whilst Cadoc was at Llangadog that he was annoyed
by Sawyl Benuchel (not to be confounded with the brother of Dunawd),
who had established himself in the pleasant mountain basin of Cynwyl
Gaio, where a bunch of rock, starting out of the level bottom that was
once a lake bed, offered a suitable position for a caer, commanding as
it did the entire basin. It bears the significant name of Pen-y-Ddinas,
showing that at one time a stronghold occupied its crown, but the
ruins of prehistoric fortifications have disappeared, as the hill has
been converted into a rabbit-warren.

Below it stands Llansawel, leaving us to suspect that this ruffian in
his old age turned saint and founder ; for this is quite out of the region
of the activities of his namesake, Sawyl Benuchel, brother of Dunawd.

The church is supposed to be dedicated to S. Sawyl Felyn ab Bledri
Hir, and this may have been the chief who worried Cadoc, and later
turned serious and founded the church. But we are left here to con-
jecture, based on the fact that Llangadog is within easy reach of
Pen-y-Ddinas, below which is Llansawel, and that a Sawyl did vex
Cadoc. A slender foundation for a theory—to be taken for what it is
worth. Pen-y-Ddinas was an eminently suitable situation from which
a British chief could, at pleasure, harry the neighbourhood, especially
the obnoxious Irish in Brycheiniog.

Passing through the gap in the heather-clad hills at Bwleh Cefn
Serth, along the old Sarn Helen, he would descend the Dulais to its
junction with the Towy, and, arriving at the monastery of S. Cadoc,
could harass the saint. One day, he and his party broke in, and
carried off meat and drink, but did no further damage. Cadoc was
absent at the moment, but on his return learnt what had been
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done, and was further informed that the marauders were at a little
distance, eating and drinking what they had ravished from his larder
and cellars.

After they had gorged themselves with meat and ale, Sawyl and his
rogues lay down to sleep. Cadoc seized the opportunity to inflict
on them a stinging insult. He set his monks to shave half the heads
of the drunken men, and then with the razors to slash off the ears and
lips of their horses.

We are informed that Sawyl and his men had retreated to a hill-top
for their carouse, and if our identification of the localities be accepted,
this can have been none other than the Garn Géch. When the barbers
had done their work, Cadoc and fifty of his clerics assumed their
ecclesiastical vestments, and marched in procession to the hill to meet,
and, if possible, to mitigate the resentment of the freebooter.

What happened is veiled in fable. The earth opened and swallowed
up Sawyl and his men, ““and the ditch where they were engulfed is
known unto this day to all the passers-by.” 1 That nothing of the
sort took place we may be pretty sure. What probably occurred
was that the settlers in the neighbourhood assembled and assumed a
threatening attitude, and the bully was fain to decamp.

Under Garn Goch is Llys Brychan, as already said, so that it is
probable that Brychan had a residence there.

After this, Cadoc sang Te Deum, and blessed the men who had
made his adversaries ridiculous, and had so barbarously mutilated
the dumb beasts.

“ Blessed are ye in the Lord ; and this prerogative be to the twelve
barbers, figuring the Twelve Apostles, and to all those who hold your
succession in the town, to all your posterity. If judgment and useful
counsel be wanting in all the coasts, let it be found among you. If
twelve appointed wise men be lacking, let the counsel of twelve irre-
gular clergy be had; if twelve clerics should not be present, then
commit judgment and counsel to twelve young innocent boys.” 2
This benediction has a very early ring about it, far earlier than the
eleventh century, when the Life of Cadoc was written ; and the muti-
lation of the men and beasts is truly Celtic in character.?

We cannot be at all certain that this incident took place at the
time and place suggested, but it would seem not improbable that the
foundation of Cadoc in Llangadog Fawr should occur before leaving
the Brychan territory, before his return to Gwent.  Possibly owing to

1 Cambro-British Saints, pp. 423.
* Ibid., p. 43.
8 So in the Mabinogi of Branwen.
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the annoyance caused by proximity to Sawyl, Cadoc quitted this part
of the country and returned to his original settlement at Llancarfan,
which he found wholly ruinous, and without inhabitants. “ He
beheld his principal monastery destroyed, and the rafters of the roofs
and the rubbish of the building scattered over the cemetery; and
grieving at the ruin, he earnestly desired to rebuild it (c. 9). He
ordered all his monks, clerics and workmen to go to the woods and cut
timber for the structure, excepting only the two youths, Finnian and
Macmoil, who were to go on with their lessons. As already pointed
out, Finnian was considerably older than Cadoc.

The steward, cook and sexton, seeing that these Irish students were
not helping in the necessary work, rated them as idlers, and ordered
them to fetch timber. Somewhat abashed, they obeyed and yoked
two stags to a beam to draw it to the monastery. When Cadoc saw
that they were working and not reading, he asked the reason. They
told him the circumstances, and he cursed the cook, sexton and steward
that they should die the worst of deaths by sword or famine.

Cadoc erected an oratory to Finnian over a spot where he had left
his book exposed to a shower, which had not, however, materially
injured it. One cannot but suspect that the biographer has wholly
mistakenthe ageof Finnian, and has inserted this hackneyed miracle to
account for the existence in his time of a Finnian chapel, erected by
Cadoc in honour of his friend, who was so much older than himself, and
who became so illustrious as a master of saints in Ireland.

About this time Gwynllyw, the father of Cadoc, fell sick and died.
The old king had given a good deal of trouble in his time, but had
been converted and brought to lead an eremitical life by the instru-
mentality of his son. When he felt himself dying, he sent for Cadoc
and the bishop Dyfrig. “ And they came to the sick person, and gave
him penance, exhorting and comforting him with salutary doctrine.
After this, the bishop pronounced absolution and apostolical bene-
diction.” 1

About this time Gildas passed through Penychen, and visited Cadoc.
He had with him a bell, to which Cadoc took a fancy, and which he
offered to buy ; but Gildas refused to part with it, as he purposed
presenting it to the altar of S. Peter at Rome.

Some years after, however, Gildas gave the bell to Cadoc, alleging
that the Bishop of Rome had declined to receive it when he heard
thatsuch anillustrious man had expressed a desire to possess it ; and
Cadoc believed the flattering story.2

* Vita S. Gundleii, Cambro-British Saints, p- I50.

* Ibid., pp. 59-60; Vita II Gildae, ed. Williams, p. 404. In the Vita' S.
Cadoci the Pope is called Alexander. There was no such Pope at the time.
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From a comparison of the Lives of Gildas and Cado? it would
appear that the former visited Llancarfan in 528. Cadoc seized on t‘he
occasion to ask Gildas to take charge of his monastery for him whilst
he himself went into Alba. To this Gildas consented.?

There is a discrepancy between the accounts in the Life of Gildas
and that of Cadoc. In the former it is said that Gildas undertook the
charge of Llancarfan for one year only. In the Vita S. Cadoci, Cadoc is
represented as being absent in Alba for seven years. But as Gildas
spent only seven years in all at this period in Britain, and during that
time he was much associated with Cadoc in retirement in the Holmes,
in the Severn Sea, we must take the shorter time as that during which
Cadoc was in Alba.

Before Cadoc left for the north Gildas and David had fallen out.
Each wanted to be head of the ecclesiastics in Dyfed. In fact, Gildas
was making a strenuous effort to turn David out, and occupy his place.
As much heat and angry feeling was provoked, Cadoc was called in to
decide between them. This was a delicate matter, and as the Abbot
of Llancarfan little relished the prospect of displeasing either of the
rivals, he passed on the thankless office to S. Finnian, afterwards of
Clonard, his friend and companion, and Finnian gave his judgment in
favour of David.2 Cadoc now departed for Alba and built a monastery
of stone “ near the mountain Bannauc.”

Bishop Forbes says :—*‘ Cambuslang is dedicated to S. Cadoc, and
through the adjoining parish of Carmunnock runs a range of hills,
called the Cathkin Hills, which separates Strathclyde from Ayrshire,
and terminates in Renfrewshire (Strathgryf). This must be the ‘ moun-
tain Bannauc’; and the name is preserved in Carmunnock.” 3

This Caer Bannauc is probably the Caer Banhed of the Life of S.
Paul of Léon. A certain Marc Conomanus was king there, and he
and Paulus Aurelianus had fallen out over a trifle, and the huffed
saint had departed, and crossed into Brittany, as nearly as can be
calculated, in 526. Now Paul was a native of Penychen, and almost
certainly was acquainted with Cadoc. On quitting the territory of
King Marc, he would go home to Penychen, where Cadoc would learn
from him that the king of Strathclyde actually desired to have a
religious foundation in his realm, and had urged Paul to take on him
the ecclesiastical oversight of his people.t Paul in a fit of spleen had

! Vita II Gildae, pp. 404-5.
2 Life of S. Finnian, Book of Lismore, pp. 222-3.

3 Skene, Four Ancient Books of Wales, i 173-4; F
Scottish Saints, Edinburgh, 1872, p. 293, | ¥ o 47 Forves, Kalendas of
4 Vita S. Pauli Aureliani, c. 8.



S. Cadoc 23

left. Cadoc thought he saw his occasion, and having provided for
his monastery at Llancarfan being ruled during his absence, went to
the realm of Marc Conomanus, and took up the threads dropped by
Paul and established there a monastic house.

A curious story attaches to the founding of this monastery in Scot-
land. Whilst digging the foundations, Cadoc came on some huge
bones, and prayed that it might be revealed to him whose they were.
In the night, a gigantic man appeared and told him that they belonged
to his earthly remains, and that he was Caw, surnamed Prydyn, or
Cawr (a giant) ; that he had been a king beyond the mountain range,
1.e. in Strathclyde, but had fallen there in battle.!

What seems to be the explanation of this story is that at the request
of Gildas, Cadoc sought out the burial mound of his father, Caw of
Cwm Cawlwyd, who had been engaged in conflict with the Gwyddyl
Ffichti, or Irish Goidels, and had lost his territory to them. Thenas a
token of friendly feeling to Gildas, Cadoc erected his monastery over the
tomb of the father of that saint. The similarity of the name Caw
with Cawr furnished the legend-maker with the idea that he was a
giant.

According to the Vita S. Cadoci, Cadoc made a pilgrimage to S.
Andrew’s. As it happens, S. Andrew’s was not founded till 741,
about two hundred years later.

On the return of Cadoc to Llancarfan, he resumed the rule over his
abbey, and Gildas retired to Glastonbury ; but the friends were wont
during Lent to retreat to the Steep and Flat Holmes in the estuary of
the Severn, for prayer and meditation, broken only by visits to one
another.

About the year 534, according to our computation, Gildas went
back to his monastic settlement at Ruys in Armorica. It is possible
that it was now, at his persuasion, that Cadoc also went thither “ with
a few of his monks.” 2 Lifris says that he went there after the death
of his father Gwynllyw. But on the whole we are disposed to think
that Cadoc’s visit to Armorica took place at the time of. the great
flight of clerics from South Wales on the breaking out of the Yellow
Plague (547). But what Cadoc did, perhaps, undertake about this
time was a pilgrimage to Jerusalem and to Rome.

His monastery at Llancarfan had now grown to one of great import-
ance and wealth. The legend represents his power there as princely.
“ He daily fed a hundred clergy, and a hundred soldiers, and a hundred

! Cambro-British Saints, pp. 56-8.
* “ Ayant choisi un petit nombre de ses religieux.” Albert le Grand, from
the old lectionaries of Quimperlé and Vannes,
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workmen, and a hundred poor men, with the same number of widows.
This was the number of his household, besides servants in attendance,
and esquires, and guests, whose number was uncertain, and a multitude
of whom used to visit him frequently. Nor is it strange that he was
a rich man and supported many, for he was abbot and prince (abbas
enim et princeps) over the territory (Gwynllywg) of his father from
Ffynnon Hén, that is, the Old Well, as far as the mouth of the river
Rumney, and he possessed the whole territory from the river Golych
as far as the river Dawon, from Pentyrch right on to the valley of
Nantcarfan, and from that valley to the river Gurimi, that is, the
Lesser Rumney, towards the sea.” ?

At this point it may be well to pause for a moment over the con-
version of Illtyd by Cadoc. The story is told in both the Vita S.
Cadoci, and also in the Vita S. Iliuti.

Illtyd, a soldier in the service of Paul, king of Penychen, and uncle
of Cadoc, went out with fifty men under him to hawk and hunt, and
they imperiously demanded food of Cadoc. As Cadoc had received
all his land round Llancarfan from Paul Penychen, one would have
supposed that he would cheerfully have supplied these hungry hunters
with a lunch. However, he only grudgingly complied with their
demands, and the wrath of God fell on them, the earth opened and
swallowed them all alive, with the exception of Illtyd, who was there-
npon converted, and placed himself under instruction by Cadoc.?

It may be observed that here we have a worn and washed out copy
of the incident already recorded, which we suppose occurred at Llan-
gadog Fawr. In one the prince is Sawyl, in the other, Paul. The
soldiers of both rudely demand meat, and in both are punished by
being swallowed up in the ground.

As we have already pointed out, the conversion of Illtyd by Cadoc
of Llancarfan is chronologically impossible. The authors of the two
legends no doubt did know that Illtyd had been converted while
hunting in the morass in which somewhat later rose the famous
monastery of S. Cadoc. The legend writers, to make the change in
the life of Illtyd sensational and miraculous, adapted to it the tale
of Cadoc’s affair with Sawyl Benuchel.

Whether, whilst Cadoc was abroad, on his way to, or return from,
Rome, he visited Gildas at Ruys can be only matter of conjecture.
He may have done so, and have taken a fancy to the peculiar
situation of that monastery, and have learned from Gildas that
there was a site somewhat similar to the north of the Morbihan, a

! Cambro-British Saints, p. 45.
2 Vita S. Iltuti, Cambro-British Saints, ¢. 3; Vita S. Cadoci, #bid., c. 16.
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lagoon of inferior dimensions, called the Sea of Belz. The entrance
to it is by the Passage of Etel, and this is obstructed by a sandbank.
The inland sea of Belz receives only insignificant streams, and is
studded with islands. The country round at the time was heath and
gorse moor, strewn with countless monuments of a prehistoric and
forgotten people. The two friends may have looked at the place
together ; and Gildas may have exhorted Cadoc to settle there; but
the latter returned to Britain from his pilgrimage without effectmg
anything at this time, if our supposition be right.

The Breton Life says that whilst on his pilgrimage, Cadoc met in
Aquitania with S. Gonard and S. Lilian. Who these may have been
is hard to determine. Gonard cannot be identified, for he is certainly
not Gohard, Bishop of Nantes, 835-843. No saint of the name of
Lilian is known, but we may suspect that he met Llibio, the disciple
of S. Cybi and S. Enda.

On the return of Cadoc to Britain, he learned that during his absence
the Synod of Llanddewi Brefi had been held.!  This had assembled,
not as Rhygyfarch pretends to condemn the last remains of the Pelagian
heresy, but to pass penitential canons. The date of the synod cannot
be fixed with any certainty. The Synod of Victory met, according to
the Annales Cambriae in 569, and it has been supposed that the Council
of Llanddewi Brefi took place shortly before. But the words of
Rhygyfarch are :—‘ Deinde succedente temporum serie alia colligitur
synodus, cui nomen Victoriae.”” 2 This implies a lapse of some time
between the two gatherings.

We are disposed to hold that the Council of Llanddewi was held
before the outbreak of the Yellow Plague, perhaps in 545 or 546.
Finnian of Clonard died in 552, and, as weshall see, he was with Cadoc
on his return after the holding of the synod.

- When Cadoc arrived at Llancarfan, the monks were afraid to tell
him of the assembly, and deputed Finnian to do so. Cadoc was
furious at such a meeting having been held without his being consulted
and invited to be present. And his resentment was specially directed
against David, for the leading part he had taken in it. In his wrath
he proceeded to ‘“fast against ” David; 3 he was only induced to

1 “Cadocus quidem peregrinatus est, David vero post ejus discessionem
magnam Sinodum in civitatem Brevi congregavit.” Vita S. Cadoci, c. 10.
According to the Life of S. David, it was not David who convoked the Synod.
He would not even attend it, till compelled to do so. Cambro-British Saints,
pp. 137-8.

2 Cambro-British Saints, p. 139.

8 ““Quae res non minimum ei displicuit, nimioque furore contra Sanctum
David pro tali dedecore succensus, diem cum nocte jejunio continuavit.”
Ibid., p. 44.
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desist when it was shown him, probably by Finnian, though the
legend says it was by an angel, that his conduct was contrary to
the principles of Christian charity.

In 547 broke out the Yellow Plague, and a panic fell on clerics and
laity alike in Demetia. All who could fled across the sea to Armorica.
In the Life of S. Teilo this is admitted, but neither the Life of S. Cadoc
nor that of S. David mentions that these saints were infected by the
panic and fled. But it is quite possible that they did so, and that it
is due to their presence in Armorica at this period that we have there
so many foundations made by them.

The Breton Life says that Cadoc started for Armorica only two
years after he had become Abbot of Llancarfan, an inadmissible
statement, but it probably was two years after his return from his
pilgrimage to Rome.

BED OF S. CADOC, ILE DE S. CADOU.

Cadoc now, maybe, recalled the land-locked sea of Belz, and crossing
over with a body of his monks, went thither, and fixed on an islet at
an inconsiderable distance from the mainland, and on that he planted
himself with those of his community who had accompanied him.

Here now stands his chapel, with early rudely sculptured capitals
to the pillars. In the south transept is the “ Lit de S. Cadou,” a
structure of granite blocks, with a recess in it, into which the. peasants
thrust their heads, and profess to hear there mysterious whisperings—
actually the reverberation of the surf over the bar. At the west
end of the chapel is a dilapidated flamboyant screen. In the nave
are four large paintings of the seventeenth century, representing the

%egend, so far as it pertains to the isle. They bear the following
inscriptions :—

I. Anglais de nation, prince de Clamorgant,
Puis abbé, vient, débarque, et reside céans.
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2. Les jugements de Dieu sans cesse meditant
C’est ainsi, pélerins, qu’il a vécu, céans.

3. Aux pirates pervers en ce lieu I'assaillant,
Il dit: Je suis sans bien, solitaire céans.

4. Oratoire, mon oeuvre, adieu ! dit il pleurant,
Belz, t’oublierai-je ? Non. II cingla de céans.

His statue in the chapel represents him as still young, with mitre and
pastoral staff. The right hand is extended, and is kept continually
supplied with bunches of flowers by the children of the little fishing
hamlet on the mainland.

ILE DE S. CADOU, NEAR BELZ,

The connexion with the island is a causeway of massive blocks of
granite brought from the neighbouring moors. This is attributed to
S.Cadoc. ‘“ He erected an elegant church with stones ; and afterwards
caused to be built by masons a stone bridge skilfully constructed with
arched work and having its arches cemented with mortar.” *  Such
is the description given by Lifris. Actually, there are no arches, and
the blocks of stone were never laid in mortar. In fact, no lime was
to be had, unless from the pounded shells on the shore.

The biographer admits that not long after, the whole collapsed, but
was miraculously restored.?  Lifris says that the island was a third

- of a league from the mainland, and this, consequently, would be the
length of the bridge, .. one mile long. Actually it is 306 feet long
by twelve feet wide, and is built in a curve.

1 Cambro-British Saints, p. 68. 2 Ibid., p. 69.
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De la Villemarqué gives a ballad in his Barzas-Breis relative to a
dispute that took place between Gildas and Cadoc, and of which we
may suppose the scene was on this bridge, if any reliance whatever
can be placed on the tradition. But everything produced by this
author is open to suspicion, as he was a wholesale fabricator of legends
and ballads.l It is to this effect :—

Cadoc had been brought up on Donatusby his master Tathan or
Meuthi, and Donatus had written a life of Virgil which doubtless the
boy had read, and then had gone on to the poems of the Mantuan.

Cadoc loved his Virgil, and could not endure the thought that the
poet should be in hell. He took the occasion of a visit from Gildas to
discuss the question. Gildas characteristically adopted the harsher
view. Then Cadoc opened the volume to show to his grim com-
panjon the wondrous prophecy of the coming of Christ (iv Eclogue).
Suddenly a rush of wind caught the volume and carried it into the sea.
On returning to his cell he said :—*“ I will neither eat nor drink till I
know whether Virgil has been saved or not.” And he laid himself
to rest on his stone bed. During the stillness of the night he heard a
voice from afar saying :—‘‘ Pray for me! Pray for me, that I may
sing the loving-kindness of the Lord!”” Then, convinced that this
was the voice of his loved poet, he rose and spent the night in prayer
for him. Next day, the lost volume was marvellously restored. A
few strips of iron cover some scorings on the causeway, called the
“Slip of S. Cadou.” Here he is said to have slipped, either in attempt-
ing to recover his Virgil, or in pursuit of the Devil.

The Pardon is held at the Ile de S. Cadou on the Sunday before, and
thatafter, September 21, when the women in their scarlet petticoats and
the banners and crosses moving among the rocks and over the cause-
way, then grouping about the Calvary, form a most pleasing scene.

According to Albert le Grand, Cadoc remained here for three years,
but le Grand is always very precise in his dates, drawn not from his
authorities but from his own fancy. However, he is probably about
right in this instance, for the Yellow Plague lasted three years. Cadoc
desired only to found a daughter house in Armorica. That done, he

placed over it a disciple named Cadwaladr, and then returned to
Llancarfan.

* De la Villemarqué obtained a collection of Breton ballads from the Abbé
ll\Iartin of Quimperl¢, and did not acknowledge his indebtedness. The rest,
in Barzas-Breis, published in 1839, are mainly forgeries. This collection, when
it appea}red, took the French public by storm, and it was crowned by the
Academie. What genuine ballads Villemarqué did obtain he or Martin tinkered
up, and gave to them poetical touches not in the original. Villemarqué gives

th_e story in prose in his absurd book La Legende Céltique, Paris, 1861, pPp. 201—4.
Si non vero ¢ ben trovato.
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Lifris puts the visit to Armorica and this foundation very late, at
the close of his life, but it probably took place earlier.

It was on his way thither that he was in Cornwall, and miraculously
called forth a spring. On his way back he revisited the spring and
greatly increased the volume of water from it, and improved its quality
by pouring into it some water of the Jordan that he had acquired—
brought, so it is said, from the Holy Land.! The spot is near S.
Minver, and the ruins of S. Cadoc’s chapel remain ; the spring flows
sluggishly.

Lifris gives us an account of altercations between Cadoc and King
Arthur, Maelgwn, and Rhun, son of Maelgwn, and with Rhain, son of
Brychan.

A man of the name of Ligessauc (Llyngesog) Lawhir, son of Eliman,
had killed three soldiers of Arthur, and then fled for refuge to Cadoc,
who kept him in sanctuary for seven years, and Arthur only acciden-
tally found out where the man was, and reclaimed him. It was an
unprecedented thing for sanctuary to have been granted for so long;
properly, the saint or chief who gave sanctuary was bound at
once to compound for the crime, and not keep the criminal in conceal-
ment.

Arthur was exceedingly angry at what he regarded as a dishonourable
act, and he marched to the banks of the Usk and demanded that the
case should be gone into formally. Cadoc at once got SS. David, Teilo
and Dochu or Oudoceus, to act for him, and to them he joined Cynidr
and Maidoc or Aidan, and the discussion was conducted across the
muddy river, in shouts. At last it was settled by the judges that
Arthur should receive three good oxen for each of his men who had
been slain. Arthur consented, with the proviso that they should be
cattle partly red and partly white. When the nine cattle had been
got together, the next difficulty was, how they were to be delivered
over ; this had to be argued, and the judges decided that Cadoc’s men
should drive them to the middle of the ford over the Usk, when
Arthur’s men would receive them. Thus peace was made, and Arthur
then granted, or the compiler of the Cartulary pretended that he had
granted, to Cadoc thenceforth the extraordinary privilege of sanctuary
for seven years, seven months, and as many days.2 The story is
probably an invention to establish this claim. -

In the quarrel with Maelgwn Cadoc was not to blame. Maelgwn had
sent his receivers of tribute into Gwynllywg, and, finding that Cadoc’s
steward had a pretty daughter, they carried her off. Thereupon the

1 Cambro-British Saints, pp. 64-7.
3 Ibid., pp. 48-50.
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men of the neighbourhood assembled, pursued the ravishers, killed
some and wounded others, and recovered the girl. Maelgwn was
furious, and marched to the frontiers of Gwynllywg to lay it waste
with fire and sword. The inhabitants in alarm sent word to Cadoc,
who at once went to Maelgwn and represented to him the matter in its
true light, and succeeded in pacifying him.?

During the life of Maelgwn, that prince took care not to offend
Cadoc, and he laid strict injunctions on his son Rhun, when he was
pillaging in South Wales, not to meddle with the possessions of the
Abbot of Llancarfan.

However, one day when Rhun was on a plundering foray, and was
in his tent playing dice with some eunuchs, some of his men went to
a dairy on the possessions of Cadoc, and being thirsty asked for milk.
The dairyman refused, and the men, highly incensed, set fire to the
barn. The wind carried the smoke to where Rhun was, and he inquired
what was burning. When told, he sent for Cadoc and apologized for
what had been done, assured him it was against his express orders, and
to make compensation gave him his sword, shield and spear.?

Rhain, son of Brychan, king of Brycheiniog, ‘‘ plundered and
laid waste ” the province of Gwynllywg to the sea. Thereupon
the men of Gwynllywg rose in a body, pursued the marauder
and defeated him in one battle after another and captured him, but
dared not put him to death, because he was of the kin of Cadoc, whose
mother was Gwladys, sister of this ruffian. Cadoc, hearing of the
straits Rhain was in, went to him, and obtained his liberation.

Apparently at this time there was no king in Gwynllywg, and
Cadoc set up Meurig, “son of Enhinti ’—there is probably some
mistake of a scribe in the name of the father. Meurig, son of Ithel,
belonged to the end of  the eighth century. Cadoc having set up this
Meurig, “ gave him his aunt in marriage,” 3 and Meurig confirmed
to Cadoc the privileges granted by Arthur and Maelgwn. The wit-
nesses were S. David, S. Cynidr, S. Teilo, S. Illtyd, S. Maidoc and one
Cannou.

Cadoc, as already said, was wont to spend times of retreat on one
of the Holmes in the Severn. He did this in Lent. Returning thence
by boat one day with two disciples, Barruc and Gualehes, as they
disembarked, Cadoc asked for a book, his Enchiridion, and the two
monks confessed that they had forgotten it and left it in Echni. Cadoc
sent them back for it. On their return to the mainland the boat was
upset, and both were drowned. The author of the Vifa says that
Cadoc cursed them as he despatched them for the book :—* Go, and

1 Cambro-British Saints, pp. 50-2. 2 Ibid., pp. 52~5. 2 Ibid., pp. 55-6.
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may you never return!” But he wanted the book, and therefore
could not have desired that the young men should be lost in bringing
it to him.?

The islands became unsafe, owing to the pirates who infested the
estuary of the Severn making of them landing-places, and Cadoc was
obliged to look out for some other place of retreat. He found one on
the banks of the river Neath, where, ““ on a certain day, he saw a white
boar lying under a tree, which his companions killed ; secondly, bees
entering a hollow tree ; and thirdly, a hawk’s nest on top of the tree.”’
He sent these gifts to King Arthmail, who thereupon made a grant of
the spot to Cadoc.2 Who this Arthmail was is as doubtful as is the
Meurig already mentioned. There was an Arthmail, uncle of Morcant
Hén, who died in 935, and, suspiciously enough, he had a brother,
Mouric, and both he, Arthmail, and Yuein, father of Morcant, were
sons of Hiuel, king of Glywysing, who was son of Ris, brother of
Fernvail, who died in #75. There can be little doubt that Lifris has
fallen into anachronisms. These princes may have made grants to the
monastery of S. Cadoc, and he has thrust them back to be contem-
poraries of the saint, and has invented stories to account for their
making the grants.

Probably in his old age Cadoc went to Ireland. King Ainmire
summoned Gildas to assist in the reviving of religion in Ireland, and
it is very probable that he extended his invitation to Cadoc, as that
saint is considered, along with Gildas and David, as having given to
Ireland forms of the Mass.?> This must have been at the same time
that Ainmire summoned Gildas, in or near 564. He probably did not
remain there very long. He was granted lands on the banks of the
Liffey, which were enlarged later in compensation for violence done
to the steward of Cadoc.* The monks of Clonard always remained
on good terms with those who were under the rule of Cadoc.

The saint was now advanced in years, and on his return to Llan-
carfan found the management of so large an establishment beyond

1 Cambro-British Saints, pp. 63—4.

2 Ibid., p. 67. We are justified in rejecting this settlement of Cadoc on the
Neath. If the land at Cadoxton-juxta-Neath were granted by Arthmail, it
was so to Llancarfan long after Cadoc was dead. No incident in his life is
attached to any residence on the Neath. For the legend compare the similar
one under S. Baglan ab Ithel Hael.

3 De Tribus Ordinibus Sanctorum Hiberniae. Haddan and Stubbs, Councils,
EEey il pte 2, ps 293.

4 “Sanctus partem agri cujusdam apud Hiberniam super ripam fluminis
Liphi possidet.”” Cambro-British Saints, p. 78, where the reading Limphi is
incorrect. Ibid., p. 79, where the reading should be ‘“qui apud Clunerert
(Clonard),” and not ““ qui clunererunt.”
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his powers. He therefore resolved on quitting it. He had a favourite
disciple called Elli, and he purposed surrendering the rule into his
younger hands. On Palm Sunday it was his wont to stand on a
mound and preach to the people until the hour of tierce, when he
entered the church to sing Mass. On this day, when the sermon was
concluded, he publicly announced his intention, and nominated Elli '
to be his successor. He left with the brethren of Llancarfan a Book of
the Gospels that had been transcribed by Gildas, and appointed
that all trials and settlements of disputes should take place under a
hazel tree that he had planted. After that he departed, disappearing
in a cloud that conveyed him to Beneventum ; where, according to
his instructions, Elli was to visit him annually and report on the
condition of affairs at Llancarfan.l

When he arrived at his destination, he was elected abbot over the
large community of monks there, which had just lost its superior. He
found that the walls were ruinous. They had been constructed not of
stone, but of clay, and were full of gaps. By Cadoc’s advice the
inhabitants repaired the defences with stone.?

Not long after he was raised to the episcopate, but did not rule for
long. A hostile force attacked the rlace, broke in, plundering and
slaughtering ; and a soldier, entering the church, transfixed Cadoc
with a spear, as he was celebrating the Holy Mysteries.

For a while the body of the murdered bishop remained at Bene-
ventum, and a church was erected over it ; but a taboo was placed on
all Britons, who were not suffered to enter the town.?  Eventually,
however, this was relaxed, and the monks of Llancarfan were allowed
to carry off the body. But even at Llancarfan it was not safe. A
certain Eilaf, heading a marauding band, drove the monks from their
monastery, and as they fled with the founder’s body, an irreverent
pagan struck the shrine with his staff ; whereupon, from within, Cadoc
“roared like a bull.” 4

The whole account of the migration of Cadoc to Beneventum, and
his death there, is difficult to understand and explain. His being
caught away in a cloud and transferred to his final destination prob-
ably means no more than that he departed by boat, in a dense
white mist, such as clings to the lowlands of the Bristol Channel at
certain periods of the year.

1 “ Qualiter Sanctus Ellinus beatum Cadocum annuatim visere consuevit,”
is the heading of chap. 35. Cambro-British Saints, p. 73-

2 ‘“ Magnam partem e]usdem urbis muro vallavit, quam antea limo terrae
erecta materia minutatim ruinis crebrescentibus in ruderis defecerat.” Ibid., P78t

3 ‘ Edificaverunt basilicam super ipsius venerabile sepulchrum, in quo nullus.
Brittannus intrare permittitur.” Ibid., p. 76. $5Ibid., p. 775
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Lifris, who wrote this history, doubtless had before him a Welsh
legend. In that he read how that the saint on his departure was lost
to the sight of his disciplesin a fog. Out of this he built up his fabulous
account, so as to make his hero disappear like the Divine Master in
a white cloud, and be transported miraculously to the place whither

" he was bound, as the Spirit carried off S. Philip to Azotus.

But, where was Beneventum, where he took up his residence ? That
it was Beneventum in Southern Italy is improbable. It would not
have been unlikely that a Welsh or Irish monk should have gone to
Italy, but we should hardly suppose that Cadoc, overcome with age,
would have gone so far south of Rome. Besides, the church of Bene-
ventum has preserved no record of Cadoc as having been a Bishop or
Martyr there in the sixth century. Moreover, Cadoc could not expect
there to receive an annual report brought him by Elli. And further,
at the Beneventum of the legend the town was defended by earth-
works, and not as a Roman city with stone walls. Further, also, the
language spoken at his place of retreat was the same as that employed
by Cadoc at Llancarfan.?

Dom Plaine laboured in an article on S. Cadoc to show that he had
been bishop and martyr at Beneventum,? but probably his arguments
would convince nobody. The above reasons against the identification
seem conclusive.

Another suggestion is that the place was Benevenna, or Weedon in
Northamptonshire. We know, unfortunately, little or nothing of the
encroachments of the Angles on Mid-England. ‘ Not a single record
has been left us,” says Mr. Green, “ of the progress of the peoples
when we find them settled at the close of the (sixth) century in the
districts of our Nottingham, our Leicester, and our Northampton, or
on the head waters of the Trent. . . . There was little, indeed, at
this time to draw invaders to Central Britain. At the close of the
Roman occupation, the basin of the Trent remained the wildest and
least frequented part of the island.” 3

In favour of this identification is only the fact that the name of
the place issimilar. Several reasons concur against it. Among others,
the fact is that no Welsh saints, as far as we know, were drawn
towards Mid-England, which was, as Mr. Green says, almost a
wilderness at the time. '

! “Linguam illorum . .. continuo integerrime novit, ipsique similiter
suam.” Cambro-British Saints, p. 72.

% Bulletin de la Soc. Arch. de Finistére, xxvii (1900), pp. 106-32. The known
Bishops of Beneventum in the sixth century towards its close were: 543, Zeno,
or Zosimus; 385, Felix; 591, Linianus.

3 The Making of England, 1897, i, p. 84.
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In the Breviary of Vannes for 1660 the lection for S. Cadoc’s day
stands thus :—*‘ In Armorica vero diu commoratus, in quadam Vene-
tensis insula ecclesiam extruxit. . . . Dein locum illum e celo monitus
deseruit, et in Italiam (Britanniam) porrexit. Paulo post morum
integritate, et vitae sanctitate omnibus notus Beneventi (Benaven)
episcopus effectus est.” Here, at the revision of the earlier Breviary,
the reviser hesitatingly suggests Benaven, or more correctly Ban-
nauenta, the birthplace of S. Patrick, which Professor Bury thinks
“should be sought near the Severn or the Bristol Channel.” *

Again, there was in the sixth century a British colony in Spanish
Galicia. This comes first into notice in 569, when it is found to have
had a bishop. In‘that year, at the Council of Lugo, it is referred to,
““ Ad sedem Britoniorum (pertinent) ecclesiae quae sunt intra Britones,
una cum monasterio Maximi, et quae in Asturiis sunt.”

At the Council of Braga, in 572, the last of the signatures of the
Suffragans of Braga, *“ Item ex Synodo Lucensi,” is Mailoc *“ Britonen-
sis Ecclesiae episcopus.”

This British church continued to exist till 830, when a royal decree
merged the see of Bretofia in that of Oviedo.?

Now there is a Benavente at the confluence of the Esla, Ceia and
Tuerto, in Léon, but not far from Galicia. We know little of the
history of this portion of Spain in the sixth century. No tradition
of a S. Cadoc, Bishop and Martyr, there has survived. Moreover,
there are other difficulties in the way of accepting this Benavente as
the place to which Cadoc retired. This also is too remote from
Morganwg for EIlli to have visited it annually. “ Elli,” we are
informed, ““ was accustomed to go very often with his disciples to the
city of Beneventum,”? and as many as eight of the Llancarfan
monks were buried there.4

Again, another suggestion was offered by De Kerdanet in his edition
of Albert le Grand’s Vies des Saints de Bretagne. He says :—“ On a
confondu Bénévent en Italie avec Kaer-Gwent; ancienne ville
épiscopal de Monmouth.” 5

! Life of S. Patrick, 1905, pref. p. x, text p. 17. There are several places in
Breconshire and Glamorganshire called Banwen, which might represent the name,
None of them, however, appear to have had any early ecclesiastical associations.

? Haddan and Stubbs, Councils, etc., ii, pt. i, pp. 97-101.

3 “ Consuevit autem Ellinus alioquotiens usque ad Beneventum civitatem,
gratia visitandi beatum Cadocum . . . proficisci cum quibusdam discipulis
ipsius.” Cambro-British Saiunts, p. 73.

¢ “In monasterio Sancti Sqphie honorifice sepulti sunt; quorum nempe
sepulchra in una serie ordinatim ante altare a pariete in parietem componuntur.
Octo quidem . . . illorum marmorea busta inibi habentur.” Ibid., ad loc.

5 Ed. 1837, p. 667, note 3.
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In favour of this may be remarked that this portion of Gwent
between the Severn and the Wye might very well have borne the name
of Pen-Gwent ; but there is no evidence that it was so called ; nor is
it likely that the city of Caerwent would have borne the name of the
district. And the reasons against such an identification are weighty.
Caerwent was only some thirty miles from Llancarfan, and Lifris, who
wrote the Life of S. Cadoc, would hardly have failed to state the fact,
had Cadoc suffered martyrdom there. No tradition connecting Cadoc
with Caerwent remains. The Vannes Breviary of 1660 says: “in una
barbarorum Saxonum irruptione trucidatus.” This might apply to
any place invaded by the Saxons after they poured across the Cotswold
in 577. i

The name Beneventum is a latinization of a Britishname. ‘“Ban”
is a hill or mountain, and it enters into many names, as Ben-
aven Tabernae, Benevenna, Beneharnum, Benni, Benacus, Bannauc.
Welsh Bicknor, on the Wye, was formerly known as Lann Custenhin
Garth Benni.

The “ ventum ”’ of Beneventum we have in Gwent ; such a term by
no means applied only to Monmouthshire. It signified any open
champagne land lying above the forests that spread through the river
valleys ; and it was applied as well to the chalk downs of the South of
England. We meet with it in Venta Icenorum (Caister) and in
Venta Belgarum (Winchester). Beneventum is, accordingly, the
Gwentian “Ban” or hill.

Now, if we put ourselves in the place of Cadoc in his old age, it seems
likely that he may have craved to be away from the large establishment
at Llancarfan, and to revisit and end his days at that place where he
had been happy with his master Bachan, and where he had a monastery
at Llanspyddid. He may have heard that the head of that establish-
ment was dying, perhaps dead, and have deemed it well for him to
retire thither and there end his days as head over the small community.
Here we know that hard by the monastery was a Romano-British
town, Caer Fenni or Y Gaer, which has been supposed to be the ancient -
Bannium of the Ravenna geographer.

That Y Gaer is this Bannium has been disputed. Both Holder ! and
Mr. Haverfield 2 contend that the Bannium (a/. Bannio) of the geo-
grapher of Ravenna is Gobannium, Abergavenny. If so, then the Latin
name of the walled town above Brecon on the Usk is unknown to us.
But the hill on which it is situated is called Y Fenni, the wood on the
slope is Coed Fenni, and the farm below it Fenni Fach. So we may

1 Holder, Aliceltisches Sprachschatze, i, s, voc. Gobannion. ~
? Haverfield, in Avch. Camb., 1903, p. 12.
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suspect that its ancient name may have been Bannium or Benni—
with an addition, and this may have been Venta or Ventum, descriptive
of its bare upland character. In the Cognatio de Brychan, Brychan is
said to have been born at Benni, which is almost certainly this place.
Jones, in his History of Brecknock, gives Caer Bannau as a name in use
for what is now merely known as Y Gaer. Soalso Cliffe, in his Book of
South Wales, 1847 ; but the form has no existence. The town was walled
about, and contained villas and streets and hypocausts, and the entire
hillside reveals Romano-British occupation. Itstoodon the Via Julia
Montana, at its junction with a road from the south that descended into
the Brecon basin by the Afon Tarell, and above another that entered it,
descending the Honddu. Itmust have been a place of no little import-
ance ; and what is more, it seems to have suddenly come to anend. It
was destroyed, and no other town was built on itssite. Here, then, we
have several elements united that lead us to suspect that Y Gaer or
Caer Fenni was the Beneventum to which Cadoc retired, and where he
was slain, when the Saxons, after the taking of the city of Gleva,
poured over the undefendeddistrict to the west, and the basin of Brecon
was open to them through its two portals to the west, fatally gaping
to invite an invader from that quarter.

Hither Elli might easily come every year with his report as to the
condition of Llancarfan. Hence, without difficulty, the body of
Cadoc might be translated to his principal monastery when the Saxon
grip was relaxed.

There is, however, an objection. The walls of Bannium are of
cut stone. Possibly enough Lifris may have made a blunder in saying
that the original circumvallation was of earth ; he may have supposed
that the ruined stone walls were due to Cadoc, who, in fact, may only
have repaired them.

One curious feature in the story is the taboo placed on any Briton
penetrating into the town. This looks much like the result of intense
national animosity. Lifris, indeed, gives his explanation. He says
that the rule was established because those who held the town were
afraid lest the Britons should steal away the sacred relics. This is
the sort of explanation that would occur to the mind of a monk, but
we may be quite sure that it was not the real meaning of the taboo.
Perhaps for a while the Saxons held Bannium and would not allow
any Briton within its walls as a military precaution. Lifris wrote at
a period when body-snatching was practised extensively, and the
relics of a saint meant money, when S. Petroc was carried to Redon,
the relics of S. Neot to Huntingdonshire, and those of S.Maglorius
were filched from Sark. There is no record of when the body of S.
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Cadoc was taken back to Llancarfan.. It was early, and its removal
was followed by a flood. ¢ The fine flowing fountain that was near the
city came like a sea over the city, and the inhabitants presaged its
being overwhelmed.” *  This may mean no more than that the Usk
and the Yscir came down in a torrent owing to a thundercloud having
‘burst.

At the time when the Danes were harassing the coast in the nlnth
century, the body of Cadoc was at Llancarfan.?

We are not told what was the age of Cadoc when he died.

The following chronological scheme can be tentative only and
approximate :—

S. Cadoc born . & . i o 5 3 s woove 497
Founds Llancarfan 3 . 5 s L 5, Bire, 4 548
Goes to Ireland for three years 3 5 S 5 . circ. 523-6
Settles in Brecknock at Llanspyddid . ! p S core. 526
Death of Gwynllyw and return to Llancarfan : . circ. 527
Leaves for Scotland, consigning his abbey to Gildas . circ. 528-9
Departs on pilgrimage to Rome and ]erusalem o . cive. 544
Council of Llanddewi Brefi . " . circ. 545-6
Return of Cadoc to Britain after the Councﬂ 5 ) Brive

Disputes with Maelgwn and Rhun ab Maelgwn f & 547
The Yellow Plague, goes to Armorica . 5 5 5 . 547
Returns to Llancarfan 3 o o . circ. 551
Summoned to Ireland by King Ammlre o . . circ. 564
Returns to Llancarfan . . S lclrc N 565
Resxgns Llancarfan and retires to Beneventum . . cire. 575

Killed by the Saxons . . ) ) . . . " cive. 4577

We have included in this scheme a visit of Cadoc to Ireland, for
King Ainmire summoned Gildas and other saints to restore the flagging
Christianity in the isle, and although the V7ta S. Cadoci says nothing
about any visit made late in life to Ireland, yet it is not improbable that
he may have responded to the call; and the Irish regarded him, along
with Gildas and David, as having done something to revive religion, and
Cadoc was credited, as already said, with having furnished them with
a form of the Mass.® It is, however, possible that Cadoc may have
contented himself with furnishing a liturgy, and not have gone to
Ireland ‘in person.

The following churches in Wales are under the patronage of S. Cadoc
or Catwg :—Llangattock-juxta-Usk, Llangattock Lingoed ( ? formerly
Llangatwg Lennig), Llangattock Feibion Afel (‘‘ of the sons of Abel "),

1 Cambro-British Satnts, p. 76. 2 DI 77

3 “Hi ritum celebrandi missam acceperunt a sanctis viris de Britannia,
scilicet a Sancto David, a S. Gilda, et a S. [Ca]doco.” Catal. Ord. SS.
in Hibernia,” Haddan and Stubbs, Councils, etc., ii, p- 287.
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Penrhos (anciently Llangatwg Penrhos), Caerleon, Raglan and Treve-
thin, in Monmouthshire ; Llancarfan, Llanmaes, Pendoylan (Pendeu-~
Iwyn), Pentyrch, Gelligaer, Cadoxton-juxta-Barry, Cadoxton-juxta-
Neath (Llangatwg Glyn Nedd), and Port Eynon, in Glamorganshire ;
Llangattock and Llanspyddid in Brecknockshire ; and Llangadog Fawr
in Carmarthenshire. A meadow, Cae Maen Catwg (his stonefield),
is near Gelligaer church; and a Pistyll Catwg is given among the
possessions of the canons of Llancarfan. Gwyddfa Gatwg (his mound)
is situated in a dingle in the parish of Llanegwad, in Carmarthenshire.
There was formerly a church dedicated to him in the parish of Mon-
mouth, near the Castle, which was conferred by Withenoc, lord of
Monmouth in the eleventh century, on the Benedictine monks of
S. Florence of Saumur at Monmouth. In the Valor of 1535 (iv, p. 359)
is mentioned a chantry, ¢ Cantar’ de S’to Cadoc’ infr’ D’n’m de Ber-
geveny”’ (Abergavenny). There is a farm, called Llangatwg, in the
parish of Llanedern, near Cardiff, which is no doubt the site of a
dismantled chapel.

There was also formerly a capella, now ruined, Llangadog, under
K'dwelly, in Carmarthenshire, and another of the same name under
Amlwch in Anglesey.

According to a monumental inscription dated 1507, there was
formerly a statue (imago) of the saint in Cadoxton-juxta-Neath
church.  The Cadoc cult in Wales was practically confined to the
south-eastern parts.

In Brittany, Cadoc was highly venerated, especially in the diocese
of Vannes. When the Thirty of the Franco-Breton party prepared
to march from Josselin to fight the Thirty of the Anglo-Bretons
at the Tree of Mil-voye in 1351, they paid their vows and offered
j rayers before the altar of S. Cadoc in the principal church of Jos-
selin. 2

At Gouesnac’h, near Fouesnant, in Finistére, isa chapel of S. Cadou ;
some years ago this chapel had a painted ceiling of wood, on which
were represented scenes from the life of S. Cadoc. But, as on the
occasion of the Pardon, regrettable abuses had crept in, or rather old
pagan usages were continued, the Pardon was suppressed, and the
chapel was allowed to fall into ruin. Of late years, the chapel has

! For a supposed figure of him in the niche over the south doorway of Llan-
carfan church, see C.B.Fowler, Rambling Sketches in Diocese of Llandaff, Cardiff,
1896, plate 7. It has now disappeared.

% De la Villemarqué, in his Piéces Justificatives to his La IRgende Celtique,
has published a hymn to S. Cadoc attributed to the Thirty Bfetons. It is an
impudent forgery. He also gives a ballad dialogue between Cadoc and Merlin.
It is also a quite recent composition, passed off as an antique.
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been restored, and the Pardon reinstituted, and is held on September
28. Unhappily, the painted series on the roof has disappeared. S.
Cadou in the Sizun district has been transferred to S. Cadoc from
S. Cadfan, its original patron, as it lies in that part of the country
where are the foundations of this saint. So also has Poullan been
transferred to S. Cadoc, and the statue of Cadfan relegated to the
garden of the presbytery, and S. Cadoc with palm-branch erected
near the high altar. It is supposed that S. Cast, in Cétes du Nord,
has Cadoc as its patron, but this is more than doubtful.

The dayof S. Cadoc in the Altemps Martyrology (end of thirteenth
century) and in a Norwich Martyrology of the fifteenth century (Cotton
MS. Julius B. vii) is January 23; so also a Worcester Calendar of the
fifteenth century (Harl. MS. 7398). The Calendars of the Welsh
Saints in the early thirteenth century, Coffon MS. Vesp. A. xiv,
the Addl. MS. 14,886, Iolo MSS., Peniarth MSS. 60 and 219,
Hafod MS. 8, the Prymers of 1618 and 1633, Allwydd Par-
adwys (1670), and in fact all the Welsh Calendars, give
January 24. At Padstow, in Cornwall, near which are his chapel
and well, also formerly on January 24. Rees in his Welsk Saints
gives February 24, but this is a slip. Albert le Grand gives
S. Cadoc on November 1. Lobineau on September 21, the Vannes
Breviaries of 1660 and 1757 also September 21. In the Quimper
Breviaries up to 1838, September 21, then transferred to September 23.
Whytford gives him as Saynt Codoke on January 24; Nicolas
Roscarrock on the same day—*S. Cadoc, Cathmael or Sophias,
Bishop and Martyr ” and the Exeter Martyrology.

The Welsh accounts invariably ascribe the foundation of Llancarfan
to Garmon, and they add that Dyfrig was its first Abbot, and that
when he became Bishop of Llandaff he was succeeded by Catwg or
Cadoc. This does not accord with the Vita.

Tradition has it that Dyfrig was so devoted to Catwg that he made
him his companion always in his travels, and that he continued to
reside at Garnllwyd, near Llanfeithin. This does not appear to have
been the case, for he usually resided at Ynys Byr or one of his other
monasteries.

Llancarfan formed one of the three great Bangors or monastic
establishments within the Diocese of Llandaff. The brotherhood
numbered at one time as many as 2,000, and among them were Catwg’s
own brothers, Bugi and Cynfyw, and the brothers, as well as sons, of
Gildas. The close connexion between Llancarfan and Ireland, which
began with Catwg, was continued for a long time by his successors ;
and it is very probable that the ninth century Welsh MS., the
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Juvencus Codex, now in the Cambridge University Library, which
contains entries relating to Bishops of Armagh, belonged originally to
the monastery of Llancarfan.!

The late Welsh Triads connect Catwg with King Arthur’s Court,
and they assert that he was one of its three * knights of upright judg-
ment,” “‘chaste knights,” ““ wise chief counsellors, wise bards,”
as well as one of the “ three knights that kept the Holy Grail,” ? and
one of the three ‘“ holy bachelors ”’ (gwynfebydd) of the Isle of Brit-
ain.® J

A cywydd poem written in his honour by Rhisiart ab Rhys of Llan-
carfan (flor. c. 1480-1520) is printed in the Iolo MSS.,* but it is evi-
dently imperfect. It recounts chiefly his miracles.

It is somewhat remarkable that, though the name bestowed on
him by the angel, according to the legend, was Cathmail, this name
should have been generally abandoned for Catwg or Cadog. Cathmail
is an Irish form, and was the name with which the Irish hermit baptized
him.? It would now assume in Welsh the form Cadfael, and means
literally ““a war-prince or battle-hero.” Cadog is a diminutive, cut
down from Cadfael, and appears under the early form Catacus on
the Llanfihangel Cwm Du inscribed stone.

The epithet Doeth, “ wise,” as applied to Catwg is comparatively
late. The earliest genealogies, those for instance in the thirteenth
century Peniarth MSS. 16 and 45, know him only as ““ Cadwc Sant
ab Gwynlliw ab Gliwis ab Tegit ab Cadell of Llan gadwc in Gwent.”
The earliest date that we have been able to find for the epithet is the
latter part of the seventeenth century,® when the confusion between
him and Cato the philosopher had become established. The confusion
was due to a similarity in name, just as the name Beneventum led to
his being confounded with S. Sophias.

OO0 GG

! Haddan and Stubbs, Councils, etc., i, p. 198.

2 It has been supposed that he was the original of Sir Galahad.

3 Myv. Arch., pp. 409, 411, 755. 7

4 Pp. 301-2. Copies of it occur in Llanstephan MSS. 47 and 164.

¢ In the Book of Llan Ddv, p. 131, the Abbot of Llancarfan is called ““ Abbas
Catmaili ” (—Catoci). Cadoc is usually called by this name in Irish hagiology.
See, e.g., the Life of S. Finnian of Clonard in Colgan’s Acta SS. Hib., i, p. 393,
where will be found a remarkable legend of the miraculous drying up of the lake
on whose site Llancarfan and Melboc or Melboi were to stand. The Breton
forms of his name are Cado, Cazou, and Cazout, but the Welsh form appears
in the name Pleucadenc. The Vita states (p. 69) that the Bretons called him
Catbodu, which would now be Cadfoddw in Welsh. (See Mr. Phillimore’s note
in ¥ Cymmprodor, xi, p. 92.) The -og and -wg (for earlier -auc and -uc) of Cadog
and Catwg seem to be merely variants; cf. such forms as Cinanc and Cinuc, and
Matauc and Matuc, in the Book of Llan Ddv, pp. 408, 411 (index).

8 Myv. Arch., pp. 751-6.
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Cato was a very popular author in the Middle Ages with the Welsh,
as with other western European nations. *‘The Book of Cado or
Cato ”’ is mentioned in the Red Book of Hergest' and the Iolo MSS.
“ Sayings of the Wise,” 2 and in one of the Triads in the former he
is said to have been one of the three men who “ received the wisdom
of Adam.” 3 In Welsh MSS. of the early fourteenth to the seven-
teenth centuries in the Peniarth and other collections he is called Cadw
Hén or Ddoeth, and the name also occurs in an oblique case as Cattwn
Ddoeth, with which Catwg was easily confounded.

A considerable portion of the Myuvyrian Archaiology is taken up with
what is called ““ the Wisdom of the Welsh,” and a large section of it 4
is comprised of “ The Book called Y Gwyddfardd Cyfarwydd, which Catwg
Ddoeth composed.” It is printed from a transcript of copies made
about 1670-80. The collection embraces aphorisms, proverbs, philo-
sophy, and triads of an ethical nature, numbering in all 1go pieces of
varying length, in prose and verse, each subscribed “ Catwg Ddoeth
composed it.” ® A good portion of them is thrown into syllogistic
form, and the ideas are often pantheistic and gnostic. The phrase-
ology and the general sentiments and terms employed are late medi-
aval.

Copies of these apothegms are to be found in a number of MSS.®
of especially the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, but they are
always attributed to Cato, Cadw, or Cattwn Hén or Ddoeth. It will
be found on comparing the Myvyrian ‘“ Wisdom > (which has been
supposed to comprise a system of philosophy) with these MSS., that
the whole is merely a patchwork of Welsh renderings or developments
of the well-known Disticha or Dicta Catongs, so popular in Western
Europe from as early as the eighth century. The aphorisms are
nowhere referred to Cadoc in the Vifa, nor even mentioned ; nor does
he therein appear to have been in the habit of uttering anything
so remarkable as to justify his being at any time assigned the réle
of a Welsh doctor.”  The following is ascribed to him in the *‘ Say-
ings of the Wise ” printed in the Iolo MSS. :—8

! Skene, Four Ancient Books of Wales, ii, p. 226.

SRR 252, 3 Y Cymmrodor, iii, p. 53. ¢ Pp. 756-811.

5 For a translation of a considerable number of them see the Cambrian
Register, vol. iii; also into French in the Revue Celtique, 1878, iii, 419—442.

® The earliest is Peniarth MS. 3, written ¢. 1300 (* The Counsels of Cadw Hén,
or the Elder, to Cadw the Younger ), and copies, of the fifteenth to the seven-
teenth centuries, occur in Peniarth MSS. 27, 88, 94 ; Cardiff MSS. 6, 18, etc.

' De la Villemarqué has devoted a chapter to the wisdom of Cadoc, based on
these aphorisms,

5 Pl 258
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Hast thou heard the saying of Catwg
The Wise, the son of Gwynllyw, of Essyllwg (Siluria) ?
«Let the heart be where the appearance is.”

(Bid galon lle bo golwg.)

In the same volume?! are a number of fables, each with a moral,
which are attributed to him. This late reputation for wisdom grew
to such an extent that every saying or proverb was at last ascribed to
him.

Cadoc is invoked in the tenth century Litany published by Warren
as Catoce.?

b’

13 ]
(svS~
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S. CADROD, of Calchfynydd, Prince, Confessor

Caprawp, or Cadrod, of Calchfynydd, was a son of Cynwyd
Cynwydion, of the line of Coel Godebog, and the brother of Clydno
Fiddyn, Cynan Genhir, and Cynfelyn Drwsgl. The Iolo MSS.2
make them all disciples of S. Cadoc at Llancarfan. According to
the Cognatio de Brychan, Cadrod was the husband of Gwrygon
Goddheu, daughter of Brychan, who is called in the later genealogies
Gwrgon.* He was lord of Calchfynydd, which is identified in the
Iolo MSS.5 with Dunstable. In the sixteenth century Peniarth MS.
135 he is designated ‘‘ Earl of Dunstable and Lord of Hampshire ”
(Swydd Hantwn). Skene,® however, thought it was Kelso, in
Roxburghshire, which is more probable. The name means the
Lime or Chalk Mountain.

Among the “ Sayings of the Wise ”’ 7 occurs the following—

Hast thou heard the saying of Cadrod,

Of Calchfynydd, of great meditation ?

“The best woman is the woman without a tongue.”
(Goreu gwraig gwraig heb dafawd.)

SRS REL 2 Revue Celtique, 1888, p. 88.
3 Pp. 105, 128. i
* Sometimes, e¢.g., Peniarth MS. 131 (fifteenth and sixteenth centuries),
Cadrod’s wife is said to have been a daughter of Brychan named Gwenfrewi.
SHPNI20Y :
® Four Ancient Books of Wales, i, p. 172; ii, p. 406.
? Iolo MSS., p. 257.
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S. CADWALADR FENDIGAID, King, Confessor

CADWALADR, son of Cadwallon ab Cadfan, was the last of the Welsh
princes who assumed the title of Gwledig or chief sovereign of Britain.!
Cadwallon had been defeated by Edwin, when young, and he had fled
to Ireland. Returning to Britain, he assumed the title of king, and
defended the title in a series of battles. The Welsh of Gwynedd and
Powys rallied to his flag in large numbers, and going to the assistance
of Penda, he completely defeated Edwin at Heathfield in 633. For
a while Cadwallon overpowered the Northumbrians, and proceeded
to devastate the whole region. ¢ Cadwalla,” says Bede, * though he
bore the name and professed himself a Christian, was so barbarous in
his disposition and behaviour, that he neither spared the female sex
nor the innocent age of children, but with savage cruelty put them
to torturing deaths, ravaging all their country for a long time, and
resolving to cut off all the race of the English within the borders of
Britain. Nor did he pay any respect to the Christian religion wh'ch
had newly taken root among them ; it being to this day the custom
of the Britons not to pay any regard to the faith and religion of
the English, nor to correspond with them any more than with
pagans.” 2

The sons of Ethelfrid attempted to retrieve the fortunes of Deira,
but Cadwallon encountered them, defeated and slew them both, in
635. But Oswald placed himself at the head of a small and resolute
band and continued the struggle, and finally met Cadwallon in a
pitched battle at Heaven’s Field, and gained a cornplete victory.
Cadwallon, the last hero of the British race—victor, according to the
Welsh tradition, in fourteen battles and in sixty skirmishes—perished
in the defeat. The Britons evacuated Northumbria, never to
return, and withdrew behind the Severn.

Cadwaladr, the son of Cadwallon, now headed the Brltons He
is said to have led the Welsh against Oswiu, but his lack of courage
brought on him a nickname—Cadomedd (battle-shunner)—instead of
Cadafael (battle-seizer), with which he was first greeted.? <

In 658 Cenwalh, King of the West Saxons, brought against him a /|
powerful army, and a battle was fought at Peonne in Somersetshire,
when the Britons were routed with terrible slaughter, and were pursued ~
as far as Pedrida, on the river Parret. Cadwaladr was ill-suited to,

~

1 With him Geoffrey’s Brut appropriately terminates. His son was Idwal
Iwrch. The name Cadwaladr means ‘‘ battle-ruler.”

2 Hist. Eccl., ii, 20.

3 Nennius, c. 65; Rhys, Celtic Briiain, 3rd ed., pp. 134-5.

. S g )
A Vo 1 ("3,‘{;% Weas A efud P

S

{



44 Lives' of the British Saints

lead the warlike and unfortunate Britons. He was of an amiable
and peaceable disposition, more disposed to frequent churches than
camps.

In 664 a plague broke out which spread desolation over Britain and
Ireland, and great numbers perished in it; and one of the victims
was the British king.? ‘

His son was Idwal, and it has been supposed that Cadwaladr’s
daughter married Cenbert and was mother of Ceadwalla. Ceadwalla
went to Rome on pilgrimage and died there, and the similarity of
names has led to confusion. It has been related that Cadwaladr ran
away from Britain to escape the plague, and took refuge with Alan,
King of Armorica. There was no such a king in Brittany at the time.
The story goes on to say that.as he was preparing to return home
an angel appeared to him and commanded him to relinquish his pur-
pose and undertake a pilgrimage to Rome. Resigning his kingdom,
therefore, in favour of his son, Ifor, he died on May 12, 688.

The confusion is obvious. He and Ceadwalla have been con-
founded together. Ceadwalla was an atrocious ruffian. He subdued
the Isle of Wight with the deliberate intention of putting all the in-
habitants to the sword, and he carried out his purpose with unpitying
ferocity, killing men, women and children, that he might replace the
Jute colonists with his own West Saxons. Having accomplished
his bloody purpose, he handed over the spoil to S. Wilfrid, who does
not seem to have lifted a finger to avert the massacre, but looked
on with cold eye, unsympathetic, because the wretched Jutes were
pagans.

Ceadwalla went to Rome in 688, and was well received by Pope
Sergius I, who baptized him, and he died a few days after. The Pope
ordered a laudatory epitaph to be inscribed on the tomb of this mur-
derous monster, and his relics to be honoured.

Cadwaladr was a far more respectable personage. He was mild
and generous, but a poor creature nevertheless. We may set his

death as taking place in 664, twenty-four years before that of Cead-
walla.

! Nennius says: ‘Oswald, son of Ethelfrid, reigned nine years ... he
slew Catgublaun (Cadwallon), King of Guenedotia, in the battle of Catscaul,
with much loss to his own army. Oswin, son of Ethelfrid, reigned twenty-
eight years and six months. During his reign, there was a dreadful mortality
among his subjects, when Catgualart (Cadwaladr) was king among the Britons,
succeeding his father ; and he himself died amongst the rest.” The Annales
Cambrie, under the year 682, make him die then of the plague in Britain. See,

generally, on the date and place of his death, Haddan and Stubbs, Councils,
etc., i, p. 202.
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The Welsh Triads state that Golyddan the Bard some time or other
gave him a box on the ears, for which he paid the penalty by an axe-
blow on the head; that he was one of the three sovereigns of the
Isle of Britain who wore golden bands (insignia of supreme power) ;
and that he was one of its three Blessed Sovereigns, on account of
the protection that he afforded to * the faithful who fled from the
faithless Saxons and the foreigners.”! He seems to derive his
epithet Bendigaid from this, as well as from his having been con-
founded with Ceadwalla. ‘

There are several churches dedicated to him or supposed to have
been founded by him—Ilangadwaladr, otherwise called Tref Esgob,
Bishopston or Bishton (under Llanwern), and Magwyr or Magor
(now dedicated to the Blessed Virgin Mary), in Monmouthshire ;
Llanfihangel Fedwy,2? or Michaelston-y-Vedw (now to the Archangel),
partly in Glamorganshire and partly in Monmouthshire ; Llangad-
waladr, ‘n Denbighshire, formerly called Bettws Cadwaladr (i.e., his
bead-house) ; and Llangadwaladr, previously called, it is said, Eglwys
Ael, in Anglesey, near Aberffraw, where the kings of Gwynedd resided.
His grandfather, Cadfan, was buried at Eglwys Ael, and a rude in-
scription on a rough stone, of apparently the seventh century,
runs—‘‘ Catamanus rex sapientisimus opinatisimus omnium regum.”
In the parish of Llanddeiniolfab, in Anglesey, are the remains of an
ancient small building called Capel Llangadwaladr.

All the Welsh Calendars of the fifteenth and sixtéenth centuries
give November 12 as his Festival. Rees,® however, on the authority
of Sir H. Nicolas, gives October 9. So also Browne Willis.

The following occurs among the  Sayings of the Wise ” 4—

Hast thou heard the saying of Cadwaladr,
King of All Wales;

““The best crooked thing is the crooked handle of a plough.”
(Goreu cloff yw cloff aradr.)

Heraldry speaks of the standard of the Red Dragon of King Cad-
waladr, which was borne before him to battle. It was probably the
ensign of the Insularis Draco, with which title Gildas styles Maelgwn
Gwynedd, the Gwledig.®

Cadwaladr was long expected to return some day to lead the
Brythons to victory, to assert the ancient rights of his family, the

1 Mabinogion, ed. Rhys and Evans, pp. 301, 305 ; Myv. Avck., pp. 393, 403-5.

2 Tolo 'MSS., p. 221. 3 Welsh Saints, p. 30I.

¢ Iolo MSS., p. 257; cf. Myv. Arch., p. 846.

5 On the standard, and the title Pendragon, see Zimmer, Nennius Vindicatus,
Berlin, 1893, p. 286, note.
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Kessarogyon or Cesarians, and to restore to them their rightful
“crown and sovereignty.” There is a number of predictive poems
relating to him in the thirteenth century MS., the Book of Taliessin.t

Truly he will come

With his host and his ships,
His scaring shields,

And charging lances.

And after a valiant shout,
His will shall be done!”

He has his Welsh-analogues in Arthur and Owen Lawgoch.

S. CADWALADR, Abbot, Confessor

A piscipLE of S. Cadoc who accompanied him to Armorica, where
he founded a daughter house to Llancarfan on an islet in the Sea of
Belz. When Cadoc had well established this house he placed over
it Cadwaladr as its head.?

Cadoc had constructed a causeway between the mainland and the
island, but this went to pieces after he left. According to the legend,
it was miraculously repaired by angels, and made stronger than before.
This means no more than that Cadwaladr set his monks to work to
reconstruct it.?

One church in Brittany is supposed to regard him as patron,
S. Segal near Chateaulin, where is his statue. Heis there commemor-
ated on the Sunday nearest to October 18.

5. CADWALLON LAWHIR

2 A q

ONE pedigree in the Tolo MSS.* includes Cadwallon, or Caswallon,
Lawhir (the Long-handed) among the Welsh Saints, and states,
“ Caswallon Lawhir, the son of Einion Yrth ab Cunedda Wledig,
founded a church for God in the place where he obtained a victory
over his enemies, and called it Llan y Gwyddyl (the church of the

! Skene, Four Ancient Books of Wales, i, pp. 436—46. The Iolo MSS., p. 125,
state that it will take place-when his bones are brought from Rome; cf. the
‘“ Epitome "’ in Cambro-British Saints, p. 283.

% Vita S. Cadoci, Cambro-British Saints, p. 68. 3 Ibid., p. 69.
4 P. 123. His mother’s name was Prawst.
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Goidels). It is in Anglesey, and is now called Cerrig y Gwyddyl.” 1
Caswallon is reported to have slain Serigi the Goidel with his own
hand, and thus to have given the death-blow to the Goidelic occupa-
tion of North Wales and completed the Cuneddan conquest. Welsh
tradition persistently credits him with having crushed the Goidels.?
He died, as it is believed, in 517, and was succeeded by his son, the
celebrated Maelgwn Gwynedd. The true form of his name was
Cadwallon Lawhir.3 He was a munificent patron of SS. Cybi, Seiriol,
and Elian, but especially of S. Elian ; and the remains of his palace,
Llys Caswallon, near Llaneilian, may still be seen.

Llan or Capel y Gwyddyl (also called Eglwys y Bedd), erected over
the spot where Serigi fell, stands close to the present parish church
of Holyhead. Tradition has it that Serigi’s remains were removed
hence by the Goidels and re-interred in Dublin.

As there is in reality no authority for including Caswallon among
the Welsh Saints, we will not pursue his history further.

S. CADWR, Bishop, Confessor

HE is mentioned as a Saint in one passage only,* and he is therein
said to have been a son of Ednyfed ab Macsen Wledig, and bishop in
“ the Isle of Britain.” He resided at Caerleon on Usk. His father
was King of Gwent, as was also his brother Dyfnwal Hén.

S. CADWY, see S. Cado

S. CAEMEN, or CYMMUN, Abbot, Confessor

EcLwys CymmuN, or Eglwys Gymmun, in Carmarthenshire,
probably takes its name from an Irish Saint, Caemen or Coemen, the
brother of S. Cuacha, Ciwa or Kewe, and of S. Athracta, and half-

1 This place is near Malldraeth, in S. Anglesey (see Lewis Morris, Celtic Remains,
s.v. Serigi).

2 Jolo MSS., pp. 78-82; Triads in Myv. Arch., pp. 391, 397.

3 See the old Welsh genealogies of Harl. MS. 3859, the Bonedd in Peniarth
MS. 45, and the Red Book Bruts, p. 200. He received the epithet “ Long-
handed *’ because he could “ reach a stone from the ground to kill a crow without
bending his back "’ ; see Gweithiau Iolo Goch, ed. Ashton, p. 669,

4 Jolo MSS., p. 138. ¥ &
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brother of S. Coemgen or Kevin of Glendalough. His nephew,
S. Dagan, had a chapel at Llanwnda in Pembrokeshire. The pedigree
seems to be this :— :

Talan= Coemgell= Coemlog

283 | I |
S. Calmemen, S. Cuacha, S. Athracta, S. Coemgen, Melda Coeltighlern
Abb. of Abbess Abbess. Abb. Glenda- = =
Anatrim (Ciwa). lough, Cormac  Colman
in Ossory. d. 617. Camsron,
K. of Hy
- Cinnselach.

S. Natcaim
of Tir-da-glas, S. Abban.
d. 584.

I I
S.Dagan, S. Moliba. S. Critan.
d. c. 640.

Caemen is mentioned in the Calendar of (Engus, and is there spoken
of as the brother of S. Coemgen.! He had been a disciple of S. Moc-
hoemog or Pulcherius, abbot of Enach-Truim or Anatrim, and to him
Pulcherius surrendered the abbacy. He had also been a pupil of
S. Columba of Tir-da-glas, along with S. Fintan.2

In the Life of S. Pulcherius is this story. The saint went to Anatrim
and began to build a cell there. Then a man came up and forbade
his proceeding with the work. Pulcherius replied that he would go
on unless his hand were forcibly stayed. Then the man held his
arms to stop him. Pulcherius inquired his name, and he replied that
it was Bronach, ¢ the sad one.” * Sad, indeed, shalt thou be,” said
Pulcherius, ““ for you and your family will be expelled this country.
But here I shall remain, till a man of God named Coeman comes
here, to him I shall resign the place, and this shall be the place of
his resurrection.” 3

The day on which S. Caemen, or Coemen, is commemorated in the
Martyrology of Oengus, in that of O’Gorman, in those of Drummond
and Donegal is November 3.

S. Pulcherius died 490-8; Columba of Tir-da-glas in 548;
his brother or half-brother S. Coemgen in 617; his fellow disciple,
S. Fintan, in 634. We may, accordingly, place the date of the death
of S. Caemen in the first half of the seventh century.

In a MS. in the British Museum, Zemp. Edward III, the church is
called ““ Ecclesia de Sancto Cumano.” ¢ In the Valor of 1535 it is

Félive of Oengus, ed. Whitley Stokes, p. clxviii.

1
* Acta SS. Hibern., Cod. Salam., col. 290.
3 Colgan, Acta SS. Hibern., p. 590. 4 Arch. Camb., 1907, p. 261.
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given as ‘“Eglus Kemen.” An inscribed stone there has on it
‘“Cunigni,” but that would only yield Cynin in Welsh. See under
S.CyNIN. The name, however, occurs on one of the two early in-
scribed stones at Llandilo, in Pembrokeshire, which reads ““ Coimagni
Fili Caveti.”

S. CAENOG

REEs, in his Essay on the Welsh Saints,* gives the church of Clo-
caenog, Denbighshire, as dedicated to a S. Caenog, but no saint of the
name occurs in the saintly pedigrees. In the Myvyrian alphabetical
catalogue 2 Clocaenog is entered under Arianwen, daughter of Brychan
and wife of Iorwerth Hirflawdd, King of Powys. She is there said to
be the mother of Caenog Mawr. This is not correct. In the pedigrees
in Mostyn MS. 117 (late thirteenth century) Caenog is made to be the
son of S. Tegonwy ab Teon, and father of Corf. He was therefore
brother, not son, of Iorwerth Hirflawdd, and also brother of SS.
Llywelyn, of Welshpool, and Mabon. Iorwerth was father of Idnerth.

Browne Willis 2 gives Clocaenog as dedicated to a S. Vodhyd, with
August 27 as festival. In the Jolo MSS. calendar Feddwid is entered
against that day, but who the saint was we know not. The imtial
letter of the name, if Welsh, would be either B or M. Sometimes
the church is stated to be dedicated to S. Trillo. This seems to
be a mistake, to be referred to the Trylokaynoc for Clocaenog
in the parish list in Peniarth MS. 147 (latter part of sixteenth
century), and the Trillo Caenog of the Myvyrian list.# The name
appears to mean the Clawdd, or earthwork, of Caenog. Caenog occurs
also in the farm name Caenog and in Esgyn Gaenog, in the parish
of Gwyddelwern, and in the township of the name in the parish of
Manafon.

S. CAFFO, Martyr

Carro was a son of Caw and brother of Gildas. He seems to have
attached himself to S. Cybi. He probably was with him in Ireland
when he visited Enda in Aran, where Cybi remained four years. We

B2 85T dudey angs 3 Survey of Bangor, pp. 278, 327. R0
VoL. II. E
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do not, however, hear him mentioned till Cybi came to Anglesey.
Then the legend tells how Cybi, being without fire, sent his disciple
Caffo to fetch fire from a smith, and how the pupil returned bearing
red-hot charcoal in the lap of his habit. This is an anecdote that
recurs over and over again in the lives of the Celtic Saints.

After this ensued a rupture between Cybi and his disciple. There
are two Lives of S. Cybi in Cotton MS. Vesp. A. xiv. The first says :
“ And S. Cybi said to his disciple Caffo, Depart from me, for we two
cannot get on together. And he went to the town called at this day
Merthyr Caffo, and there the Rosuir! shepherds killed Caffo. There-
fore the blessed Cybi cursed the shepherds of Rosuir and their mis-
tress,” perhaps the wife of Maelgwn. Merthyr Caffo is now Llan-
gaffo, which occurs as its name in the Norwich Taxatio of 1254. This
comes in awkwardly, interrupting a story of how Maelgwn consented
to make over land to Cybi.?

The second Life omits the passage relative to Caffo. Now it is sig-
nificant that it was on the meeting of Cybi with Maelgwn that Cybi
was forced to dismiss Caffo from his attendance, and that shortly
after some of Maelgwn’s people should fall on and kill Caffo. When
we know that Caffo was the brother of Gildas the whole is ex-
plained.

Caffo was first cousin to Cybi, and very probably the estrangement
between him and the saint was due to the publication of Gildas’s
intemperate epistle, in which Maelgwn was made an object for invective
of the most insulting character. We can well understand that the
king was ill-pleased to have the cousin of his reviler settle on his
lands, and that he consented to tolerate his presence only on con-
dition that he should dismiss the brother of Gildas. . We see also
a reason for the murder of Caffo. The shepherds took up the
quarrel, and slew Caffo in revenge for the abuse poured on their
king.

Near Llangaffo, now a chapel under Llangeinwen, was his holy
well, called Crochan or Ffynnon Gaffo, “ at which it was customary
to offer young cocks to the saint to prevent children from crying
(or being peevish). The family derived no benefit by the offering
unless the priest ate the sacrifice.” 3 Tt was called Crochan, or
Cauldron, from the bubbling of its water. The well has now dis-
appeared, but the farm near it is still called Crochan Caffo. There

! Ie., Rhosfyr, now Newborough.

2 Cambro-British Saints, pp. 186-7.

3 Myv. Arch., p. 420; Angharad Llwyd, History of Anglesey, p. 269; Y
Traethodydd, 1862, pp. 314-5.
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S. CAIN, CAIN WYRY, CEINWEN, or KEYNE, Virgin

THERE has been no little confusion about this virgin recluse, who
was one of the daughters of Brychan, owing to the different forms
under which her name occurs. Besides the above forms, it has been
supposed that she was known also as Ceneu, an imaginary daughter of
Brychan ; and out of her name Cein (or Cain) Wyry has been evolved
a male saint, Ceinwr. Ceinwen is Cain--gwen, ““ the holy or blessed
Cain,” with which may be compared, among ‘others, the name of
her sister Dwynwen, which occurs in the Cognatio as Dwyn. In
the late Brychan lists! her name generally appears under this
form.

The earliest mention of her name is in the Cognatio de Brychan of
Cott. Vesp. A. xiv. The entry runs: ‘ Kein ythrauil ogmor (i.e., in
bifurgatione illius fluuii),” ““Cain in the helding of the Ogmore (i.e.,
within the two branches of that river).” 2 The place meant is Llan-
geinor, in Glamorganshire, in the fork of the Garw and Ogmore rivers,
which appears in two late sixteenth century parish-lists3 as Llan
igain wyr and Llangeinwyr, and in the Myvyrian list 4 as the latter
form, that is, Llan Gain Wyryf, the church of S. Cain the Virgin.
The author of the Life of S. Keyne 5 says she was called by the Britons
““ Keyn wiri, id est Keyn virgo.” Cain means fair, beautiful, bright,
white. The legend says that as a girl she at times shone like the sun,
and at others appeared as white as drifted snow.

Haddan and Stubbs © include her among those ‘‘saints of whom
no reliable evidence can be found that they ever existed at all ”; but
this is going too far.

According to the legend, she abandoned her home in Brecknockshire,
and directing her voyage across the Severn, settled at Keynsham in

Y Tolo MSS., pp. 111, 120, 140; Myv. Arch., pp. 419-20. Cain is not un-
common as a river name, ¢

2 In the later Cognatio of Cott. Dom. i, the entry occurs as ‘ Keinbreit apud
Teraslogur.” Ythrauil, glossed in bifurgatione, stands for thr, ‘‘ between,’”
and awuil, ‘ the forks ' (from- gafi).

3 Dr. J.Gwenogvryn Evans, Report op Welsh MSS., i, p. 919. In two docu-
ments of the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries it occurs as Egluskeinwir,
Birch, Margam Abbey, 1897, pp. 134, 306 ; also as the Chapel of S. Kehinweber,
ibid., p. 133 ; in Cardiff MS. 10 (1550-1600) as Llan gainwyry ; in Leland, Itin.,
iv, fo. 67, as Llanginwire,.

SR 748

5 See John of Tynemouth’s Life of S. Keyna in MS. Cott. Tiberius E. i;
Bodl. Tanner MS. 15; Bodl. MS. 240; and Capgrave’s edition of the same in
MS. Cott. Otho D. ix (printed in Nova Leg. Angli@) and York Cathedval MS.
xvi, ¢. i. It occurs in the Bollandists’ Acta SS., 8 Oct. iv, p. 275. See also
Rees, Welsh Saints, pp. 153-6.

8 Councils, etc., i, pp. 156-7.
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Somersetshire, where she turned the reptiles into stone. This is how
the natives explained the existence of ammonites found in the lias
rocks. The like account is given of their origin in the cliffs of Whitby,
where the miracle is attributed to S. Hilda. ’

After some years spent at Keynsham she retired to a certain
“ Monticulus ” near her home, where she caused a spring to break
forth that was of great virtue.

S. Cadoc, on his journey to the continent from Llancarfan, passed
through Cornwall, and took ship at, or disembarked in, Penzance
Bay. On his way he visited his aunt.

Rees ! considers that the S. Michael’s Mount, to which S. Cadoc
was travelling when he visited her, is a hill near Abergavenny. But
in the Life of S. Cadoc the visit is to S. Michael’s Mount in Cornwall.
The cult of the archangel had not invaded the Celtic Church so early
as this, indeed not till the eighth century. She must have been at
some time in Cornwall, where, near Liskeard, are a parish church and
holy well attributed to her. And this is in a neighbourhood planted
with kinsfolk, S. Clether, S. Cynog, and S. Cynin.

According to the legend, when her death approached angels visited
her. One divested her of her coarse shift, and another invested her
in a fine linen garment, over which he threw a scarlet tunic woven
with gold thread in stripes. S. Cadoc ministered to her when she died,
and buried her in her oratory.

The legend is late, and, like all such manufactured productions,
devoid of historic details. It was not till 710 that S. Michael was
supposed to have appeared on the ‘ tumba ’’ in Normandy, and the
foundation on S. Michael’s Mount, Cornwall, was not made till 1044.
The anachronism, therefore, of making S. Cadoc in the sixth century
go on a pilgrimage to S. Michael’s Mount, whether that in Normandy
or that in Cornwall, is obvious.

Cain is the patroness of Llangeinor, in Glamorganshire, and probably
of Llangain, in Carmarthenshire (but see next article), which is also
known as Eglwys Cain (or Gain) and Maenor Gain. She was the
original patron of Kentchurch (now the- Blessed Virgin Mary) in
Herefordshire, which was formerly called Llangain,? and Ecclesia de
Sancta Keyna or Keynechurche.3 In the Talley Abbey Charter of
I331 occurs a place called Lankeinwyry.* There is a Ffynnon Gain

v Welsh Saints, p. 154.

* Book of Llan Ddv, p. 275.

3 Cartulavy of S. Peter's, Gloucester, i, pp. 210, 287 ; ii, p. 212; iii, p. 269.
A capella of hers is also mentioned.

4 Daniel-Tyssen and Evans, Carmarthen Charters, 1878, p. 62. Llwyncyn-
hwyra is four miles south-west of Talley Abbey.
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in the parish of Bletherston, in Pembrokeshire. Keynsham Church,
now dedicated to S. John Baptist, was dedicated to her originally.
The name occurs in Domesday as Cainessam. As Ceinwen she is
patroness of Llangeinwen and Cerrig Ceinwen, in Anglesey.

There are in Cornwall dedicated to her, S. Keyne, by Liskeard,
where is her famous holy well,! Kenwyn, by Truro, and a chapel
at Fast Looe, re-dedicated to S. Anne. The well is situated about
half a mile from the church, and is covered with old masonry. The
husband or wife who first drinks the water of the well after marriage
retains the mastery ever after. It is the subject of a ballad by Southey,
which concludes with the following verse—

I hasten’d as soon as the wedding was done,
And left my wife in the porch;

But, i’ faith, she had been wiser than me,
For she took a bottle to church! .

The Calendars in the Iolo MSS., Sir John Prys’s Prymer (1546), and
Hafod MS. 8 give S. Cain, or Ceinwen, on October 8. Alwydd
Paradwys (1670), however, enters “ S. Keina ” on the #th. Angharad
Liwyd says her festival at Llangeinwen was the second Sunday after
Michaelmas.2  Browne Willis 3 gives October 7 for Llangeinwen and
Cerrig Ceinwen.

Cressy, in his Church History of Brittany, Rouen, 1668, gives S.
Keina on October 8. Whytford does so as well : ““ The feest also of
Saynt Keyna, called also Saynt Keynwir a virgyn, and doughter vnto
Saynt Breghan Kynge of breknoke in Wales, whiche had xii sones and
xii doughters all holy sayntes; one of y® which doughters was moder
unto Saynt David, and this virgyn an other that was shewed by reune-
lacyon before her byrth ; and after forsoke her kynne and countree,
and dwelled in a desert full of venymous serpentes, whiche by her
prayers were turned al in to stones that yet unto this daye done
kepe the fourme and fashon of y® same serpentes, where she contynued
in hygh p’feccyon and many myracles.”

The Ceinwr of the Iolo MSS. owes his existence to the name of
the parish, Llangeinwr, now Llangeinor. In one document % it is
said that he was a son of Cedig ab Dyfnwal Hén, and a-saint of Llan-
twit ; but the genealogies usually give only Tudwal Tudclud, Serwan,
and Senyllt as sons of this Cedig. Another document,® ascribing to

! Quiller-Couch, Ancient and Holy Wells of Cornwall, 1894, pp. 107-112.

* History of Anglesey, 1833, p. 275 ; so also Arch. Camb., 1847, p. 42, where it
is further stated that at Cerrig Ceinwen it was October 8.

3 Survey of Bangor, p. 281. ORI PRI S,
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him the foundation of Llangeinwr, adds, “S. Ceinwr, the son of
Coel ab Cyllin ab Caradog ab Bran ab Llyr Llediaith ab Baran ab
Ceri Hir Lyngwyn, founded the church of Llangeinwr in Glamorgan.
He was a man who would not believe any being corporeal or spiritual,
neither out of this world would he believe any except God Himself,
or who came with the authority of God by miraculous wonders, so
that there should be no manner of doubt respecting his being of God,
in all that could be seen and understood of his acts and words ; which
should be, in origin and purpose, consistent with what was seen in
the Son of God and His Saints; so that there should be no room for
doubt that they proceeded from God. And he daily and nightly
prayed to God to obtain from Him by sight and hearing what he
ought to believe. And he received through sight and hearing a power
of understanding so evident that it could not be doubted that he
obtained what he desired.”

The legend is printed from a MS. circa 1600, and is written in the
bombastic Welsh much affected by the bardic fraternity at that time
and later.

S. CAIN, daughter of Caw, Virgin

IN the Tolo MSS. genealogies is given another S. Cain, who is said to
have been a daughter of Caw, lord of Cwm Cawlwyd.! Her church,
we are told, is in Ystrad Tywi, by which is intended Llangain,? below
Carmarthen. Her name in these lists of Caw’s children is also spelt
Canna and Cannau, and once, when her three sisters, SS. Cywyllog,
Peithian (Peillan), and Gwenafwy, are mentioned, her name occurs
among the soms of Caw. The four sisters are credited with having
had dedications in Anglesey. The Life of Gildas by the monk of
Ruys also mentions Peteova, apparently Peithian.® It is possible
that she may be the Candida, a Latin rendering of Cain, who is culted
as a holy abbess at Scaér in Finistére. But it has been also supposed
that Candida is S. Nenoc, a reputed daughter of Brychan. So many
of the family of Gildas settled in Armorica that it is not improbable
one of his sisters may have gone there.

! Pp. 101, 109, 117, 139, 142-3.

% It is called Egliskein in a Charter Roll of 1247 printed in Daniel-Tyssen and
Evans, Carmarthen Charters, p. .

3 Ed. Hugh Williams, p. 326.
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S. CAINNECH, or CENNECH, Abbot, Confessor

Tuis Saint’s name does not occur in any of the pedigrees and lists
of the Welsh Saints, except in the Myvyrian Bonedd! a catalogue
compiled by Lewis Morris, and therein the name is given, but without
genealogical particulars. The name is variously spelt in Welsh Cennech,
Cennych, and Cynnych. He is the patron of Llangennech, in Car-
marthenshire, though some authorities,2 quite erroneously, give the
church as dedicated to S. Gwynog. We have his name probably
also in S. Kennox, in Llawhaden parish, Pembrokeshire.

There can exist no manner of doubt that Cennech is none other
than the great S. Cainnech, better known in Ireland as S. Canice,
and in Scotland as S. Kenneth.

His Life is given, very incompletely, by the Bollandists,® with
omission of many miracles and quaint stories, that not a little startled
the editors. A complete Life is in the Codex Salamanticensis,* and
in the Liber Kilkenniensis so called, in Bishop Marsh’s Library,
Dublin. A Life compiled by Colgan exists in MS. in the Franciscan
Convent, Dublin. No indication is afforded by which the date of
composition of the Latin Lives is given, but they were certainly
drawn up at a late period, as they abound in miracles and fabulous
matter. Nevertheless, there is sufficient thread of historic material
to enable us to draw out the true story of the Saint’s life.

Cainnech’s father was named Laidech or Lugaidh, and he belonged
to the Mac-ua-Dalann sept, from the North of Ireland. His mother’s
name was Mell or Melda. They lived in the modern barony of
Keenaght, in Londonderry, and were needy persons, though of good
birth. Cainnech had a brother named Nathi, and a sister named
Columba. His birth occurred in or about 517.5° He first saw the
light at Glengiven in the valley of the Roe, county Londonderry. At
that time his parents were destitute of even a cow, but when Cainnech
was born, a cow that had recently calved came lowing to the door
of their mud cabin, and they deemed that it had been specially sent
from heaven to relieve their necessities. However, shortly after, a
Bishop Luceth or Lyrech came to their door in quest of some stray
cattle of his own, and he consented to baptize the child, and to leave
the cow with them.

As a child Cainnech was employed tending cattle, and had as his

' Myv. Avch., p. 422.

? E.g., Carlisle and Lewis in their Topographical Dictionaries of Wales.
3 Acta SS., Oct. V. pp. 54-6.

4 Acta SS. Hib. ex Cod. Sal., coll. 361-92.

5 Chron. Scot., 516, corrected to 517.
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companion a foster-brother, Teal Bretach, or Albus the Lyar, son
of a petty chieftain. . The differing dispositions of the lads showed
early, for, whereas Teal fashioned toy spears and shields, Cainnech
built doll-churches. Moreover, their stomachs differed in moral
perception, for, whereas Teal ate indiscriminately stolen apples as
well as others lawfully obtained, Cainnech was invariably sick after
having partaken of the former.

At an early age he was sent to Britain and was confided to S. Cadoc
at Llancarfan, to be educated for the ecclesiastical profession.: He
was a docile, gentle boy, and Cadoc became warmly attached to him,
so much so that the steward and others of the monastery became
jealous and spiteful, and did their utmost to cross and inconvenience
‘Cainnech.

In the Life of S. Cadoc we are informed that he had two Irish pupils
under him, Finnian and Macmoil, and the account of the Saint and
his pupils in the Vita S. Cadoci agrees singularly with the narrative
in the Vita S. Cannechi, without one being derived from the other.
Probably the Macmoil of the Life of Cadoc is Cainnech, so called as
the son of his mother Mel, Mac Mel.

So prompt was Cainnech in his obedience, that once, when he was
writing, he began the letter O, when the bell sounded summoning the
brethren to work in the fields, whereupon he sprang up and left the
letter incomplete. We are told in the Life of S. Cadoc that he built
a church for his pupil Macmoil, in Bedwellty, Monmouthshire. See
further under S. MAacMoIL.

After he had become thoroughly instructed, Cainnech was ordained
priest, and then went to the Continent, and made his way to Rome to
the *“ limina apostolorum.”” On his way he made the acquaintance
-of a certain king—we are not told whom—and Cainnech incautiously
‘promised to remain with him and end his days in that country. But no
sooner had he made the promise than he repented of it, and how to
get out of his undertaking puzzled him greatly. At last he hit on a
device. He cut off the little toe of his right foot, and left that with the
king in the certain country, and departed. In that land “ the name
of Cainnech, as learned men affirm, is held in high honour unto
this day.” He returned to Ireland, and went into the North to
Assaroe of the Salmon’s Leap, Ballyshannon, in Donegal. He visited
and studied with S. Mobi Clairenach, along with SS. Ciaran,
Comgall and Columba. He also visited Teal Bretach, his foster-
brother, who was now a petty prince, and he urged him to renounce
the world and give himself wholly to God. Teal Bretach, or Albus
the Lyar, promised that he would do so, but, changing his mind, cut
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off his little finger and gave that to God instead of his whole body,
mind and soul—taking a hint how to escape from strict observance
of an undertaking from what Cainnech had himself done.

One day Cainnech, Columcille, and Comgall were out when a storm
of sleet and snow came down on them with a bitter blast. When
it had passed, Columcille said, ‘“ My poor fellows who are out in a boat,
I have been thinking of them.” Comgall said, “I was thinking of
my brethren in the hayfield.” “The Son of the Virgin knows,”
said Cainnech, ““ that my mind all the while was with the angels in
heaven.”

The two first showed the more generous minds, but the biographer
did not think so.

It is not our intention to give the Life of S. Cainnech at length,
but we must say something further concerning him, for we are
expressly told that he frequently visited Britain,? and that he also
crossed over the dorsal chain of mountains dividing Lancashire from
Yorkshire, and Cheshire from Derby.2 He probably was visiting
the Britons of the small British kingdom of Elmet, enclosed on all
sides by the Saxons. But we are not aware that he has left any trace
of his presence there. He is, moreover, said to have settled near the
roots of a mountain in Britain, which cut off the sun from him. An
angel appeared to him, and volunteered to remove it for him, but
Cainnech declined. In the following night, however, the Almighty
laid hold of the mountain and tried to root it up, but Cainnech severely
reproved Him, and insisted on His letting the mountain remain as
it was. ‘‘ But to this day, the mountain has a rent in it, as the learned
assert, in token of the removal that would have taken place, unless
prohibited by Cainnech.” 3

When crossing over the ‘ backbone of Britain ” there was much
snow on the heights, and Cainnech lighted on a poor woman and her
daughter half frozen, and the child all but dead. He had a fire lighted,
and managed to revive them with heat and good food.

Once, when on a journey, he put up at a convent during Lent, but
the only provision supplied was fat bacon. Cainnech made the
sign of the cross over it, and said, * We will take it as bread.” Ac~
cording to the biographer, the bacon was transformed into bread,

! ““Frequenter in Brittaniam vadit.”” He was on one occasion in Britain
for seven consecutive years. Acta SS. Hib. ex Cod. Sal., col. 370.

? “ Quadam die (cum) S. Kannechus trans dorsum Britannie ambularet,” etc.
Col. 372.

3 *“ Deus vero, volens placere Kannecho, in sequenti nocte montem temptavit
jacere : donec sanctus prohibens dixit, Exibo, exibo a loco isto ; montem autem
nolo mutari usque ad diem judicie. Et sic factum est.”” Col. 372.
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but he candidly admits that after the meal what remained were
bacon rinds and not bread crumbs.

On a certain occasion a mother complained bitterly to him of the
wilfulness and insubordinatjon of her son. Cainnech had the boy
taken and his feet fettered irgiron, and took him with him to Britain.
On the way he threw the key of the fetter that fastened the lad’s feet
into the sea, and declared that the fellow should not have his freedom
till the key was recovered. Afterwards, when the youth returned to
Ireland, he managed somehow to rid himself of the fetters, and pre-
tended that he had recovered the key from the belly of a fish.

On a visit made by Cainnech to S. Columcille at Iona, the two saints
fell out. An Irishman named Tulcan had placed himself along with
his little son in the monastery. Some of the monks complained to
Columcille that Tulcan loved his son better than he loved God, and the
abbot bade him take the boy to the top of a cliff and fling him over
it into the sea. The heart-broken father obeyed. Happily, Cainnech
at the time was returning from a neighbouring island in a boat, and
managed to rescue the child. Going to Columcille he said, ‘ From
this time we are no more friends,” because you gave. too cruel a com-
mand, and afflicted a miserable stranger.” 1

One day Cainnech came to a rich man’s house and saw there a
wretched starved dog, all skin and bones. He inquired whose duty
it was to attend to the dog, and the mistress of the house replied
that it was hers. ‘ Then,”” said S. Cainnech, ““ till the end of the
year give your victuals to this dog, and do you eat only what was given
to the poor brute.” It is asserted that she obeyed him ; which may
or may not have been the case.

Walking in winter in the country of the Southern Hy Niall, he saw
a cross with the snow capping it and resting on the arms. He inquired
whose cross it was, and was informed that it was set up to Colmann
MacDiarmid, King of Meath. Cainnech had known him; and had
received favours from him. The saint went up to the cross, and
leaning his head against it wept, and as he wept his tears melted the
snow from the head and arms of the cross.

There was good reason why the Saint should be unhappy for the
fate of Colmann, and pray for his soul, for he had been a lawless and
lustful prince, and had once carried away the sister of Bishop Aed
MacBric, who had been a nun, and retained her in his fort near the
hill of Uisneach, in West Meath. As Aed could effect nothing he

! “ Ex hoc nunc amici non erimus, quia tam crudele imperium precepisti,
et miserum peregrinum afflixisti.”” Col. 374.
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induced Cainnech to visit the king and induce him to surrender the
unhappy girl, and Cainnech succeeded.

Colmann Bec, son of Diarmid, King of Meath, was killed by Aedh
MacAinmire, King of Ireland, at Bealachfeadha, in 587.2

Cainnech was a good deal of his time in Meath andin Ossory. In
the latter he was in good repute with the king, Colmann son of Fera-
dach, who gave him grants of land and heaped benefits upon him.
It was due to this prince that Cainnech obtained Aghaboe, the Field
of the Ox, which became his principal monastery. The king’s palace
was at Kells. The city of Kilkenny takes its name from Cainnech,
who had a cell there. Colmann belonged to an intrusive race of
kings, and during his reign there were frequent revolts of the Ossorians
under Maelgarbh and Maelodhar, of the ancient Ossorian regal family.
On one occasion the insurgents surrounded and set fire to the fortress.
Cainnech, hearing of the danger of his friend. hastened to the spot,
rushed into the burning fort, and dragged the prince forth, and conveyed
him to a place of safety. There those of his party rallied about him,
and he took the field and routed the insurgents.?

In his old age Cainnech retreated to an island in Loch Cree, since
drained, and there wrote a commentary on the Four Gospels, which
was called the Glass Kinnich or Chain of Cainnech, long preserved
in his church.

S. Brendan of Clonfert was making a gold chalice for his altar, but
ran short of the precious metal. So he went to Cainnech and asked
if he could supply him with some gold. At the moment the abbot
was sick, and pointing to the vomit, bade Brendan takethat or nothing.
The biographer gravely declares that what he had ejected from his
stomach was instantly converted into pure gold.

At Aghaboe, Cainnech is said to have written the life of S. Columcille.
Finding his end approaching, Cainnech was unwilling to receive the
Holy Eucharist from the hands of a certain priest of his monastery,
who was engaged to administer it, because he was in expectation of
the arrival of his friend S. Fintan, abbot of Clonenagh, and this latter
arrived in time and communicated him. S. Cainnech died on October
11, 598, according to the Annals of Ulster and those of the Four
Masters, at the age of eighty-four.

Next to SS. Brigid and Columba, if we may measure popularity
by dedications, the favourite Irish Saint in Scotland was S. Kenneth.
His name occurs in the Aberdeen Breviary on October 1r. In the
city of Kilkenny the feast of S. Canice is observed as a Double of the

1 Ulster Annals, and Chron. Scottorum (corrected).
? Colmann MacFeradach died 601.
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First Class with an Octave. His name occurs in all the Irish Calendars
and Martyrologies ; it is in Usuardus, and in Wilson’s English Mart. ;
Whytford also on October 11, “In Scotland the feest of Saynt
Canuke an abbot.”” He is in the Drummond Calendar, in that of
Arbuthnot, etc. One great token of his popularity in Scotland is
that he gave a name, Kenneth, to Kings of the Scottish race. A
fair, now discontinued, used to be held at Llangennech on October
12th, Old Style, and latterly on the 23rd.

For a brief account of the life and miracles of S. Camnech see
Kelly, Cal. Ir. SS., 125, 138 sq.; Forbes, Kal. Scott. SS., 295-7;
Butler, Lives of the SS., x. 300; Lanigan, Eccl. Hist. Ir., ii, 188, 200
sq. ; Trans. Soc. Antig. Scot., iv, 300 sg.. with special reference to his
connexion with S. Andrew’s ; Reeves, Adamnan, 121, 220, and Eccl.
Ant., 374 ; O Conor,Rer. Hib. Scrip., iv, 125 ; Ware, Ir. Writ., 6, 27,
and Ir. Ant., 137 ; Ulster Journ. Arch., ii, 7, 235, 242.

S. CAIRNECH, Bishop, Confessor

THis saint is often confounded with Carannog, who in Irish is also
called Cairnech. They, however, belonged to different parts of Ireland.
Carannog was British by birth and Cairnech Irish.

The authorities for his history are :(—

1. A Life in Irish from the Book of Ballymote, printed with trans-
lation by Todd and Herbert in the appendix to their edition of the
Irish Nennius, Dublin, 1848, pp. 178-193. Mr. Herbert says in a note,
“ This legend is probably subsequent to A.D. 1092, when the primacy
of the see of Lyons was decreed.” What grounds he has for drawing
this deduction we are at a loss to see. All the Life says about Lyons
is that after an apocryphal Council held at Tours, Cairnech went
on “to Lien in pilgrimage.” There can, however, be very little
doubt that the Life is late, probably of the twelfth century.

2. The Tale of the Death of Muirchertach, or Murtogh Mac Erca,
in the Yellow Book of Lecan, written in the fourteenth century, and
another MS. about a century younger in the library of Trinity College,
Dublin. This tale has been printed, with a translation by Mr. Whitley
Stokes, in the Revwe Celtique, xxiii (1902), pp. 195-438. Of this
O’Donovan, in his edition of the Annals of the Four Masters, gave a
summary, i, p. 173, note b.

In the Life from the Book of Ballymote Cairnech is confounded
with Carannog.
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Cairnech was the son of Saran, son of Coelchu, son of Tuathal, son
of Fedhlim, son of Fiachra Cassan, King of Ulster in 236,! whereas
Carannog was son of Corun, son of Ceredig, son of Cunedda Wledig,
who expelled the Irish from Wales.

Saran, the father of the saint, was king of Dal Araidh, and was an ob-
stinate pagan. He is almost certainly the man who opposed S. Patrick
Mac Calpurn when he visited Ulster. He is described in the Tripartite
Life as son of Coelbad, instead of Coelchu. A curious story is told
of this Saran. Owing to his opposition, Patrick had cursed him that
he should never possess heaven. Somewhat later, after a raid, Saran
brought a number of captives into his territory, and Bishop Olcan,
moved with pity at the brutal way in which they were being treated,
begged that they might be given to him. Saran replied that he would
do so on one condition only, that Olcan should promise him heaven
as his reward. Olcan did so.

A short while after Patrick met Olcan and was furious with him for
having promised heaven to the man to whom he had denied it. Olcan
entreated forgiveness, and knelt to Patrick in token of submission.
But Patrick in a towering rage ordered his charioteer to drive over
the prostrate bishop. ‘I dare not,” said the charioteer, ‘‘drive
over a bishop.” Whereupon Patrick cursed the driver soundly for
being so scrupulous.?

Saran married Erca, daughter of Loarn, who along with his brothers
Fergus and Aengus had been blessed by Patrick. They invaded
Alba, and conquered Argyll; Loarn gave his name to Lorne. The
latter became king there somewhat later, and reigned from 503
to 513. Erca was, however, an unfaithful wife, and eloped with
Muirdach, or Murtogh, son of Eoghain (d. 464) and grandson of
Niall of the Nine Hostages (378—405). By Murtogh she became the
mother of four sons, the most noted of whom was Murtogh Mac Erca,
who was one of the most turbulent men of whom we read in Irish
history. After the death of Murtogh, Erca was married to Fergus
son of Conall Gulban (d. c. 464), another son of Niall, and by him also
had four sons.

Saran, as Erca had left him, married her sister Babona or Pompona,
and became the father of Luirig, Bracan and S. Cairnech. According
to the legend, Saran had extended his conquests into Britain, probably
in alliance with his wife’s uncles, Fergus and Aengus, and he was
succeeded by his son Luirig. S. Cairnech also had come into Britain
and established a monastery.

! Colgan, Acta SS. Hib., Mart., pp. 713, 783.
Stokes, Tripartite Life, i, p. 167 ; Colgan, Trias Thaum., p. 147
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Murtogh Mac Erca had committed a murder in Ireland. He had
put to death some cross-bearers, probably because they had composed
lampoons upon him. This had been a legal privilege of the bards,
and the right seems to have been assumed and exercised by the
crossans or cross-bearers in religious ceremonies of the Church.
For this murder, Murtogh fled to Alba, where soon after, 513, he
murdered his grandfather, Loarn. Fergus at once succeeded his
brother (513-540) and drove Murtogh Mac Erca out of Alba. . He
now went into Britain, intending to do all the mischief he could there,
and he asked his cousin S. Cairnech to bless his arms. Cairnech
consented on one condition. Luirig, Cairnech’s brother, had erected
a fortress on the lands that Cairnech claimed as belonging to himself,
and this the Saint resented with an implacable spirit. He would
bless Murtogh’s arms if he would remonstrate with his brother. To
this Murtogh cheerily consented, and went to Luirig, who when he
heard the message and Cairnech’s threats, replied with a scoff, “I
value his remonstrances no more than the bleating of his pet fawn.”
Murtogh, who was double-dealing as well as a ruffian, at once returned
to the Saint and repeated these words. Cairnech flew into a fury,
and promised heaven to Murtogh if he would kill his (Cairnech’s)
brother, and he prayed God that a fawn might be the means to this end.

Cairnech then commanded Mac Erca to go and destroy his brother,
and he (Murtogh) immediately took upon himself to fight him. And
God worked a great miracle there for Cairnech, viz., he sent a wild
fawn out of the mountain into the king’s assembly, and the host
all went in pursuit of it except the king himself and his women. Then
said Mac Erca, ““ If you had been just, my lord, towards your cleric,
it is certain that it would have given increase of happiness to wear
the royal robe of Luirig.” Then Mac Erca ran his spear into the
king’s side, and he returned to the cleric, and the head of the king
with him, as a token ; and said, ““ Here is your brother’s head for
you, O Cairnech!” Then said Cairnech, “ Leave me the bone, and
eat thou the marrow, and every third coarb shall be thine for ever,
here and in Ireland.”

Then Murtogh Mac Erca took hostages and the (royal) power of the
district into his own hands, conjointly with Cairnech, for seven years,
as also the supreme sovereignty of Britain and Caithness, the Orkneys
and the Saxonland.

But it was not likely that a partnership cemented by such a mon-
strous crime should last. Murtogh took the widow of Luirig (whom
he had murdered), as his wife, and this seems to have given great
offence to Cairnech.
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By her Murtogh is said to have had, as sons, Constantine and
Gaedhil Ficht, who remained to reign in Britain, and especially over
the Cornish Britons, after Murtogh returned to Ireland.

The Irish Annals give us these dates :—

Murtogh Mac Erca was fighting along with Illand and Ailil, sons
of Dunlaing, against Aengus Mac Nadfraich, king of Leinster, and
slew him and his wife in 489.

Then we hear no more of him till 497 (498), when he was fighting
his former confederate Illand.

In 508 or 509 he was engaged in war with Duach, king of Connaught,
and defeated and killed him.

From 508 to 513 were years of anarchy in Ireland, but in the latter
year Murtogh Mac Erca was chosen king, and he reigned till 533.

Erca, mother of Murtogh, in her old age felt qualms of conscience
at her past conduct, and she came to S. Cairnech, her stepson, in
penitence, kneeling at every second ridge on her way, so it is said, till
the blood oozed from her finger ends. Cairnech received her with
these words: ‘I hail thee, O Erca, and thou shalt go to heaven;
and one of every two worthy kings who shall reign over Ireland shall
be of thy seed; the best women and the best clerks shall be theirs ;
success in battle shall be theirs also.”

From her eight sons she had received an extensive tract of land in
fee-simple in Tir-Connell. She had also possession of Drumleen in
Raphoe. All this territory she gave in atonement for her sins to
S. Cairnech. Soon after she died, and S. Cairnech blessed the spot, and
called it Kill-Erca, and placed S. Croidan, a bishop, in charge there.

Murtogh Mac Erca was married to Duiseach, daughter of the King
of Connaught, but he fell under the fascination of a beautiful girl called
Sin. In 524 he had fought the men of Leinster, and in the battle had
killed Sigh, son of Dian and his sons; but the daughter of Sigh, Sin,
he took to himself, and she employed all her blandishments to gain
his love. She was successful, and he banished his wife, who took
refuge with S. Cairnech, and was joined by the Hy Conaill and the
Hy Eoghain. But Murtogh, by a cession of a church in his fortress,
and by making confession and receiving communion, appeased Cairnech.

Soon after, at night, Sin, who all this while had nursed her hatred
of the man into whose arms she had cast herself, had quietly waited
her opportunity, which occurred on Samhain, All Hallow E’en, a time
of great revelry. The king was at Cletty on the Boyne. Sin made
him dead drunk, and summoned to her aid Tuathal Maelgarb, great-
grandson of Niall of the Nine Hostages, who surrounded the hall,
and set it on fire. Murtogh was aroused when the fire had caught his
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garments, and in an agony of pain plunged into a vat of wine to
extinguish the flames, and so perished.

Cairnech now came to the burned fortress to carry off the body of
Murtogh and bury it. The story says at Dulane, but this is because
the two saints are confounded ; or it may have been that the clerics
of Dulane took away the body, and this has been attributed to the
other Cairnech, whose church was not at Tuilen or Dulane but at
Drumleen on Lough Foyle—far away in the North. Sin seems also to
have been burnt, for she had only time to make her confession before
she died.

““Touching Cajirnech, he showed great care for Muirchertach’s soul,
but he did not bring it out of hell. Howbeit he composed the prayer
which from its beginning is named Parce mihi Domine, etc., and he
repeated it continually for the sake of the soul of the king, so that at
last the soul was given to him out of hell.”

The hymn Parce Domine is attributed to S. Meugant. This may
have been different. It has not been preserved in the Liber Hymn-
orum.t

The rest of the story in the Book of Ballymote is a farrago of non-
sense. A great synod assembled at Tours, consisting of 337 bishops
“with the coarb of Peter,” to meet Cairnech, Bishop of Tours and
" Britain-Cord n, or Cornwall, and of all the British; “and the chief-
tainship of the martyrs of the world was given to Cairnech, because
martyrdom was his own choice.”

The mention of the Pope at Tours was suggested to the writer by
the presence of Urban II at the Council of Tours in 1096, or by that
of Alexander III at Tours in 1163.

After the Council, Cairnech, attended by thrice fifty bishops, goes
off on pilgrimage to Lyons, ‘ for the sake of Mac Erca and Murtogh.”
The story goes on to say that Cairnech was the first Bishop of the
Clan Niall and of Temhar (Tara)and the first martyr of Erin. But
it gives no details whatever.

S. Cairnech’s day is March 28 ; he is given as a bishop on this day
in the Martyrology of Tallagh, and in that of Marianus O’Gorman,
and that of Donegal. In none of these is the place named where
he was bishop.

Colgan supposed that Cairnech died about the year 530, and this
he attempts to establish by showing that Fergus, son of Murtogh,
possessed Cruachan’s farm after Cairnech had been dead twenty

t All the portion of the story that concerns the death of Murtogh Mac Erca
is from the tale in the Yellow Book of Lecan.

VOL. 1II, F
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years. Now Fergus died in 561, according to the Annals of the Four
Masters.

Under the name ot Carnocus Episcopus Culdzus he is given by
David Camerarius on June 15, and he had a church on the Haugh
of Laithers opposite the Boat of Magie in the parish of Turriff in
Aberdeenshire, now in complete ruin. ):

It will be seen that the spheres of work of Carannog and Cairnech
were totally distinct. The former laboured in Leinster, and the latter
in Ulster ; the former had his church on the Boyne at Tuilen or Dulane, |
and the latter on Lough Foyle at Drumleen; they both belonged
to the first half of the sixth century; and it was solely due to the
late period at which their legends were drawn up that they came to
be confounded together.

Niall of the Nine Hostages,

K. I. 379—405.
I I
Loarn, K. of Alba, Eoghain, Conall Glnlban,
¢. 503—508 | killed by Murtogh d. c. 464. d. ¢c. 464.
Mac Erca.
Babona, = Saran = Erca = Murtogh= Fergus,
2nd wife. | 1st husband, 2nd hus- | 3rd husband
K. Oriel. band. of Erca.

U= | l Al
Luirig, S. Cairnech, Murtogh Mac Erca, Fedlimid.
K. in Britain, d. c. 545. K.I. 513-533.
murdered by =widow of Luirig.

Murtogh Mac

Erca, at the | |

instigation of Fergus, Domnall, S. Colum Cill, Ab.

S. Cairnech. Kings of Ireland, Hi, d-Jso72
538-565.

Cairnech’s“‘ Misach,” apparently a Calendar, was given by him to
be one of the relics to be carried in battle before the warriors of the
Clan Conall and Clan Eoghain, descended from Niall of the Nine
Hostages,* ““ That whenever they had not the leadership or the king-
ship of Ireland, their power should be over every province around
them ; and that they should have the succession of Ely (in the barony
of Inishowen) and Tara and Ulaid (Ulster); and that they should
take no wage from anyone, for this is their own inherent right, the
kingship of Ireland; and that they should be without fetter or
hostage, and that rottenness should befall the hostages when they
abscond ; and that they should gain victory in battle, if the cause

1 « The Death of Muirchertach Mac Erca,” in Revue Celtique, xxiii (1902), p. 405.
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S. CAMMARCH, Confessor

His name occurs once in the Jolo MSS.* pedigrees, and in the
Myvyrian alphabetical bonedd.? He is given as a son of Gwynllyw
Filwr. His festival is October 8, which is entered in the calendars in
the Iolo MSS. and the Welsh Prymer of 1633, and by Nicolas Ros-
carrock, as well as in a number of Welsh almanacks, principally of
the eighteenth century. He is the accredited patron of Llangam-
march, in Brecknockshire, though in Cdn Tyssilio, by the twelfth
century bard Cynddelw, the church is enumerated among the Tyssilio
foundations.? The Tyssilio dedication is confirmed by the fact that
in the Lives of that saint preserved in Brittany he is said to have
spent some time in the region of Buellt, in which cantred Llangam-
march is situate. The river Cammarch joins the Irfon close to the
church, and the church may, as is often the case, have taken its name
from theriver. Butstreams in Wales frequently bear men’s names ;
for instance, the Beuno (or Bennio), Cybi, and Dewi—the last at Myd-
rim of which the church is dedicated to S. David. See, however,
under S. CAMMAB.

The word cammarch, which literally means a crooked horse, has
been quite recently introduced into Welsh to signify the camel. S.
Cynog ab Brychan, it appears, was nicknamed cammarch, and it is
curious that his festival should be also October 8.

S. CANDIDA

Tue Church of Whitechurch Canonicorum, in Dorsetshire, is named
in King Alfred’s will, about goo, as Hwitan Cyrcian. In it is the
shrine of S. White or S. Wita, still containing her bones. She is called
Wite in the inscription on her reliquary, and also in the Charter of
Sir Robert de Mandevil by which he gave Berehayes to ‘“ St. Wita
or to the church of Whitechurch ” about the year 1220. She is also
called “ White ”” in the will of Robert Pyke (April 2, 1531), who desired
that his body should be buried in the chancell of ““ Saincte White of
Whitechurch,” and left 6s. 84. to the church of ‘ Sancte White.”
On the other hand she is called “ Candida” by John Belde (1505) and
John Towker (1521), both of whom bequeathed their bodies to be
buried in “ the Church of St. Candida the Virgin.”” Thus only at the
beginning of the sixteenth century was a substitution made of Candida,

WP ATZ0! 2 Myv. Arch., p. 422. 3 Ibid., p. 170.
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the Virgin, in the Roman Martyrology, for White of local celebrity.
Under S. GWEN TEIRBRON will be shown that the S. White of White-
church is probably that Saint, the mother of S. Winwaloe and others.

There was a S. Ninocha Gwengastel, a native of Wales, who in
Brittany received a cult at Scaer as S. Candida, but she was an abbess,
and entirely distinct from Gwen Teirbron.

- S. CANNA, Matron

CanNaA was the daughter of Tewdwr Mawr or Tewdwr Llydaw, son
of Emyr Llydaw.! She first married S. Sadwrn, her kinsman, who
by her became the father of S. Crallo. They accompanied S. Cadfan to
Britain. After the death of Sadwrn, she married Alltu Redegog,
and had by him S. Elian Geimiad, the friend of S. Cybi. She was
the mother also by him of S. Tegfan. She is supposed to have
been the foundress of Llanganna, or Llangan, in Glamorganshire, where
so many of the family of Emyr settled, and of Llangan in Car-
marthenshire. In the vestry of Beaumaris Church is an altar tomb
of the fifteenth century moved from Penmon at the dissolution.
On the sides are representations of several of the local saints ; one of
the figures is of a knight in armour giving benediction with his right
hand, possibly intended for Sadwrn, who was designated Marchog, or
the Knight, and next to it is that of a crowned lady, the crown above a
monastic veil, and holding in her hand a staff bursting into leaf and
flower. If the former be Sadwrn this latter is probably Canna. The
symbol refers apparently to a lost legend like that of the mother of
S. Ciaran—that when the pangs of maternity came over her, she
laid hold of a rowan that was dry, but which at once put forth leaves
and berries ; or it may apply to a story that she planted her staff and it
became a mighty tree.

The inscribed stone of Sadwrn (or Saturninus) is in the neighbouring
church of Llansadwrn (see S. SADWRN).

Alltu is also said to have been married to S. Tegwen, daughter of
Tewdrig ab Teithfall ; 2 but this is a mistake, Tegwen for Cenaf (or
Cenau) being due to confusing S. Tegfan with his mother.

At the Carmarthenshire Llangan (part of which parish is in Pem-

! Iolo MSS., pp. 112, 132, 134, 221. In the bonedds in Peniarth MS. 45 and
Hafod MS. 16 the name of the mother of SS. Elian and Tegfan is written, with
the conjunction a, as athecnaw and a chenaf.

% Ibid., pp. 118, 137.
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brokeshire) there is a rude stone, forming a kind of chair, which is.
known as S. Canna’s Chair. It lies in a field adjoining the churchyard,
about thirty or forty yards from it, and not far from Ffynnon Ganna,
the Saint’s Holy Well. It is a granite block, rough on its outside,
but with the scooping or seat quite smooth. There is an inscrip-
tion on it, supposed to read cANNA, in Roman capitals of so late a
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S. CANNA’S CHAIR.

character that its genuineness is doubtful. Miraculous cures were
affirmed to have been effected here, particularly in the case of persons
troubled with the ague and intestinal complaints. The patient was
first required to throw some pins into the well. Then he was to
drink a fixed quantity of the water, and sometimes bathe in the well,
but the bath was not always resorted to. After this he was to sit in
the chair for a certain length of time, and if he could manage to sleep
nnder these circumstances, the curative effects of the operation were
considerably increased. This process was continued for some days,
even for a fortnight or longer. The well has disappeared since about
the year 1840. It was asserted that the hollow in the stone had
been produced by the multitude and frequency of the devotees.?
About the centre of the parish is a field called Parc y Fynwent
(the churchyard field), where, the local tradition says, the church was

v Arch. Camb., 1872, pp. 235-9 (chair illustrated) ; 1875, pp. 376, 409 ; West-
wood, Lapidarium Wallie, p. 89 (illustration).
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to have been originally built ; but the stones brought to the spot during
the day were removed at night by invisible means to the site of the
present church, and a voice could be heard crying, “ Llangan, dyma’r
fan” (“ Llangan, this is the spot”).

The Glamorganshire Llangan adjoins ILlangrallo, now generally
known as Coychurch. There is a stream there called Canna.

Canna enters also into Canton, now a parish name, a populous
hamlet in the parish of Llandaff, forming the western suburb of Cardiff.
It was called by the Welsh Treganna, and its northern part is known
as Pont Canna. Canna’s (or Canons’) Farmis in the parish of Llan-
daff.

Her festival does not occur in any of the Welsh calendars. Browne
Willis gives October 25 as the festival at Llangan, Glamorganshire.!

Canna occurs also as a man’s name,? and two documents? give
Canna as a daughter of Caw ; but see under S. CAIN, daughter of Caw.

Mr. Egerton Phillimore is inclined to believe that the correct and
original name of the mother of SS. Elian and Tegfan was Cenaf, and
that there is no ground for ascribing either of the Llangan churches
to her, but that there is good reason for thinking that the Glamorgan
church name, as also the Cardiff Canna names, are from Cannou
{becoming later Canneu, Cannau, and Canna), the cleric who witnesses
a document in conjunction with SS. David, Teilo, Illtyd, Aidan, and
Cynidr in the Life of S. Cadoc.t

S. CANNEN, Confessor

THERE is considerable confusion in the genealogical details given of
this Welsh Saint. Sometimes he is given the details which properly
belong to S. Catwg, being made to be son of Gwynllyw (or Gwynllew)
ab Glywys, of Llangadwg in Gwent, as in Peniarth MS. 12 (early
fourteenth century) and Harletan MS. 41815 In these Catwg is
left out. A “ Kemmeu Sant” is given as brother of Catwg in
Peniarth MS. 16 (thirteenth century), but in Peniarth MS. 43
(thirteenth century) he is omitted, Catwg alone occurs. In the

! Survey of Llandaff, 1719, appendix, p. 4.

2 Book of Llan Ddv, p. 174. 3 Iolo MSS., pp. 109, 142.

¢ Owen, Pembrokeshire, ii, p. 427.

& Cambro-British Saints, p. 267. This is a copy made before 1714 of a MS,
about 100 years earlier.
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bonedd in Hafod MS. 16 {circa 1400) we have Cannen Sant entered
as son of Gwyddllew ab Gwynllew ab Glywys, and connected with
Llangadwg in Gwent, but Catwg is here again missing. The document
in the Tolo MSS.! misreads his name as Canneu or Cannau, and he is
entered as son of Gwyddlyw ab Gwynllyw, whilst in another we have
Cannen a daughter of Gwyddlew ab Gwynllyw.2 The former credits
him with being the patron of Llangannau, in Glamorganshire, by
which, it would appear, is meant Llangan, which occurs sometimes
written as Llanganney and Llangane.3

It looks as if by Cannen were meant the Kemmeu of Peniarth MS.
16 (see under S, CAMMAB), or that he was the son of Catwg's brother
Gwyddlew or Gwyddlyw.

The patron of Llanganten,in Brecknockshire, is variously said to be
Canten and Cannen.* It can be Cannen only on the supposition that
.“it is a later form of the name, but the survival of the Canten pronun-
ciation is against it. In the Taxatio of 1291 % it occurs as ““ Langanten.”

S. CARADEC (CARTHACH), Abbot, Bishop, Confessor

THis Saint would not have been included in our collection but
that he has been confounded in a most strange manner with S. Caran-
nog.

In Brittany there are two sets of foundations, those of Carannog, at
Carantec and Tregarantec in Léon, and those of Caradoc, or Caradec,
in the south of C6tes du Nord, and over the border, in Morbihan.
Caradec cannot possibly be a corruption of Carannog, and two distinct
personages are represented by these names, establishing churches in
separate districts. '

Nevertheless, liturgically they have been confounded, and in ‘the
Breviary of Léon of 1516, and in the collection of Lives by Albert le
Grand, the name of Carannog, or Carantoc, has been supplanted in the
legend of his Life by that of Caradocus, the vernacular Caradec or

1 P. 108. Cannou occurs as the name of one of the clerical witnesses to _
an agreement between S. Cadoc and Rhain ab Brychan, Cambro-Britisk Saints,

Pp. 56, 96.

2 P, 130. 8 Dr. Gwenogvryn Evans, Report on Welsh MSS., i, p. 919.
. * Myv. Arch., p. 422 ; Rees, Welsh Saints, p. 326; Owen’s Pembrokeshire, ii,
D 427. '
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Carreuc. A deed of 1289 mentions Mostoer-Caradec, and this was
S. Caradec near Mur,; on the Oust near Loudéac.?

There have been two treatises on S. Caradec :—Oheix, “ S. Caradec
appartient il 4 la Bretagne,” in the Revue de Bretagne, Nantes, 1880 ;
and De la Borderie, ““Les deux Saints Caradec,” in Mélanges historiques,
published by La Société des Bibliophiles Bretons, T. ii, Nantes, 1883,
but neither helps towards the discrimination between Caradoc and
Carantoc. What adds to the difficulty is that Caradoc is commemo-
rated in the Vannes Breviary on the same day as Carantoc in that of
Léon, and that in the Léon Breviary Carantoc is called Caradoc.

There is no Welsh Saint Caradog who can be intended by S. Cara-
dec, or Carreuc, unless it were Caradog, son, or, more correctly,
father of Ynyr Gwent, but we have no authority for supposing
that he was a saint, no Welsh pedigrees give him as a saint,
and if the father of Machu or S. Malo had settled in Brittany, and °
become an abbot there, it would certalnly have been mentioned in
the Lives of that saint.

Setting aside this Caradog as inadmissible, we must look elsewhere,
and we may perhaps find in Carthach the Elder, coarb of Ciaran of
Saighir, the man known in the Diocese of Vannes and in that of S.
Brieuc as Caradec. Caradog is the Welsh form of the Goidelic Carthach.

Carthach the Elder has had no biographer, or at least no Life of
him has come down to our days ; all that is known of him has been
collected by Colgan in his Acta SS. Hibern. Mart. v, mainly from the
Lives of Ciaran of Saighir, his master, and of Carthach the Younger, his
pupil. Carthach was the son, or, more probably, the grandson of
Aengus MacNadfraich, King of Munster, who had driven the royal
family of the Ossorians out of Ossory.

When Aengus suffered Ciaran to establish a monastery at Saighir
on the confines of Ossory, and to assume the ecclesiastical jurisdiction
over Ossory, he must have done so with hesitation and under conditions,
for Ciaran belonged to”the expelled royal family. Although not
stated, we may suspect that a condition imposed on Ciaran was that
he should take Carthach, son or grandson of Aengus, as his pupil, and
should undertake to make him his coarb, to.succeed him in the abbacy,
so that eventually the ecclesiastical as well as the secular rule over
‘Ossory should be in the hands of the intruders.

Ciaran found Carthach a troublesome pupil. He carried on an
amour with a damsel in the religious establishment of Liadhain the
mother of Ciaran ; this was interrupted by a thunderbolt falling at
the place of assignation, which so frightened the girl that she ran back

T Oheix, ““ Les Saints inconnus,” in Association Bretonne, 1880.
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to Liadhain and confessed her fault.? Then Carthach got into an
intrigue with another girl of the convent of Cuacha, the nurse of
Ciaran, and when she became a mother by him, the scandal provoked
Ciaran to insist on Carthach leaving Saighir for a while and sowing
his wild oats abroad.?

According to the scholiast on the Félire of Oengus, when the babe
was born the mother laid it in a tuft of rushes beside the road. S.
Comgall, with his pupils, was passing along the highway when he heard
the sobbing of the child, and he bade one of his disciples go to the
spot and see what was there. The man kicked the rushes and dis-
closed the babe, which he took up and tucked under his arm.

“ Where is the child ? 7 asked Comgall. “ In my arm-pit,” replied
the brother. “ That shall be its name,”’ said the abbot; My lua (kick),
son of Ocha (arm-pit).” Comgall took the child along with him and
reared it ; and this is the celebrated S. Lugaidh, or Molua, who is com-
memorated on August 4.2 But the story does not agree with that given
in the Life of S. Molua. In this latter, Sochte, an Ossorian, was the
mother, by a Carthach son of Daigre of the Hy Fidgeinte who occupied
Limerick. Molua was the youngest of three sons born to Carthach
by Sochte, and so far from exposing him, Carthach brought him up
at home. He was drunk for nine consecutive days from merely
inhaling the breath of the child. It was not till much later, when
Molua was grown up and approaching manhood, that S. Comgall
took him as a pupil.

It is, accordingly, clear that the scholiast blundered in making
Molua the son of S. Carthach of Saighir. He mistook one Carthach
for the other, his namesake.

When Carthach was sent away from Saighir for his loose morals, he
went to Gaul, where he remained for some years, but in what part we
are not informed. He also visited Rome.

It is possible that to this period may be attributed the foundations.
of S. Caradec in Armorica.

After some years he returned to Ireland. Ciaran was one day
bathing, along with a Saint named Germanus, when the latter caught
a fish. “ That will do for dinner to-morrow,” said Ciaran, ‘‘ when I
expect my old pupil to return to me.” Next day Carthach arrived
and was received with great joy.

1 Acta SS. Hib. in Cod. Sal., 1888, coll., 814—5.

% *“ Carthach, Ciaran’s pupil, was sent by Ciaran on his pilgrimage to Rome
for having come into a woman’s company, for it is to him that Molua MacOcha.
was a son.” Félire of Oengus, ed. W. Stokes, p. Ix.

3 Ibid. p. cxxviii.

4 Acta SS. Hib. in Cod. Sal., coll., 814-5.
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It is supposed that Carthach was ordained by Ciaran, and perhaps
consecrated bishop by him, and the  Martyrology of Donegal says
that on his deathbed, ‘‘ Ciaran dedicated his congregation to God and
to Carthach.” He probably could do no other in accordance with an
agreement with Aengus MacNadfraich, which would be enforced by
Eochaidh, the son and successor in the kingdom of Munster.

Carthach seems to have been for awhile in Kerry, and there took
as his disciple the younger Carthach, afterwards founder of Lismore.

The date of his death is not recorded, but it must have taken place
somewhere about 580.

The feast of S. Carthach in the Irish Martyrologies of Tallagh,
Cashel, Donegal, Marianus O’Gorman, etc., is on March 5, the same
day as that of his master S. Ciaran.

But in Brittany on May 16, as he has been confounded with S.
Carantoc (Missal of Vannes, 1530 ; Breviary of Vannes, 1586 ; Breviary
of Léon, 1516 ; Missal of Léon, 1526).

He is patron of S. Caradec Trégomel, near Guéméné, and S. Caradec
Hennebont, both in the diocese of Vannes ; of S. Caradec near Loudéac,
and S. Carreuc, both in Cétes du Nord ; and he had chapels in Plouai,
Morbihan, at Mellac and Pontaven.

At S. Caradec near Loudéac is a statue representing him as an
abbot, mitred and giving benediction, but without distinguishing
symbol. He is invoked in the Litany of the Stowe Missal.!

S. CARADOG, Monk, Confessor

His Life, probably abridged from the lost Life by Giraldus Cambrensis,
was adopted by John of Tynemouth into his collection, and thence
it was taken by Capgrave and printed in the Nova Legenda Anglie.?
Further information concerning him is obtained from the Itinerary
of Wales by Giraldus, Bk. i, chap. xi. Caradog was a native of Brych-
einiog, born of parents in a moderate position of life. He received a
good education, and was sent to the Court of Rhys ab Tewdwr, King of
South Wales (1077-93), where he was well received, as he was a skilled
harper. Rhys committed to his charge a couple of harriers, the
King’s pets. One day by his neglect the dogs got away. The King
was furious, swore at him and threatened him with mutilation.

! Warren, Liturgy of the Celtic Church, Oxford, 1881, pp. 238, 240.

? Nova Legenda Anglie, ed. Horstman, Oxford, 1893, i, pp. 167-173. Gir-

aldus read the lost Life to the Pope. Its preface has been preserved in his
Symbolum Electorum.
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Thereupon Caradog replied : ““ If you value my long and laborious
service so little, as your words imply, I will go and serve another
master who values men higher than hounds.”

Breaking off the head of his lance, so as to convert the staff into
a walking-stick, he departed, and joined with some others, betook
himself to Llandaff. On the way they found a goat that had been
transfixed with an arrow, and they skinned, roasted and ate it.

On reaching Llandaff, Caradog was tonsured by the bishop, and
served at the church there for a time. But after a while, desiring a
quieter life, he went to Gower, and found the church of S. Cenydd
abandoned. He built himself a habitation near the churchyard,
and set to work to clear the ground. It took him three days before he
could get the sacred edifice clear of the brambles and thorns that had
invaded it.?

After having spent some time there, he became restless, and went
off to Menevia, where he was advanced to the priesthood.

Then he seceded to the isle of Ary (probably Barry Island, Llanrian),
Pembrokeshire. He was not quite alone, he had some companions
with him. But he did not obtain the quiet there that he desired,
for Norwegian pirates landed and carried him and his comrades off.
However, owing to currents and contrary winds, they could not get
away, and fearing that they might run short of food, they set Caradog
and his fellows on the island again. One night, so runs the story, Satan
appeared to him and offered his menial services. ‘ Get away with
you,” said the hermit, “I don’t want your service in any way.”
Then the Evil One laid hold of his belt and purse, and cut capers and
jeered at him. Caradog had some difficulty in ridding himself of so
troublesome a guest, and in securing his belt and purse. The Satan
in the story was doubtless one of his comrades who was tired of the
solitary life, and had to be dismissed, and endeavoured to steal some
of his master’s property. At last the incursions of the Northmen
became so frequent and so menacing, that Caradog was obliged to
leave, and the Bishop of S. David’s sent him to take charge of the
cell founded by S. Ismael, now S. Issell’s, Haroldston. But here also
he was harassed. This time it was by the Flemings whom Henry I

! ““ Casa juxta cimiterinm edificata, spinis ac tribulis non sine labore grandi
locum purgans, vix post triduum ecclesiam introire valebat.”” The Book of
Lian Ddv (p. 279) states that Bishop Herwald of Llandaff (died 1104) “ ordained
Caradog, a holy and religious man, to be a monk” in the church of Llangenydd.
He may be the “ magister Caratocus’ of the Life of Elgar the Hermit, in
the same book (pp. 1-5), who went to Bardsey to see the hermit  whether he
were alive or dead,” and wrote from his lips the story of his life.
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introduced, and to whom he gave up the district now termed  Little
England beyond Wales.” To make room for his Flemings, the Welsh
were dispossessed, and driven out of the country.

Caradog was specially troubled by one Richard Tankard, who
impounded his cattle and sheep. The wife of Tankard, however,
treated the holy man with much consideration, and often sent her
youngest son Richard to him with provisions. Richard the Elder
was governor 0f the Castle of Haverford. Giraldus says that the
young boy soingratiated himself in the eyes of the hermit, that Caradog
often promised him, along with his blessing, that his brothers, who
were older than himself, should die before him, and that he would
inherit the paternal possessions—a promise not calculated to act
wholesomely on the boy’s mind. Once it happened that the young
man was out hunting, when a violent storm of rain coming on, he
turned for shelter to the hermit’s cell. “ Being unable to get his
hounds together either by calling, coaxing or by offering them food, the
holy man smiled, and making a gentle motion with his hand, brought
them all to him immediately.” *

The annoyance caused by the elder Tankard ceased, as he was
carried over the cliffs when out hunting a stag, which bounded into
the sea and was followed by the hounds and the steed mounted by
Tankard ; but this was after the death of the hermit whom he vexed.
The elder brothers of young Richard having happily deceased, the
young man came into all the inheritance of his father.

Caradog died in the year 1124 at Haroldston S. Issell’s.?

He had desired that his body should be conveyed to S. David’s,
but Tankard endeavoured to detain it. However, being unwell,
and attributing this to his having gone against the last wishes of
Caradog, he permitted it to be conveyed thither. As the corpse was
being transported to S. David’s, a storm of rain came on as the pro-
cession was traversing the sands of Newgate ; when the bearers and
the convoy escaped for shelter into a house. On coming forth they
found that the silken pall that had covered the bier was not wet and
was uninjured, and this was regarded as miraculous.

A chapel, called Cradock’s Chapel, was afterwards erected on the
spot, and was subordinate to Roch, but it has disappeared, and
some mounds only indicate the locality.

The body was buried in S. David’s Cathedral ““in the left aisle,

1 Itin. Kamb., bk. i, ch. xi.
His death, as Caradawc Vynach, is entered in the chronicle, O Oes Gwrtheyrn
(Oxf. Bruts, p. 405).
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near the altar of the holy proto-martyr Stephen.” His shrine is often
mistaken for that of S. David.t

The site of Caradog’s hermitage was probably near a place called
Portfield, the common on which Haverfordwest races are held,
as there is a well there, once noted, called Caradog’s Well,
round which, till a few years ago, a sort of Vanity Fair was held,
where cakes were sold, and country games were performed. It was
held on the Monday in Easter or Whitsun week.?2

Giraldus Cambrensis endeavoured to get him canonized,® but
failed, which he attributed to spite.

Lawrenny Church is dedicated to Caradog. His day is April 13th
according to Nicolas Roscarrock, but the 14th according to the Calendar
in Cotton MS. Vesp. A. xiv (early thirteenth century).

He is one of the few Welsh Saints who lived after the close of the
Age of the Saints. >

S. CARANNOG, Bishop, Confessor

THERE is some uncertainty as to whose son Carannog was, whether
he was son of Ceredig ab Cunedda Wledig, or son of Corun ab Ceredig.
According to the Progenies Keredic Regis de Keredigan,* at the end of the
Cognatio de Brychan, in Cotton M S. Vesp. A. xiv. (of the early thirteenth
century) and his V##a in the same Collection, he was the son of Ceredig,
and therefore brother of Corun. The genealogies in Harleian MS.
4181,% Pentarth MS. 12,° Hafod MS. 16, and the Iolo MSS.?® give
him as the son of Corun.

Tt is always safest to adopt the fuller descent, as grandchildren are
not infrequently entered as ab the grandfather. This has certainly
taken place in the Brychan family.

1 William of Malmesbury visited his shrine, and was in the act of cutting off
one of the fingers when the saint suddenly withdrew his hand. It is said that
the body on being removed some years after his death was found perfect and
incorrupt. There is an illustration of the shrine in J. C. Wall, Skrines of the
British Saints, p. 94, and also in P. A, Robson, S. David’s, Bell’s Series, p. 55.

2 Fenton, Pembrokeshire, 1811, pp. 144, 20I.

3 Aletter of Innocent III, dated May 8, 1200, is extant, enjoining inquiry into
the virtues and miracles of Caradog. Haddan and Stubbs, Councils, etc., i, p. 412,

¢ Y Cymmrodor, xix, p. 27 ; Cambro-British Saints, p. 275.

5 Cambro-British Saints, p. 265.

8 Y Cymmvrodor, Vii, p. 133.

? Myv. Arch., p. 415, cf. p. 420.

8 Iolo MSS., pp. 110, 125. The name is mis-spelt here Corwn. It is from the
Latin Coronus,
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The authorities for the Life are :—(x) A Vita Sancti Carantoci in the
Cotton M S. Vespasian, A. xiv, which has been very inaccurately printed
by Rees in the Lives of the Cambro-British Saints, Llandovery, 1853, pp.
g7-101. This Lifeis made up of two parts, () a Vita short and legend-
ary, (8) the commencement of another. The first is a homily on the
festival, and begins ‘‘ Veneranda est hec solempnitas omnibus homini-
bus in Deo credentibus,” and intimates that his pedigree could be
traced back to Mary the Mother of our Lord.! It contains some
interesting particulars :—“ In istis temporibus Scotti superauerunt
Brittanniam ; nomina ducum quorum Briscus. Thuibaius. Machleius.
Anpacus. xxx. annis ante natiuitatem Sancti Dauid filii Sant; bene
Carantocus susceptus est in Hibernia.” 2

This Life concludes with : ““ O vere vir beate, in quo dolus non fuit
. . . qui manet sine macula cum gaudio et gloria inter angelorum
agmina in secula seculorum. Amen.” .

Then follows a fragment that begins: “ Quodam tempore fuit
vir, nomine Keredic, rex erat, et hic vir habuit multos filios.”” This
gives the pedigree of Carannog up to Anna, whowas the cousin of Mary
the Virgin. Then comes an account of Cunedda and his sons, and of
the subdivision of Wales among the sons. Then of a raid made by
the ““ Scots ”’ on Ceredigion, and the election of Carannog to head the
people against them. This he refused to do, and ran away, having
borrowed a staff and bag from a beggar and further disguised himself.
To this follows his going to Guerit Carantauc, with nothing about his
Irish expedition. And there the story breaks off abruptly.

John of Tynemouth worked up the same material for his Life, and
put the fragment into its proper position, before the departure to
Ireland, Cotfon MS. Tiberius, E. i. This is printed in Capgrave’s
Nova Legenda Anglice.

2. A second Vita is found in the Breviary of the Church of Léon,
printed at Paris, 1516. Of this only two copies exist, one in the
Bibliotheque Nationale at Paris; and the other till recently in the
Library of the Fréres Lamennais at Ploérmel. This has been re-
printed by A. de la Borderie, Les deux Saints Caradec, Paris, 1883,
and also in Y Cymmrodor, xv, pp. 97—9. It begins like the fragment

1 The pedigree, and the tract relating to Cunedda and his sons, are copied,
with some modifications, from the pedigrees and tract found in the Old-Welsh
genealogies in Harleian MS. 3859. See Y Cymmprodor, ix, pp. 170, 182-3.

* The printed text is corrupt here. We give the correct reading of the MS.
from Owen’s Pembrokeshive, ii, p. 278. It is not the conquest of Britain by
the Irish, as the printed text makes out, but the reception of Carannog in
Ireland, which is thus dated thirty years before S. David’s birth.
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at the end of the Vita printed in the Cambro-British Saints, but with
the change of the name from Carantocus to Caradocus. It omits the
genealogy and the account of Cunedda and his sons. It then relates
how that Ceredig was old and Caradocus was chosen to be King in
his room, and how he ran away, borrowed a disguise from a beggar
and went to Guerith Carantoc. Then— post multos autem dies ”
—a voice from heaven summoned him to go to Ireland.

This Life in the Léon Breviary is an early document, probably of
the tenth century. It also is a mere fragment, and relates to the
Acts of the Saint in Ireland, and says nothing further of his settlement
at Guerith Carantoc, nothing of any visit to Armorica, and none of
the extant fragmentary Lives relate his death.

Leland (I#em., viii, p. 69) gives a brief extract from the Life of S.
Carantoc, ‘“ Carantacus, filius Roderici regis. Carantocus fuit in Hibernia
30 annis ante nativitatem S. Danielis.”” This is clearly a corrupted
paraphrase of the passage in the Cambro-British Saints, Keredic being
altered into Roderici and Dauidis into Danielis.

We will now take the legendary Life as pieced together from the
material at our disposal.

Ceredig was King in Ceredigion, from which had been expelled
the Gwyddyl who had occupied the seaboard of Wales. In the
names of the Irish chiefs who had held rule over the British we
may perhaps recognize three, Thuibaius may be Dathi, 405-428;
Anpacus may be Amalgaidh, d. 449 ; and Machleius may be Lugaidh
MacLeoghair, 503-8. Mr. Phillimore is disposed to identify Briscus
with Aed Brosc, son of Corath, son of Eochaid Allmuir, and Anpacus
with Anlach, father of Brychan.

Notwithstanding that Ceredig had established himself in Ceredigion,
these latter made a descent on the coast, and attempted to recover
theirlost possessions. This may be the occasion when Ceredig, whom
we equate with Coroticus, captured so many baptized Irish and held
them in durance, calling forth the letter of S. Patrick in protest.
This letter is supposed by Haddan and Stubbs to have been written
and sent “ shortly before 493 (?).” t

As Ceredig was aged, and the incursions were frequent, the Bishop
of the principality went to him, and said : *“ Thou art too old to fight,
it is therefore well that one of thy sons should be appointed in thy
room, and let that one be the eldest.”” To this he consented. Accord-
ingly they appealed to Carannog to be their king and leader. But
he, loving the Kingdom of Heaven above all earthly things, changed

1 Councils and Eccl. Documents, ii, pt. ii, p. 314.

X
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clothes with a beggar, took his staff and wallet, ran away and took
refuge at a place called Guerit Carantauc.?

This place, as appears, was Carhampton in Somersetshire. Carannog
resided some time here. On arriving, he borrowed a spade from a
~ poor man, wherewith to dig the ground. And he whittled at intervals,
when tired of digging, the staff he had brought with him.

Then he observed a wood pigeon fly out of the nearest grove, and
carry off the shavings in its beak. He followed the bird, and found
that it had dropped the chips in one particular spot. He determined
on building a church there. And this was, as we are informed, the
city of Carrov.2 7). s / ( /

When running away from home, he had thrown his portable altar
into the Severn Sea. It had been washed up, and Arthur, who with
Cado ruled in those parts at the time, got hold of it, and resolved on
converting it to secular uses. However, there was a dragon in the
neighbourhood that created great depredation, and this monster
Carannog subdued, and in return for the favour Arthur surrendered
to him the altar, but with some reluctance. Arthur held his Court at
the time in Dindraithou. This is probably the Dun Tradui, the three-
fossed fortress erected by Crimthan Mér (366-378) to hold down the
British, when he held dominion from Alba to the Ictian Sea (the
English Channel).? This is spoken of by Cormac in his Old Irish
Glossary. Cormac was King-Bishop of Cashel, born 831, and killed
in battle go3.

This Dun Tradui was apparently in Map Lethain, “in the lands
of the Cornish Britons ”’ (dind map Lethain i tirib Bretan Cornn).4

After having completed his church, placed in it his altar, and built the
city called Carrov,® ““ in which innumerable persons were buried, whose
names are not given,” a voice came from heaven bidding him depart
for Ireland, and assist S. Patrick in his missionary labours.® >~

The Life, or Homily, in the Cambro-British Saints says that after
having lived some time in a cave called Edilu, reading the canonical

1 Cambro-British Saints, p. 101 ; Brev. Léon, in Y Cymmrodor, xv, p. 97.

2 Cambro-British Saints, p. 99; c¢f. K. Meyer’s correction of errors, Y Cym-
mrodor, xiii, p. 84. But the correction is defective.

3 “ Deinde S. Servanus venit ad Icteum mare, quod distat inter Angliam
et Franciam.” ~ Vita S. Servani, Pinkerton’s Lives of the Scottish Saints, ed.
Metcalfe, ii, p. 123.

4 Three Ivish Glossaries, by W. S. (Stokes), London, 1862, pp. xlviii-ix, 29.
Mr. Egerton Phillimore, in a note in Y Cymmrodor, xi, p. 9o, accepts Dinn Tradui
(=the Welsh Dindraethwy) as in Cornwall. It is not, however, clear in the
context that it was so. It is the Cair Draitou of the Nennian Catalogiié¢ of Cities
(Ibid., ix, p. 183).

§ Cambro-British Saints, p. 100.

¢ Brev. Léon, in Y Cymmrodor, Xv, p. 97.
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lessons in the Old and New Testaments, he went to Ireland, Patrick
having preceded him ; that they met and conversed and decided to
separate, one going to the left, the other to the right, * and Carantocus
went to the right, but Patricius to the left, and decided to meet one
another once in the year.” FEach had numerous clergy with him,
“vel unusquisque pariter pretjum-quod requireret sanitatem.” !

The author of the Homily goes on to say that Carannog went to
Ireland thirty years before the birth of S. David.

The sphere of his labours was ‘ Legen,” i.e., Leinster, “ and the
works of the blessed Cernach (the Irish form of his name) ar€ read in
Ireland, throughout the country, as the miracles of the blessed apostle
Peter are read at Rome.”

The Life in the Léon Breviary and the fragment at the end of the
Homily say nothing about Carannog having been associated with
S. Patrick. Moreover, he is not once mentioned in the Lives of
S. Patrick, of any antiquity, not even in the Tripartite Life. Nor
is he named in the lists of the household and fellow workers with
Patrick. This seems conclusive evidence that Carannog did not
co-operate with the Apostle as is represented in the Homily.

There is, however, an Irish tradition that Carannog, whom they
call Cairnech, was one of the three bishops who assisted in the com-
pilation of the Senchus Mér, the other two being Patrick and Benignus.
The story is to the effect that the people of Ireland, having embraced
Christianity, the old laws no longer suited the new condition of affairs.
Accordingly, Laoghaire, the high King, who was not himself a convert,
and remained a pagan to his dying day, agreed to have the code
revised by a commission of nine, three were to be kings, three Brehons
or lawyers, and three Christian missionaries.

The laws, bearing the title of Senchus Mér, or ““ Great Antiquity,”
were after the revision known as Casn Patreuc (‘‘ Patrick’s Law ”’), and
Noi-fis (““ the Knowledge of Nine’’). But noneof the biographers of
Patrick mention the circumstance, and it is most improbable that
at such an early date the revision and adaptation should have been
‘made. The authorities are as follows :—

The earliest is this—

Laeghaire, Corc, Daire the hardy,
Patrick, Benen, Cairnech the just,

Rossa, Dubhthach, Ferghus, with science,
These were the nine pillars of the Senchus Moér.2

* Cambro-British Saints, p. 97.
2 Ancient Laws of Ireland, 1865, i, preface xiii, p. 5. The earliest authority for
this is Cormac’s Glossary, under the word Nés. Cormac was slain in 9o3.
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The order is given differently elsewhere, Patrick and Benen and
Cairnech, three bishops, being placed first.!

In the Commentary on the Senchus M6ér it is stated expressly that
it was Cairnech of Tuilen who took part in the composition. ‘‘ Pat-
rick and Benen, and Cairnech who is (buried) at Tuilen (Dulane), were
they who wrote it in a chalk-book to preserve it for the men of
iEire.’’ 2

In the Lebkar na B Uidre is the story of Laoghaire’s conversion and
death, that may be thus condensed :—*‘ There was a folk-mote of the
men of-Tara in the time of Laoghaire, son of Niall. Now it is for this
cause that he held the folk-mote, concerning the Faith. When the
fulness of the Faith was settled with the men of Ireland, and when
Patrick had preached the Gospel to them (and) Laoghaire with his
Druids was vanquished in miracles and in mighty marvels wrought
by Patrick before the men of Erin, then it was that Laoghaire believed
and submitted to Patrick’s full desire.

‘“ Proclamation was made by Laoghaire that the choice of the
princes of the men of Erin should come into one place to hold a con-
ference concerning the fitness of their usage and their justice.”

Then follows some fabulous matter, and the test is put to Patrick
to see whether Patrick’s conduct accorded with his teaching. The
conversion of Laoghaire is contradicted by the best authorities.

“So then the men of every art in Erin were gathered together, and
each showed forth his crafts before Patrick and before the men of
Ireland. So then their evil laws were cast forth and the proper ones
were arranged.

‘“ Nine eminent persons were engaged in the arrangement, to wit,
of the Church, Patrick and Benen and Cairnech, that is, three
bishops ; Laoghaire, son of Niall, King of Ireland, Daire, King of
Ulster, and Corc, son of Lugaidh, King of Munster, the three kings;
Dubhthach Maccu Lugair, and Fergus the Poet, and Ros son of
Trichem, a sage in the language of the Feni.” 3

In the Annals of the Four Masters the date of the compilation is
given as A.D. 438. ““ These were the nine supporting props by whom
this (work) was done :—Laoghaire, Corc, and Daire—the three kings ;
Patrick and Benen and Cairnech—the three saints ; Ross, Dubhthach
and Feargus—the three antiquaries.”

The Annals were carried on to 1172, and were compiled by the
O’Clerys in the beginning of the seventeenth century. They drew

1 Ancient Laws of Ireland, 1865, p. 17. SONBEd P 315
3 Stokes, Tripartite Life, ii, pp. 562 et seq. Extract from the Lebhar na k'Uidre.
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the information employed in the compilation from the above quoted
authorities, and added the date arbitrarily.

When we come to look at the statement, we see that it is open to
the gravest suspicion.

1. It is incredible that Carannog or Cairnech should have been
associated with Patrick in so important a work, and that he should
not be so much as named as an associate of Patrick in any of the
most reliable Lives of S. Patrick.

2. It is hardly to be conceived that if S. Patrick had undertaken
a work of such supreme importance, the Lives should be silent on the
matter. :

3. Norisit credible that at so early a date as the reign of Laoghaire
the necessity for the revision of the laws, and their adaptation to the
alteration in the religion of the people, should have become an urgent
necessity.

4. Corc can hardly have been alive at the time. Corc was the
grandfather of Aengus MacNadfraich, King of Munster, who was
converted by S. Patrick, and fell in battle 489. Some authorities
throw Corc back to 336-366, but this is certainly too early. The
more probable date of his death was 430, which is incompatible with
the statement that the Senchus Mér was drawn up in 438.

The oldest authority for the succession of the kings of Munster is
the Seaan Moér, a poem by O’Dubhagain, who died in 1372 ; in that
he gives the order of the kings and the length of their reigns, from
Oilioll Olum who died in 234, and this gives 399 as the date of Corc’s
accession and 429 as that of his death.

The next authority is the list in the Book of Ballymote, compiled in
1391, which agrees with the above except in the matter of one year, and
brings Corc’s death to 430.

5. The earliest authority for the compilation, with the introduction
of the name of Cairnech, is something like 450 years after it is supposed
to have been made.:

6. It is extremely doubtful whether Cairnech, supposing him to
have been son of Ceredig, to make him contemporary with S. Patrick,
would have been a persona grata in Ireland, after Ceredig had incurred
the resentment of the Irish by his raids and ill-treatment of his
captives, as shown by Patrick’s letter to Coroticus; if we may take
Coroticus to be Ceredig.

1 In Cormac’s Glossary, ed. W. Stokes, London, 1862, pp. 31-2; Tripartite
Life, Append. ii, p. 570. Mr. O’Curry strives to sustain the tradition in his
Lectures on the Mannevs and Customs of the Ancient Ivish, London, 1873, ii,
pp. 66-8.
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We come now to a series of incidents narrated in the Léon Breviary,
of which no trace is found in the Homily or the fragment that follows it.

Whilst Carannog was in Ireland, he encountered a King called
Dulcemius, by whom Dunlang, King of Leinster (died at end of fifth
century) is probably meant. Dulcemius had a tree that Carannog
coveted, and he asked the King for it, and was refused. However,
as the tree was shortly after blown down, it was granted to him, and
he cut it up into four ““ bases.” He had engaged a famous architect
to build his church for him, and now he got across with the man over
the wood. ]

Some religious personages having visited Carannog, as he was
short of firewood and the weather was chilly, he chopped off a portion
of one of the bases for his hearth. The architect was furious, and
vowed that he would throw up the job. The legend says that the
base was miraculously restored. The truth probably was that the
architect was mollified and consented to make shift with the mutilated
block.

At this time there lived in Ireland a saint named Tenenan, who
was a leper. No saint of the name is known in Irish hagiology, but
there were, however, several of the name of Ternoc, of which Tenenan
is but another form. And we find the disciple of Carannog called
Ternoc as well as Tenenan.

- When Tenenan came to visit Carannog, the latter prepared for him
a hot bath. Tenenan declined it.

‘“ Unless you tub,” said Carannog, “ you shall not enter into eternal
lifelz it

Accordingly Tenenan got into the water, whereupon Carannog
began to scour him, and he was healed of his cutaneous disorder.?

Then said Tenenan, “ You have served me a scurvy trick. It’s
conceited I shall be with my lovely skin.”

“Nay,” replied Carannog, ““ you will be a beauty, and your skin
will no longer present a disgusting appearance.” 3

When Tenenan left the bath, ““ Now it is your turn, in with you,”
said he. Whether he had changed the water we are not informed.
Carannog declined to enter, but was finally persuaded to do so. And
it was so, that Carannog wore seven iron belts round his body, next

1 “ Si non intraveris, non vives in vita eterna.”

2 “Cum hoc audisset Tenenanus coactus intravit balneum : accedebat
iterum Karadocus ut lavaret eum. Animadvertens igitur Tenenanus quoniam
ad se abluendum accederet dixit: Non lavabis me in eternum. Respondit
Karadocus: Nec tu vives in eternum si non lavero te.”

3 “ Nequaquam, ille ait : sed pulchrior eris, et tua caro non erit fetida.”
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his skin, and as he stepped into the bath, and Tenenan touched him,
they snapped and fell off.

“ Now you have played me a scurvy trick,” said Carannog ; ‘ how-
ever, these bands can be easily rivetted again.”

“Not if all the blacksmiths were to try, would they succeed,”
retorted Tenenan.

After this they praised God, and made fellowship.?

Such is the story in the Léon Breviary. It ends abruptly there.
But Albert le Grand, in his Life of S. Tenenan, has a very different
version of the relations of Carannog and Tenenan. According to
him, and he derived his information from the lost Breviary or Legend-
arium of Folgoét, Tenenan was the son of an Irish king named Tinidor,
and he was placed at an early age with ‘ Caradocus or Carantec,”
and was educated by him till he reached the age of thirteen, when
he returned to his parents, and was sent by them to the Court of the
Kingin London!! There he was so handsome that the young ladies
fell in love with him.

But having resolved on abandoning the world, he prayed to God,
and in answer to his prayer became a leper. The ladies now turned
their eyes from him in disgust, and in this condition he returned
to his parents. They were greatly distressed, and sent him to S.
Carannog, who put him in a bath and healed him. After that, Tenenan
abjured the pleasures of life, and practised extraordinary austerities.

An angel appeared to him, and bade him quit Ireland. So he
went again to Carannog, and consulted him about the matter, and
by the advice of his old master, departed along with S. Senan and
S. Ciaran for Armorica, and disembarked in the estuary of the Elorn,
settled near Landerneau (Lann-Ternoc), and afterwards founded
another church at Plebennec.
~ On the death of S. Goulven, he was raised to the episcopal throne
of Léon, and died about 623.

In the Léon Breviary Tenenan is not a disciple, but a contemporary
saint. “ Inillis diebus quidam Sanctus in Hybernia nomine Tenenanus,
et hic erat leprosus.”

After Carannog had laboured hard in Ireland, healing many thousands
of their maladies, and performing prodigies innumerable, he returned
to his native land, and there retired *“ to his cave ” in Ceredigion, and
founded the Church of Llangranog. .

! *“Habebat enim Karadocus septem cingula ferrea circa se, et mox ubi
tetigit ea Tenenanus fracta sunt omnia.”

? “ Et post hec verba laudaverunt deum et facta est pax et unitas inter
ipsos.” .
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That Carannog was for a while in Ireland, though not at the time of
Patrick, appears from his having been regarded as patron of Dulane
in the county of Meath, where are the remains of his very rude and
primitive church, composed of huge blocks of stone. There he seems
to have left a colony of British monks.

In one of the topographical poems of O’Dubhagain, written in the
fourteenth century, there is an allusion to three septs that occupied
the neighbourhood of Dulane; one of these was the sept of ““the Britons
of lasting fame.” '

Early these men quaff their metheglin,
They are the congregation of Cairnech.!

After having remained awhile at Llangranog, he again threw his
portable altar into the sea, and returned to his old foundation of Carrov,
near the mouth of the Guellit, at which last point the altar was
washed up.

The name of this stream, which enters the Bristol Channel a mile
east of Watchet, is still preserved in that of Williton village and parish,
close to its mouth, and in Willet Ford and Willet, close to its source.?
The mouth of the Willet brook is four miles east of Carhampton,
and about six miles east of Marsh Farm, where the chapel of S.
Carantock anciently stood, and which was there before the erection
of the parish church. When Carannog came to Cornwall and founded
there the important church that now bears his name, and which was
formerly provided with canons, we do not know. But Carhampton
would seem to have been his principal monastic settlement.

Here he remained till a voice came from heaven calling him to depart
to hisrest. The Homily makes great confusion here. “ A voice came
to him from heaven, and bade him go into exile, and leave his family

. and he alone went to the island Hibernia, and was buried on
the 17th Cal. June in-his illustrious city, the best of all his cities,
which is called the city of Chernach. And he departed in peace,
and left his peace behind and found it.”

His city of Chernach is not Dulane but Carhampton in Somerset or
Crantock in Cornwall, and his departure for Ireland took place at an
earlier period. That he went at one time to Armorica can hardly be
disputed in face of the distinct traces he has left there. But when he
was there we do not know.

Carhampton is a mile and a half from Dunster. The church passed

1 Ivish Archeological and Celtic Soc., 1862, pp. 14-15.
2 See Birch, Car?. Sax., iii, p. 76, and Mr. Phillimore’s identification in the note
on Llangranog in Owen’s Pembrokeshire, pt. iv.
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into the possession of Bath Abbey, where his festival was observed on
May 16.1

The only hint we have as to the period when Carannog was in Brittany
is found in the Life of S. Guenael. This latter had been in Britain,
and returned to Armorica laden with books, and attended by forty
disciples ; when one of the first things he did on landing was to pay
avisit to S. Carannog ; and the date of the return of Guenael can be
determined pretty nearly as occurring in 546.

S. Carannog has an extended cult in Brittany. A parish in Finistére
bears his name, Carantec. And his name recurs in Tregarantec
(Tref-Carantoc) in Léon, of which his disciple Tenenan is patron.

The Tréguier MS. Breviary of the fifteenth century gives him, as
S. Caranaucus, on May 16. But he has been confounded with
Caradec (Carthagh), patron of a church near Loudéac, and of S.
Caradec Priziac and S. Careuc.

Caradocus, in Irish Carthagh, is derived from the past participle,
whereas Carantocus or Carannog is from the present participle.
Carthagh, disciple of S. Ciaran, may have been in Brittany and
have made a foundation there. The Léon Breviary of 1516 calls
him Caradocus, but gives lections from the Life of Carantocus. The
lections in this breviary make Caradocus the son of Ceredig, and the
legend begins precisely like that portion of the Vita S. Carantoci
tacked on at the end of the Life in the Cotion MS. Vesp. A. xiv.

The commemoration of S, Caradoc is on May 16, the day of S. Caran-
nog. We can hardly allow that the Caradec of Caradec Priziac and
Caradec Loudéac and of S. Careuc, is Carantoc, but we may attribute
to him the church of S. Carné, near Dinan.

The day of S. Carannog in Wales is May 16. In the Calendar in
Allwydd Paradwys (1670) and the Demetian Calendar it is given
on May 15, and in that in Peniarth MS. 187 on May 17, but in his
Life in Cotfon MS. Vesp. A. xiv, in the Iolo MSS. Calendar, the
Prymer of 1633, and a number of the Almanacks of the eighteenth
century, as May 16. The fair at Llangranog was on the last-
named day, Old Style, and still is on the 27th, New Style.
As already said, it occurs on the same day in the Bath Calen-
dar, also in the Exeter Legendarium, and in the Altemps Martyrology
of the thirteenth century. Also in Capgrave’s Nova Legenda Anglice,
and in Whytford. ““In Yreland the feest of Saynt Carantoke y*. is
also called Saynt Cernach, a kygs sone of Englonde applyed al unto
vertue from youth, and whan his fader waxed aged he wolde have

! Bath Calendar, circa 1383 ; Brit. Mus. Add. MS. 10,628. * Caranton . . .
vocatur a Carantoco Britanno.” Camden, Britannia, 1594, p. 156.
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resygned his crowne unto hym as his heyre, he than stale away pryvely
and changed clothynge with a poore beggar. And therein made his
prayer unto our lorde to guyde and directe hym wheder he wolde,
forthw® came an afigell in lykeness of a dove and ledde hym unto a
solytary place where he lyvedin grete holynes, after the same anigell
in ye same lykenes brought hym in to yrelond to visyte saynt Patryke,
and from thens unto many places where ever he did grete myracles,
and moche edifyed the fayth wherin he dyed full blessedly.”

On May 16, in the Félire of Oengus he is entered as ‘‘ Cairnech the
mighty ”’; and a gloss adds “ Cairnech of Tulén near Kells, and of
the Britons of Cornwall was he.”

On the same day, in the Martyrologies of Tallagh, O’Gorman and
Donegal ; also in the Drummond Calendar.

Under the name of S. Carnac, Cairnech had a chapel in Scotland, in
the’ Haugh of Laithers, in the parish of Turriff, but this certainly per-
tains to a namesake and not to this Cairnech. Heis, as already stated,
in the fifteenth century Missal of Tréguier, on May 16, as Caranauc,
but as Caradoc in the Vannes Missal of 1530, the Vannes Breviary
of 1586, the Léon Breviary of 1516, and the Léon Missal of 1526.

The village feast at Crantock in Cornwall is on May 16. His Holy
Well there is in the midst of the village. The church has been lately
(1902) restored, and his legend has been represented in the nave
windows and in the carving of the stalls.

According to the Vita in Rees, Ceredigion (now Cardiganshire) was
Carannog’s ““ sua propria regio.”” Ogof Granog, his cave, at Llangranog,
to which he returned from Ireland, is in the rock above the church, about
200 yards from the village ;1 and above the little harbour or creek below
the village there is a rock, resembling a large chair, which is called Eis-
teddfa Granog. At Llangranog is also a Holy Well, Ffynnon Fair,
later placed under the invocation of Our Lady, but almost certainly
earlier named after S. Carannog, as close by it is Lletty Carannog,
S. Carannog’s lodging. This is an ancient cottage, the property of
the Vicar for the time being, and was at one time the Vicarage. There
was formerly a Capel Cranog in the parish of S. Dogmael’s, Pembroke-
shire, which is described as a pilgrimage chapel.2  On the borders of
the same county, at Egremont, a stone was discovered a few years
ago with the name Carantacus on it.?

In art Carannog should be represented with a wood pigeon carrying
a shaving at his side.

1 It is traditionally believed to be a cave of about three miles long, its other
end appearing as a cave at Cwm Tydi to the north.
* Owen, Pembrokeshire, i, p. 509. 3 Avch. Camb., 1889, pp.- 306, 3II.
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In Brittany his statues show him with a child beside him, intended
for his disciple Tenenan. :

His death took place probably about the middle of the sixth century.

Carannog must be clearly distinguished from another Saint also
known as Cairnech, in Ireland, but who was one of a less amiable and
pious character. See under S. CAIRNECH. Carannog is invoked in the
tenth century Litany published by Mabillon as Carnache.!

Cunedda Wledig.

|
Ceredig =Meleri,
da. Brychan.

| |
Corun. Cedig. Sant=
=Non, da. Cynyr
of Caer Gawch.

J I | I |
S. Carannog. S. Tyssul. S.Pedyr. S.Tydiwg. S.Ceneu S. David.
and others.

S. CARANTOC, see S. CARANNOG.

S. CARON, see S. CIARAN.

SS. CARWED and CARWYD.

WE couple these two names together because they have been sup-
posed to represent one person. They are, however, quite distinct.

Carwyd’s claim to sainthood rests on one document only, which is
printed in the Iolo MSS.,2 and had been transcribed, and possibly
compiled, in 1670. There Carwyd is said to have been son of Pabo
Post Prydyn, and brother of SS. Dunawd and Sawyl Benuchel (or
rather Benisel). They were saints or monks of Bangor on Dee.
His name is not given as a son of Pabo in the Old-Welsh genealogies
in Harleian MS. 3859, but a Kerwyd, which would be Cerwydd to-day,
occurs in Bonedd Gwyr y Gogledd in Pentarth MS. 45 (late thirteenth

1 Revue Celtique, xi, p. 140. EIRMNOLE
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century).! We have here again two forms which cannot philologically
be equated.

There was a hermit, named Carwed, as we learn from two late
sixteenth century MSS.,2 who lived in the time of Gwaithfoed, Broch-
wel Ysgythrog, and Ethelbert, King of Kent (died 616). Gwaithfoed,
with a band of Welshmen, had gone on a plundering expedition into
Gwent, and on his way home ‘“ he encountered and killed thirteen
highwaymen at Carneddau, near Bwlch y Clawdd Du; also Garwed
(or Carwed), a murderous hermit, and the hermit’s wife (who had
assumed ‘ the guise of a nun’), as well as a pack of wolves on his
way to Strata Florida.”” In the tradition found at Strata Florida by
Dr. John David Rhys, Carwed is called Garwed, and appears as a cawr,
or giant.?

Carwed was formerly a fairly common man’s name. It occurs in
Carwed Fynydd, the name of a township of the parish of Llannefydd,
Denbighshire, as the father of Bach, and in the ‘Tuderius ap Kar-
wet,” mentioned in a Charter (12 Edward I) printed in Dugdale.*

S. CASWALLON LAWHIR, see S. CADWALLON
LAWHIR

S. CATHAN, or CATHEN, Confessor

THIs Saint was a son of Cawrdaf ab Caradog Freichfras, and brother
of S. Medrod.® His mother is said to have been Peryfferen, daughter
of Lleuddun Luyddog, of Dinas Eiddyn (Edinburgh). By her is
meant Beren or Perfferen the mother of S. Beuno by Bugi. But this
must be a mistake.

Cathen is the patron of Llangathen, in Carmarthenshire ; and the
commote of Catheiniog (in Cantref Mawr), anciently Cetheinauc and
Cethinauc, in which the parish lies, may or may not have been called
after him. There is a brook there also called Cathan. But the
names might quite as probably be derived from Cathen, son of Cloten,
a descendant of Aircol, son of Triphun, and King of Dyfed, mentioned

! Skene, Four Ancient Books, ii, p. 455.

* J. Gwenogvryn Evans, Report on Welsh MSS., ii, p. 350; i, p. 878.
3 Ibid., i, p. 724 ; cf. the Garwedd, a tributary of the Neath.

¢ Monasticon, 1823, v, p. 674.

8 Iolo MSS., pp. 107, 123 ; Myv. Arch., p. 420.
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in the Old-Welsh (tenth century) genealogies in Harleian MS. 3859,
wherein we have also a Caten, son of Caurtam,! which looks very like
the original of the late pedigree given above. In the place-names
of Deheubarth we have the Cathan, near Pant-y-ffynnon Station,
Cwm Cathan, N.W. of Pencader Junction, and Cwm Cathen, near
Trimsaran, Pembrey. Gwaen and Gwerglodd Gathan are mentioned
in the Survey of the Lordship of Ruthin (1737).

Cathen’s festival does not occur in any early Welsh calendar, but
Rees? gives it as May 17, on which day Catan or Cathan, a bishop in
Bute during the sixth or seventh century, who had his cell at Kil-
cathan or Kilchattan, is also commemorated in the Scottish calendars.
There was an Irish saint of the name, commemorated on February I,
and the two are generally confounded, but the pedigree of neither
agrees with that of the Welsh saint.

In a Welsh ode the protection of Cathen is invoked for Henry VII.?

S. CATHMAIL, or CATWG, see S. CADOC.

S. CAW, King, Confessor.

Caw was the son of Geraint ab Erbin, prince of Devon and Cornwall.
He is variously called Caw of Prydyn, that is Pictland, Lord of Cwm
Cawlwyd ¢in Prydyn, and Caw of Twr Celyn in Anglesey.

There is a singular legend in the Life of S. Cadoc. One day whilst
Cadoc was digging about his monastery in Scotland (Cambuslang,
of which the church is dedicated to S. Cadoc) he ‘ hit upon a
collar bone of some ancient hero, of incredible size.”” It turned out to
be Caw’s, who made his appearance to Cadoc and his men as “ an
immense giant,” and, throwing himself at the saint’s feet, earnestly
besought him that he would not ‘ permit his miserable soul, hitherto
suffering dreadful punishment in hell, to go there again.” In reply
to Cadoc’s demands who he was and what his history, he said that he
was called Cau,  with the surname Pritdin (Prydyn) or Caur (giant),”

L Y Cymmrodor, ix, pp. 171, 175 ; Owen’s Pembrokeshive, ii. pp. 224, 407.

2 Welsh Saints, p. 280. 3 Tolo MSS., p. 314.

* His name occurs as Caw Cawllog or Cowllog in folo MSS., p. 142, and Myuv.
Arch., p. 421. There is a Cwm Cowlwyd or Cowlyd, well known for its lake, near
Capel Curig. The Owl of Cwm Cawlwyd, one of the ancient creatures in the Tale
of Culhwch and Olwen, belonged toit. Cwm Cawlyd is also the name of a hamlet
in the parish of Llandeilo Fawr,
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that he had been a king ‘ beyond the mountain Bannauc,” and that
he and his robber-band were killed at this spot whilst on a plundering
expedition. Since then they had been ‘‘ tormented in the devouring
flames of hell.” Cadoc promised him his request, as well as longer
life in this world, on his ““ performing due satisfaction for his sins ”’ ;
and he there and then set to to help the saint’s diggers.! The resusci-
tation of a dead giant occurs in other legends, as in that of S. Patrick
and that of S. Brendan.

The “mountain Bannawg " is believed by Skene to be the range called
the Cathkin hills, in the parish of Carmunnock, which terminates in
Renfrewshire, and the modern county of Renfrew was probably the
seat of Caw.? In the Life of Gildas by the Monk of Ruys Gildas is
said to have been the son of Caunus, ‘“a most noble and Catholic
man,” who bore rule in Arecluda,® that is, a district on the Clyde, to
which description that county answers. The Life by Caradog of
Llancarfan ¢ calls him Nau, no doubt a clerical error for Cau, and
describes him as ‘‘ King of Scotia, and the noblest of the Kings of the
North.”

There are several lists of Caw’s children, which differ considerably
in the number assigned to him. The Monk of Ruys says that he was
the father of, besides Gildas, Cuillus (who succeeded his father to the
throne), Mailocus, Egreas (Eugrad), Alleccus (Gallgo), and a daughter
Peteona (Peithien). According to Caradog of Llancarfan he was
the father of twenty-four sons, ‘‘ victorious warriors,” but he does
not give their names, beyond saying that his eldest son was Hueil,
to be identified with the Monk of Ruys’ Cuillus.

There is a list of twenty-one children given in the Mabinogion tale of
Culhwch and Olwen, nearly all of whom occur among Arthur’s warriors.
They are Angawd, Ardwyat, Kalcas, Kelin, Koch, Konnyn, Kynwas,
Dirmyc, Ergyryat, Etmic, Gildas, Gwennabwy (daughter), Gwarthegyt,
Gwyngat, Hueil, Iustic, Llwybyr, Mabsant, Meilic, Neb, and Ouan,
some of which names are obviously the mere outcome of the fun and
fancy of the story-teller. The only ones that are mentioned in any
of the other Mabinogion tales are Gildas and Gwarthegyt.

1 Cambro-British Saints, pp. 56-8.

2 Skene, Four Ancient Books of Wales, i, pp. 173—4; Forbes, Kalendars of
Scottish Saints, p. 293 ; Y Cymmerodor, xi, pp. 75, 81. The Bannawg is mentioned
also in Gorchan Maelderw (Skene, 7bid., ii, p. 101).

3 Ed. Hugh Williams, p. 322. We should probably read the name here as Caun-~
us, that is, Caw. Itoccursin the Cavo of the Llanfor stone (Merionethshire). His
name appears also, through some confusion, as Cado (Mabinogion, Oxford ed.,
p- 123, Jesus Coll. MS. 20), and Cadw (Myv. Avch., p. 416 ; Cambro-British Saints,
p. 268).

4 Ed. Hugh Williams, p. 394.
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In the Tolo MSS.! are printed eight lists of his children, which vary
from ten to twenty-one in the number given. The following is an alpha-
betical list of the sons—Afarwy, Afrogwy (probably the same as Afarwy),
Aidan y Coed Aur or Aeddan, Aneuryn (Auryn, Euryn) y Coed Aur
(the same as Gildas), Annef or Ane, Bangawr (once; possibly the
Angawd of Culhwch and the Angar of Iolo MSS., p. 256), Blenwyd,
Caffo, Caian, Ceidio, Celyn Moel (once ; the Kelin of Culhwch), Cennydd
(a son of Gildas, possibly the Konnyn of Culhwch), Cewydd, Cilydd,
Cof or Coff, Cyhelyn Fardd or Foel (possibly the same as Celyn Moel),
Cynddilig (a son of Nwython), Cyngan Foel (once ; possibly Cyngar),
Cyngar, Cynwrig, Dirinic (the Dirmyc of Culhwch), Eigrawn, Eugrad,
Gallgo, Garhaij or Garrai (more correctly Gwrhai or Gwrai), Gildas y
Coed Aur (the same as Aneuryn), Gwrddelw, Gwrddyly, Gwrthili or
Gwrddwdw (no doubt four forms of the same name, Gwrddilig), Gwydion
{once), Huail, Idwal (once), Maelog (once Maelon), Peirio, Samson, and
Ustig (the Iustic of Culhwch). The daughters were Cain, Caen, Canna
or Cannau (apparently all representing one name, but the first two
also entered as sons), Cywyllog or Cywellog, Gwenabwy or Gwenafwy,
and Peithien, Peithini or Peillan.

Late Welsh tradition affirms that Caw was dispossessed of his terri-
tory in the North by the Gwyddyl Ffichti or Pictish Goidels, and that
he and his family found asylum in Wales. Maelgwn Gwynedd gave
him the lands of Twr Celyn in North-east Anglesey, probably com-
mensurate with the present-day rural deanery of the name. We are
told that ‘“ his mother hailed from that place, and that he had claim
and right to land there.” 2 Who his mother was the genealogies do
not tell us. Some of his children remained in North Wales and became
““ saints " in the so-called  Bangors’’ there, whilst others were granted
lands, we are told, by King Arthur in South Wales, and became also
‘““saints” in the ‘“Bangors” of Catwg, Illtyd, and Teilo. Caw himself
and his brothers Cado, Cyngar, Selyf, and Iestyn are said to have been
“saints’ of Catwg’s ‘“Bangor” at Llancarfan.® He is also credited *
with having founded the church of Llangewydd (S. Cewydd, his son),
since removed to Laleston (now S. David), in Glamorganshire.

Caw is best known as the ancestor of one of the Three Saintly
Tribes, but his title to saintship rests on quite late documents. In
the well known Triad of the “ Three Families (or Stocks) of the Saints
of Britain,” as given in the late and made-up “ Third Series of Triads,”’®
his family has been deliberately replaced by that of the mythical

1 Pp. 109, 116-7, 136-7, 142-3. 2 Iolo MSS., p. 147.

3 Ibid., p. 116 ; Myv. Arch., Pp. 421, 423. 4 Tolo MSS., p. 220.
5 Myv. Avch., p. 402.
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Bran Fendigaid, by those Glamorgan antiquaries interested in bol-
stering up the Lucius fiction.
Among the ‘“ Sayings of the Wise " occurs the following :—!

Hast thou heard the saying of Caw ?
‘*“ Though it is easy to un-freeze frost,
It is not easy to un-sort sort.”

(Cyt bai hawdd datrewi rhew,

Bydd anhawdd datrywiaw rhyw.)

S. CAWRDAF, King, Confessor

CAWRDAF was the son of Caradog Freichfras—the Carados Brebras
of romance—by the beautiful Tegau Eurfron, daughter of Nudd
Hael. He was brother of SS. Cadfarch, Maethlu, and Tangwn, and
father of SS. Cathan and Medrod. For some time he wasa ‘““saint”
at Llantwit.2 2 .

We are told that ‘“ the Cér of Cawrdaf in Glamorgan was for 300
saints,” and that ‘“ Einion ab Collwyn founded Llantrisant after
Llangawrdaf was burnt.” 3 The ruins of this religious house are
to be seen about a mile and a half south of Llantrisant, on a pretty
situation above Miskin Manor. It is also called Gelli Gawrdaf (his
Grove).

He is now generally, and has been for some time, accounted the
patron of Abererch, in Carnarvonshire, as also sometimes of Llangoed
in Anglesey, either solely or conjointly with his brother Tangwn.*
In the older saintly genealogies, however, he is never associated with
either, nor even included as a saint. There is a Ffynnon Gawrdaf at
Abererch, and on a small eminence about a quarter of a mile from
the church, is a large boulder stone, with a flat piece cut out of it,
called Cadair Gawrdaf, his chair or seat. Angharad Llwyd, in her
History of Anglesey,® says that Llangoed is dedicated to ““S. Cowrda,
one of the ancient Colidei, who was buried here.” At Bron Llan-
gowrda in Cardiganshire are the remains of a chapel.® Gallt Cawrdaf

1 Tolo MSS., p. 254.

* Ibid., pp. 102, 123. Cawrdaf was anciently written Caurtam (Y Cymm-
rodor, ix, pp. 175, 180).

3 Ibid., pp. 151, 221. These late documents must be taken at their value.

¢ In Browne Willis, Survey of Bangor, pp. 273, 282, both are given as dedicated
to Cawrdaf.

5 P. 284. ¢ Lewis Morris, Celtic Remains, p. 103.



96 Lives of the British Saints

(his wood) is mentioned as being in Gwent,! but by it is no doubt
intended Gelli Gawrdaf. Leland ([#in., iv, fo. 60) calls it Galthe
Caurde.

CADAIR GAWRDAF.

His name not infrequently occurs as Cowrda, but it is very doubtful
whether Cwrda and Gwrda are corruptions of Cawrdaf, especially the
latter. The church of Jordanston, Pembrokeshire, is usually given
as dedicated to a S. Cwrda, evolved, as it would appear, from Tre
Iwrdan, the Welsh form of the parish-name. Llanwrda in Carmar-
thenshire is sometimes ascribed to S. Cawrdaf, but the form postulates
Gwrda, probably for Gwrdaf. The Llanwrda wakes were November
12 (All Saints’ Day, O.S.),2 on the first Monday after which, until
recently, a fair was held.

The Festival of S. Cawrdaf occurs on December 5 in the Calendars
in Peniarth MSS. 172, 186 and 187, Llanstephan MS. 117, the Iolo
MSS. (where he is styled Bishop), the Welsh Prymersof 1618 and 1633,
Allwydd Paradwys, 1670 (where he is called Gwrda), and in a number
of eighteenth century Welsh Almanacks. In the Calendars in Addi-
tional MS. 14,882, and Peniarth MS. 219, Cowrda stands against
February 21.

The following extract, referring to Abererch, occurs in the Archec-
logia Cambrensis for 1856:3 “ A curious custom prevailed in this

1 Iolo MSS., p. 102. 2 Rees, Welsh Saints, p. 270. 3 Pp. 305-6.
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parish within the memory of persons still alive. On the eve of S.
Cawrdaf’s festival all the children brought into the church a number
of candles, which they had been making themselves, or had bought—
one candle for each membéf of their family in whom they were parti-
cularly interested, and which they had called after their names. They
knelt down, lighted them, and muttered any prayer they recollected
as long as the candles continued burning ; but, according as the candles
became extinguished one after the other, they supposed that the
person whose name was attached to the candle that burnt out first would
certainly die first ; and so on in the order of successive extinctions.”

The Triads state that Cawrdaf was one of the three ‘“ chief or prime
ministers (Cynweisiaid) of the Isle of Britain.”* They were so called
on account of their great influence ; whenever they went to battle
the whole population of the country to a man followed them of their
own accord. In the Tale of the Dream of Rhonabwy he is mentioned
among the ““ counsellors ”’ of King Arthur.

The following occurs among the ‘“ Sayings of the Wise-”’ :—2

Hast thou heard the saying of Cawrdaf,

Son of Caradog Freichfras, the chieftain ?

‘“ Let the work of the cautious hand prosper.”
(Llwyddid gorchwyl llaw araf.)

Hywel Rheinallt, in the fifteenth century, wrote a poem, Cywydd
Cowrda Sant, in honour of him.® It contains a few, but vague, allu-
sions to his legend. He is associated with Abererch, otherwise Llan
Gawrda, of which the writer evidently regarded him as patron. Here,
it would seem, was his shrine, and also his statue, with “ his book and
holy bell.” His sanctuary and the boulder stone are referred to, and
‘““ Deiniol and his men *’ are mentioned as having given him land.

Morgan Mwynfawr, King of Morganwg, we are told lived to a great
age, as did also many members of his family. This, it was believed,
was ‘‘in consequence of a benediction bestowed upon him by S.
Cawrdaf.” 4 There were two kings or princes of this district called
Morgan. The first, Morgan ab Athrwys, is possibly the Morcant who
died circa 665. The second, Morgan ab Owen ab Hywel ab Rhys,
known as Morgan Hén, died circa 974, and it was from him that
Morganwg took its name. Evidently the story refers to the latter.

1 Red Book Triads in Oxford Mabinogion, p. 302 ; Skene, Four Ancient Books,
ii, pp. 458—9; Myv. Arch., p. 405. 2 Tolo MSS., p. 253.

3 There are copies of it, e.g.,in the seventeenth century MSS., Jesus College
MS. cxl (=15), Llanstephan MS. 47, Llyfr Hir Llywarch’ Reynolds and also
Cwrtmawr MS. 12, and Panton MS. 42.

4 D. Lloyd Isaac, Siluriana, Newport, Mon., 1859, p. 15.

vOL. II. f
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S. CEDOL

CepoL occurs only in the Myvyrian alphabetical Bonedd,® but
without the customary pedigree. The name is simply entered as
that of the patron of Llangedol, near Bangor, now usually called
Pentir.

The Festival of S. Cedol does not appear in any of the early calendars,
but it is given as All Saints’ Day.2

Cedol as an adjective means munificent, or kind, and Goronwy
Owain in one of his poems has a happy play upon the word in reference
to Cors y Gedol, above Barmouth.

S. CEDWYN, Confessor

CEDWYN was the son of Gwgon Gwron ab Peredur ab Eliffer Gos-
gorddfawr, by Madrun, daughter of Gwrthefyr Fendigaid.® His
mother was at one time also married to Ynyr Gwent, and is reckoned
among the Welsh Saints.

Cedwyn is the patron of Llangedwyn, in Denbighshire. Scrwgan,
the name of one of its two townships, is believed to stand for Esgair
Wgan, the Ridge or Hill of Gwgan, embodying his father’s name.
Lewis Glyn Cothi, in the fifteenth century, invokes Cedwyn in two of
his poems.?

In the Book of Llcm Dadv,> Lann Cetguinn in Ystrad Yw (a commote in
south-east Breconshire) is named among the churches which were conse-
crated by Bishop Herwald (died 1104), but there do not appear to be
any traces of it now. In the same work,® Cum Cetguinn is mentioned
in the boundary of the parish of Wonastow, near Monmouth. Nant
Cedwyn is the name of a brook which runs into the Ely in the parish
of Leckwith, near Cardiff, and Cwm Cedwyn is the woody dell on the -
right bank of the Ely, between Leckwith and Llandough.

.The Cedwyn of Ynys Cedwyn in North Glamorgan, near the junction
of the Twrch with the Tawe, is said to have been a giant.?

! Pp. 422-3. 2 Willis, Bangor, p. 272 ; Cambrian Register, 1818, iii, p. 223.

3 Peniarth MSS. 74 and 73 (sixteenth century) ; Myv. Arch., p. 420 ; ITolo MSS.,
p- 128. His father is mentioned as Gwgawn Gwrawn in the Triads of Arthur
and his Warriors (Peniarth MS. 45) ; cf. also Pentiarth MS. 12, and Myv. Avrch.,
PP- 389, 404. - The late saintly pedigrees give the mame as Gwgon ab Gwron
and Gwgon Megwron.

4 Poetical Works, Oxford, 1837, pp. 30, 96. BSPN2 708 ¢ P.-202;

? Peniarth MS. 118 {late sixteenth century). ]
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S. CEIDIO, or CEIDO

THREE persons of this name are esteemed as saints, but little is
known of any one of them.

I. Ceidio, the son of Caw. His name occurs in two published lists
only of the children of Caw.! He is the tutelar saint of Rhodwydd
Geidio (otherwise simply Ceidio?), a chapel under Llanerchymedd, in
Anglesey. Browne Willis gives November 18 as.the festival.?

II. Ceidio, or Ceido, son of the prince and saint Ynyr Gwent by
Madrun, daughter of Gwrthefyr Fendigaid.* He had two brothers,
Cynheiddon and Iddon, and a sister, Tegiwg, who were also saints.
He is said to have been a saint of Llancarfan.

Ceidio, in the promontory of Lleyn, is under the remarkable isolated
hill of Carn Madryn, which takes its name from Madrun. The local
tradition is that on the burning of the palace of Gwrtheyrn, under
Tre’r Ceiri, Madrun fled with Ceidio, then a child in arms, to the
fortress on Carn Madryn; and that later in life Ceidio founded the
church that bears his name beneath the mountain. In Madryn Hall
is a fine group of statuary representing Madrun flying Wlth her child
in her arms.

He is very probably the Cetiau mentioned in the Life of S. Oudoceus &
as having been among the principal laymen of the Diocese of Llandaff
who, in addition to the clergy, elected that saint to be the successor of
Teilo in the bishopric. ‘‘Sedes Cetiau” occurs in the boundary
of the grant to the Church of Llandaff, made during the episcopate of
Oudoceus, of Ecclesia Guruid,® later Llanirwydd, in Monmouthshire.?
= About half a mile east of Rhayader, in Radnorshire, there is a
barrow, in a field called Cein Ceidio, under which it is supposed that
he has been buried.

The festival at Ceidio, Carnarvonshire, is given in the Cambrian
Register as November 3,8 but as the 6th by Browne Willis.?

1 Jolo MSS., p. 142 ; cf. Myv. Avch., p. 420. .

2 Rhodwydd is not a word of frequent occurrence. It seems to mean “a
stockaded mound,” from what in Ireland and Pembrokeshire is called a rath
(mound), fortified with gwydd (wood). It occurs in the Black Book of Carmar-
then, f. 46b, as rodwit,and in the Book of Llan Ddv, p. 126, in the plu. rotguidoun,
its oldest form. We have it also in Rhodwydd Arderydd, Rhodwydd Forlas
(Myv. Arch., p. 96),and Tommen y Rhodwydd, also known as the Castle of I4l,
erected by Owain. Gwynedd in the parish of Llanarmon yn Ial. See, further,
Loth’s note in the Revue Celtique, Xv, p. 97.

3 Survey of Bangor, p. 279.

4 Peniarth MSS. 16 and 45; Hafod MS. 16; Myv. Arch., pp. 420, 422-3 ;
Cambro-British Saints, pp. 268, 271; Iolo MSS., pp. 101;138.

5 Book of Lian Ddv, p. 132. ¢ Ibid., p. 143. . -7 Myv., Arch., p. 749.

8 Vol. iii, 1818, p. 224. 3 % Survey of Bangor, p. 275.
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I11. Ceidio, son of Arthwys, of the line of Coel. His title to saintship
seems to rest upon one passage only in the Jolo MSS.! He was the
brother of Eliffer Gosgorddfawr, Pabo, and Cynfelyn, and the father
of Gwenddoleu, Nudd, and Cof, three saints of Llantwit.

“The terrible steed of Ceido,” which had “a hoof with bribery
upon it,” is mentioned with other celebrated horses in a poem in the
Book of Taliessin.?

A Citawe, for Citiawe, is invoked in the tenth century Litany pub-
lished by Mabillon, and M. J. Loth supposes that the Welsh Ceidio
is meant. Of the three, probably the brother of Gildas is meant.
In the Cartulary of Quimperlé he is called Kigavus.?

S. CEINDRYCH, Virgin

Tuis Virgin Saint’s name occurs in several of the later lists of Bry-
chan’s children, and her church is said to be at Caer Godolor (once
Caer Golon).* In Peniarth MSS. 75 and 131 she occurs as ““ Ceindeg
ab Caer Godolor.” The only name approaching it in form in the
Cognatio de Brychan is Kerdych or Kerdech, which would now be
Cerddych or Cerddech. The Vespasian version has, ““ Kerdych que
iacet in Thywin in Merioneth,” and the Domitian, ‘ Kerdech apud
Llandegwin.” Inthe Jesus College MS. 20 the entry runs, ¢ Kerdech
yssyd yglan tywi ymeiryonyd.” They connect her with Towyn,
Merionethshire. We have evidently in Ceindrych a misreading of the
“ Keinbreit apud Teraslogur ” of the Domitian version for the ““ Kein
ythrauil ogmor ” of the older (Vespasian) version, ¢.e., S. Cain of
Llangeinor.

Mr. Phillimore thinks Cerdych is perhaps commemorated in Cedris,
on the Dysynni, below Aber Gynolwyn, which was anciently called
Maes Llangedris ; but the change of -¢k to -s seems unexampled.

There was a Ceindrech Benasgell (the Wing-headed), daughter
of Eliffer Gosgorddfawr, whose wife Efrddyl gave birth to triplets—
Gwrgi, Peredur, and Ceindrech ; 5 in the Vespasian Cognatio her name
is spelt Estedich. In the genealogies in Jesus College MS. 20 occurs
a “ Keindrech verch Reiden,” who is given (but the MS. seems here
corrupt and confused) as the mother of Owain ab Macsen Wledig.

1 P, 126. * Skene, Four Ancient Books, ii, p. 176,
3 Revue Celtique, xi, p. 140.

4 Iolo MSS., pp. 111, 120, 140 ; Myv. Arch., pp. 419-2Ce

§ Triads, series i, in Myv. Avch., p. 392.
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S. CEINGAIR, Matron

CEINGAIR was one of the married daughters of Brychan Brycheiniog.
Her name occurs in the Cognatio as Kehingayr and Keyngair, and
she is said to have been the mother of S. Cynidr of Glasbury. Her
husband is not mentioned. In the Jesus College MS. 20 her name is
spelt Kingar. In the late Brychan catalogues it appears under a
variety of corrupt forms, Rhiengar, Rhieingar, Rheingar, Rhiengan,
and Rhieingan. R for K was a very common scribal error. She is
therein said to have been a saint at Llech Maelienydd, and her church
to be in Maelienydd,! a cantred now, in part, in North Radnorshire,
but we have not been able to identify it. It is in all probability some
late sciolist’s corruption of Llech Mellte, 7.e., the Petra Meltheu under
which, in the Vespasian Cognatio, Hunydd, another daughter of
Brychan, is said to rest.2

The nameisrare. There was a Ceincair, wife of Fernwael ab Ithel,3
King of Glywysing, who died in 775, and a Ceincair, daughter of Mere-
dydd ab Tewdos (died 7¢6), mentioned in Jesus College MS. 20.

S. CEINWEN, or CEINWYRY, see S. CAIN

S. CEITHO, Abbot, Confessor

IN the Demetian or South Wales Calendar, denominated S, occurs
“ The festival of Ceitho, Abbot and Confessor, August 5.” The same
Calendar further mentions him as one of the Pumsaint or Five Saints
born at one birth, who were sons of Cynyr Farfwyn, of Cynwyl Gaio
in Carmarthenshire, and were commemorated together on All Saints’
Day. This is the only Calendar that gives these two festivals, but
in the Calendar in the Additional MS. 14,886, ‘“ Pymsaint ”’ occurs
against January 7.

It is not certain who Cynyr was. There was a Cynyr, the son of
Gwron ab Cunedda Wledig,* and a Cynyr, called also Cynyr Ceinfarfog,
the foster father of King Arthur (called Timon in Spenser) in Penllyn
and the father of Cai Hir, who gave his name to Caer Gai, near Bala.?

1 Myv. Arch., p. 42;9; Iolo MSS., p. 120.

? For the Mellte place-names see Owen’s Pembrokeshire, ii, p. 299.

3 Book of Llan Ddv, pp. 207-8. 1 Jolo MSS., p. 122.

® Skene, Four Ancient Books, ii, p. 458 ; Mabinogion, Oxford, p. 109; Owen’s
Pembrokeshire, ii, pp. 400-1. g
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Ceitho is the patron of Llangeitho, in Cardiganshire, and his Holy
Well there, Ffynnon Geitho, which issues from the rock and forms a
stream, is said to possess this peculiarity, that its water is tepid in
winter and cold ih summer.? To the Five Saints—who were Gwyn,
Gwyno, Gwynoro, Celynin, and Ceitho—is dedicated Llanpumsaint,
in Carmarthenshire, and there was formerly a chapel called Pumsaint
in the parish of Cynwyl Gaio (otherwise Caio), in the same county.

The Iolo MSS.% state that the patron of Llangeitho (apparently)
is a S. Ceitho the son of Tudur ab Arwystl Gloff.

S. Ceithyw is mentioned in an Ode to King Henry VII,3 his protection
being invoked for that king.

For the legend of the Five Saints see SS. GWYN, GwyNo, etc.

9 ' S. CELER, Martyr

NoTHING is known of the parentage of this saint, and his name,
under the form Celert, is simply entered as the patron of Llangeler
and Bedd Gelert by Lewis Morris in his alphabetical Bosnedd in the
Myvyrian Archaiology,* compiled in 1760. The period at which he
lived is also unknown. Rees? gives him in his list of Saints who
lived in the second half of the seventh century, “ including those of
uncertain date.” All that we know for certain about him is that he
was a martyr, for Llangeler church, in Carmarthenshire, of which he
is the patron saint, appears in the Taxatio of 1291 8 as Eccl'ia de
Martir Keler, which implies that the church was originally a martyrium.
There is on the glebe, near the church, a spring called Ffynnon Geler,
which was formerly supposed to possess medicinal virtues.

Dr. Erasmus Saunders, in his View of the State of Religion in the
Diocese of S. David’s about the Beginning of the Eighteenth Century,
observes that it was still the custom among the common people “in
their ejaculations to invocate, not only the Deity,” but Celer and other
Saints, who were ‘“ often thus remember’d, as if they (the people)
had hardly yet forgotten the use of Praying to them.” ?

Celer and Celert are forms of rare occurrence. In the pedigree of
Serigi Wyddel, who was killed by Cadwallon Lawhir, occurs ‘‘ Celert
ab Math ab Mathonwy '8 ; but it is very probably a late, made up copy.

! There is a poem on the well by Gwynionydd in his Caniadau, Aberystwyth,
1867, p. 94. T2, giat, 3 Ibid., p. 314.

¢ P. 422, © 8 Welsh Saints, p. 306. 8 P. 272. 7 London, 1721, PP. 35-6.

8 Jolo MSS., p. 81. There was a Celer, proconsul of Africa in 429, who is
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The name Beddgelert (locally pronounced Bethgelart) is a little
puzzling. It presupposes to-day the form Gelert, not Celert (bedd
being masculine) ; but among the medieval spellings we have Beth
Kellarth and Beth Kelert.! The combination #¢ makes Celert a late
form in Welsh ; if it were early we should expect #/2. It rather in-
dicates a Goidelic form for Welsh Celerth or Celarth.

Beddgelert church is dedicated to the Blessed Virgin Mary, Feast of
the Assumption. We do not believe that it was at first a hermit’s
cell, as has been supposed from the prefix bedd, nor that a Welsh saint
is embodied in the name. The original mound or grave was, in all
probability, that of some Goidelic chieftain. Browne Willis explains
the name thus,‘‘ Bedh significat sepulchrum et Kilart canis nebophroni.” 2
The association of the legend as known to-day with the place is quite
recent. The older form of the Kill-hart legend is preserved in the
Additional MS. 19,713, dated 1592, which says that the Princess Joan,
natural daughter to King John and wife to Llywelyn ab Torwerth (the
Great), brought this noble staghound with her from England, and
that one day it was fatally wounded by a horn-thrust, after a long
chase, and buried heré. In the same MS. and also in another MS.,
written about the same time, occurs an englyn, now well known,
“ to Llywelyn ab Iorwérth Drwyndwn’s hound (Kilhart) when it was
buried at Beddgelert.” 3 )

The local legend, in its later form, is very familiar through Spencer’s
ballad, written and published in 1800. In this form it occurs among
the fables of the pseudo-Catwg Ddoeth, written probably in the six-
teenth century, but is therein connected with Abergarwan, somewhere
in South Wales it would seem.> There is, however, an Abergarfan
in the Corris valley.

addressed by S. Augustine in two epistles, and a Celer, captain of the body-guard
to Anastasius, and consul in 508.

1 Sion Tudur (died 1602), in a long cywydd, entitled Almanac Tragywyddol,
has the couplet—

“ Gwell fydd gwenith yn y Ddiserth
Nag yng nghreigiau Beddgelerth.”

2 Survey of Bangor, 1721, p. 276. The last word should be nebrophoni (veBpog¢ovos),
fawn -killing. 3 J. Gwenogvryn Evans, Report on Welsh MSS., ii, p. 355.

4 Iolo MSS., pp. 154-5.

5 For the legend, its history and analogues, see Jacobs, Celtic Fairy Tales,
1892, pp. 259-64 ; D. E. Jenkins, Bedd Gelert, 1899, pp. 56—74 ; Gossiping Guide
to Wales, ed. 1907, pp. 307-8; Rhys, Celtic Folklore, p. 567 ; Baring-Gould,
Curious Myths. The earliest known allusion to it is in the Warwick Roll, written
and illuminated by John Rows, the antiquary, before the death of Richard III
(1485). The six crests borne by King Richard are there given in colour; an<
the sixth is a cradle o7, a greyhound Argent, for * Walys.”-
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S. CELYN FOEL, Confessor

CELYN MoEL (or rather Foel), ““ the Bald,” occurs in one list in the
Iolo MSS.? of the children of Caw. He is the Kelin of the Culhwch
and Olwen list, and is, no doubt, the same as Cuhelyn Foel (or Fardd)
of other lists of Caw’s children. Evidently some Glamorgan scribe
has mixed up Kelin ab Caw with Cuhelyn Fardd ab Gwynfardd Dyfed,
a well-known figure in Demetian pedigrees, who lived in the eleventh
century.

S. CELYNIN, Confessor

THERE were two Saints of this name, one belonging to North and
the other to South Wales.

1. Celynin, who was one of the twelve sons of Helig ab Glanog of
Tyno Helig, whose territory was inundated by the Irish Sea. It is
now known as Beaumaris Bay and the Lavan Sands. Losing their
patrimony, they became, according to the late accounts, saints or
monks of Bangor-on-Dee, and afterwards, some of them, of Cadfan’s
Cér in Bardsey.?

There are two churches dedicated to this Celynin—ILlangelynin,
in Carnarvonshire, in the neighbourhood of his father’s territory, and
another, of the same name, in Merionethshire. Browne Willis 2
gives the festival at the former as November 22, and at the latter as
the 2nd. Rees % gives the 20th against the latter, whilst others ° give
the 2nd for the former. The Calendars do not give his festival.

Ffynnon Gelynin, his holy well in Carnarvonshire, has a small oblong
building around it, with a doorway at the east end. It is mentioned
in the church terrigr, dated 1739. ““ There is in the South West of the
Churchyard a fine Spring-well, and ye House above it is about four
yards in breadth and five in length, and in good repair.” A stone
seat runs round three sides of the building. It is roofless now. The
well was formerly celebrated for its cures. Mothers who had weak and
sickly children brought them hither, and they were immersed in it
either early in the morning or in the evening, and afterwards wrapped
in a blanket and allowed to sleep. There was always a spare bed for
the sufferers at a farmhouse close by. The children’s clothes were

ESDNNIZ 28 2 Iolo MSS., p. 124 ; Myv. Arch., pp. 418, 422.
S szfey of Bangor, pp. 274, 276. 4 Welsh Saints, p. 302.
5 Carlisle, Topog. Dict. of Wales, 1811, s.v.; Cambrian Register, iii, p. 223.
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also washed in the well ; if they floated, the child would recover ; if
they sank, it would die. Children were always baptized with water
brought from this well.t

II. Celynin, one of the Pumsaint, or Five Saints, of Llanpumsaint
and the extinct Capel Pumsaint, under Caio, both in Carmarthenshire.
They were the sons, all born at one birth, of Cynyr Farfwyn, and
were commemorated on All Saints’ Day, according to one Calendar,
but on January %, according to another.

Perhaps it was to this same saint that the church in Archenfield,
Herefordshire, called Lann Celinni 2 in the list of churches in that
Deanery, circa 1100, was dedicated.

See further under SS. GwyN, GwWyYNO, etc.

S. CENEDLON, see S. CYNHEIDDON

S. CENEU, Confessor

HE was a son of Coel Godebog, and a saint in ‘‘ Garth Mathrin,”
by which the late writers in the lolo MSS. mean Brycheiniog. He
had Elen and Gwawl] as sisters, and was the father of Mor and grand-
father of Cynllo.? He is credited with being the patron of Llange-
neu or Llangenny, under Llangattock, in Brecknockshire, where his
Holy Well was formerly in considerable repute. Towards the end
of the eighteenth century, in removing an old building (on Pen-y-
daren farm), near the well, supposed to have been a chapel, a curious
old bell was found,* which is now preserved in the Library of the
University College, Cardiff. It is quadrangular in shape, made of
two iron plates hammered and riveted together, and was once covered
with bell-metal. It weighs nearly 7 lbs.

June 15 is given as the festival of S. Ceneu in the Calendars in Jesus
College MS. 22 (late fifteenth century) and the Iolo M SS. (circa 1500),
but it may be that of Ceneu, the son of Corun ; in fact, the saintship of
Ceneu, the son of Coel, rests on late and very doubtful authority.
He was one of the “ Men of the North,” who were warriors.

1 Arch. Camb., 1867, pp. 60-1, and local tradition. The north and south
transepts in this church were called respectively Capel Meibion and Capel Arianws.

2 Book of Llan Ddv, p. 275. 3 Tolo MSS., p. 126 ; Myv. Arch., p. 422.

4 Jones, Hist. of Brecknockshirve, ed. 1809, iii, p. 469. For a description, see
Newell, Hist. of the Welsh Church, 1895, p. 145.
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The Ceneu name, which means a whelp or cub, enters into Gwynn-
geneu, Morgeneu, etc.

None of the genealogies, not even the late ones, give a Ceneu as
daughter of Brychan. See S. Calx.

S. CENEU, Bishop, Confessor

Tars Ceneu was one of the early Bishops of S. David’s, and appears
to have been the ““ Keneu Sanctus,” son of Corun ab Ceredig, given
in the Progenies Keredic in Coft. Vesp. A. xiv. He founded the
church of Llangeneu, in Dyfed, which is now extinct, and its exact
site cannot be determined.! Llangeneu is given as one of the ““ seven
Bishop-houses in Dyfed,”” mentioned in the Laws of Hywel Dda,? and
the editor queries whether it was Llangan, in which parish is Whitland
Abbey. There is every probability that it was not. It was one of
the two that were ‘‘ free from ebediws, because there was no church
land belonging to them.” The seven were evidently monastic houses
of some kind or other.

Ceneu was the third bishop of S. David’s according to one text of
Giraldus Cambrensis, but in another he is absent from the list.3 In
lists of the Bishops of the Diocese he is generally entered as the
fourth.

S. CENWYN, Confessor

CENWYN is mentioned in one document in the Jolo MSS. as a Saint
of Bangor Badarn, at Llanbadarn Fawr, with his church in Ceredigion,
whilst on another page of the same work his name is entered in a list
of Saints in Morganwg and Gwent.# His pedigree is not given. Heis
supposed to be the patron of Cilcennin, in Cardiganshire, but the church
is generally regarded as being dedicated to the Holy Trinity. Meyrick,

1 Rees, Welsh Saints, pp. 245, 274 ; Jones and Freeman, Hist. of S. David’s,
P. 249.

¢ Ed. Aneurin Owen .(Rolls), p. 273; Myv. Avch., p. 962. It has also been
supposed to be Swansea (Col. W. LI. Morgan, Antig. Survey of E. Gowsr, London,
1899, pp. 234-5), Llangeneu (as also Sein Henydd) occurring in the Bruts as an
old name for that town (pp. 230-1). 3 Opp. vi, ed. Dimock, p. 102.

4 Pp. 108, 146.
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in his History of Cardiganshire (1808), on one page gives the Holy
Trinity and on another S. Cenwyn.! In the Cenwyn dedication it is
assumed that the parish name is composed of C! and Cenwyn, meaning
Cenwyn’s retreat, or rather cell, and that it does not bear the more
obvious meaning of leek-nook. Cz/in Welsh place-names seems to be
merely descriptive, meaning a nook or retreat, whilst the word cor-
responding to the Irish and Gaelic cil/ is cell, a cell, borrowed from the
Latin cella.

S. CENYDD (KENETH), Solitary, Confessor

ABOUT 1320, John of Tynemouth made a journey through England
and Wales to collect material for a Martyrologium and a Sanctilogium
of the English Church.

When in Wales he came across a single exemplar of the Life of S.
Keneth, and this was in so bad a condition, that he was able to read
and transcribe a portion only.? The Life given by him, and taken
into Capgrave’s Nova Legenda Anglie, is therefore incomplete. It is
a most extraordinary tale, a mass of fable. It was certainly composed
after Geoffrey of Monmouth had made the fortunes of King Arthur,
7.e. 1150.3 That it contains earlier matter is not to be doubted ; not
of an historical, but of a mythological character.

In the days of King Arthur, the prince of Letavia (Llydaw) or Brit-
annia Minor, was Dihoc, and he became the father of Keneth, who was
born of incest.

Summoned by King Arthur, as a tributary, to come to his court to
celebrate the Feast of Christmas in Gower, he took with him the woman,
and she gave birth to a child, who was born a cripple, with the calf of
one leg attached to the thigh.

Dihoc ordered the infant to be thrown into the river, but before
this was done, a priest baptised it and gave it the name of Keneth.

1 Pp. 47, 284.

2 ““ Multa alia de confessore isto glorioso in uno solo loco Wallie scripta vidi,
que vetustate quasi deleta legi non potterant.” His Life by John of Tynemouth
in the Cottonian Collection, Tiberius E. i (fourteenth century). Apparently the
same text occurs in Bodl. MS. 240 and Bodl. Tanner MS. 15.

3 “Illis diebus Arthurus totam Britanniam regens cum curiam suam in
natali Domini in provincia nomine Soyr teneret, principes sibi subjectos ad
prefatum locum convenire precepit ;- inter quos- et- princeps Letavie, regali
jussuiobediens iter arripuit.”” For Soyr of the printed text the MSS. read Goyr
and Goir, i.e. Gwyr, in English Gower. -
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The child was placed in an osier-woven cradle and launched on the
stream. This stream speedily carried it down to the river Lothur, and
that swept it out tosea. A storm arose and drove the cradle, dancing
on the crest of the waves, to the isle of Inisweryn, where it was cast up
on the beach. At once a cloud of seagulls fluttered over the child, and
the birds with beak and claw removed it to the top of a rock, and
there they stripped their breasts of feathers to make a bed for the
infant. The birds kept incessant watch over their protégé, spreading
their wings over him to shelter him from wind and rain and snow.

Before nine days had passed, an angel descended from heaven, bear-
ing a brazen bell, which he applied to the mouth of the infant, who
sucked vigorously at the handle, and received therefrom much satis-
faction.

Certain practical difficulties, such as would suggest themselves
to a mother, are got over by the author by an ingenious explanation.?

Thus Keneth lived till he was able to walk, and the garments in which
he had been wrapped when exposed, grew with him, expanding, as
does the bark of a tree.?

One day, a peasant who lived near the sea, and who had no family.
happening to light on the child, took it up and carried it home, and
committed it to his wife, who at once put the little Keneth to bed.
This caused tremendous excitement among the gulls; they came in
vast numbers, and dividing into two bands, one entered the house
and pulled the coverlet off the sleeping child, and the other, with screams
and by the aid of beak and claw, drove the cattle of the husbandman
towards the sea.

The man, alarmed for his live-stock, hastily carried back Keneth
to where he had found him, whereupon the gulls drove back his cattle
to their pastures, and, in the most tidy manner, replaced the coverlet
whence they had plucked it.

And now daily a female stag came out of the forest, and squirted
her milk into the bell that Keneth employed as his feeding-bottle, and
likewise filled some hollows in the rocks hard by.

Living thus, on milk and roots and herbs, Keneth grew to the age of
eighteen, and received instruction in Scripture and the Articles of the
Faith from an angel. Then this heavenly teacher informed him he
must depart to a reedy spot about a mile distant.

Keneth started ; probably on account of his crippled condition he
made a slow progress, for we are informed that he halted, and miracu-

1 ““Sordes vero quas puer naturaliter in secessum emittit, ille nunquam
faciebat ; subtilissimo enim cibo vescebatur, qui fecem non habebat.”
? “ Panni in quibus involutus erat, velut cortex circa arborem crescens,”’ etc.
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lously produced twenty-four springs to assuage his insatiable thirst
within the one mile he traversed.t

Arrived at last at his destination, he built himself a hut of woven
osiers and roofed it with reeds. Here he was joined by a man who
offered himself as his servant.

One day, nine robbers who infested the district, said to one another,
‘““ There is a holy man here who instructs all, and is very good-natured ;
let us see what can be got from him.”

So they visited Keneth, and he hospitably entertained them. Now
the men had left their spears outside, and Keneth’s servant, coveting
one, stole it, and when the robber asked for his lance, swore that he
had not seen it. ‘‘ Bring out the bosom-shaped bell,? and I will take
oath on that.”” 'When the man had so forsworn himself he went mad,
and ran away to Menevia, “ where, at the time, David had his seat,”
and there inhabited remote localities, living like a wild beast, till the
hair of his body completely clothed him. At the end of seven years,
Keneth prayed for his restoration, and the man returned to his service
a sincere penitent. Now it fell out that Morgan, prince of Glamorgan,?
came on a raid and swept together much plunder in the region where
was Keneth. The hermit thereupon sent his servant with the woman-
breasted bell to demand a share of the spoil. He met with a refusal
and abuse. Then the plunderers began to quarrel among them-
selves over the division of the spoil, came to blows, and many were
killed. Morgan, attributing this disaster to the offence given to Keneth
and disregard of the sanctity of his bell, went to him and offered
compensation. He took him up a height and bade him accept as
much ground as he desired. Keneth selected a certain amount up
to a certain river, and this was granted to him for ever.

It fell out that David, Teilo and Padarn were on their way, sum-
moning the abbots and bishops of Wales to the Council of Llanddewi
Brefi, and were hospitably received by Keneth. David requested
him to attend the synod.

“ Observe my leg, I am a cripple, how can I go ? ”’ answered Keneth.
Then David prayed, and Keneth’s contracted leg was relaxed, so that
he could walk as any other man. This did not please Keneth, and he
prayed, and at once up went his limb as before and the calf once again

1 “Locus est denso arundinum tegmine circumseptus, quasi miliario uno
distans. . . Carpens igitur sanctus viam . . . antequam ad locum ab angelo
designatum devenisset, in locis ubi lassatus membra quiete fovebat, fontes
viginti quatuor tellus in planiciem decurrentes eduxit.”

2 “ Clocula mamillata.”

3 ‘“Quidam princeps nomine Morgantius terram, que nunc Glamorgantia
dicitur, et terras affines usque fluvium Waiam suo habebat dominio.”
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adhered to his thigh. Consequently he did not attend the Council of
Brefi.

With this the story ends abruptly ; John of Tynemouth only adding
that Keneth died on the Kalends of August.

There are several points in this wonderful story that require con-
sideration.

1. The father is called Dihoc, prince of Letavia, 7.e. Brittany. Pos-
sibly Deroc is meant. This was the name of the father of Rhiwal, the
first who established a principality in Domnonia, and who received
S. Brioc. Rhiwal’s son was also named Deroc, and he is supposed to
have ruled from 520 to 533.1 Dom Morice, however, but he is of no
authority in such matters, conjectures that Dihoc stands for Dinot, son
of Budic, who married Anauved, and thus was brother of S. Qudoceus
and S. Ismael, the disciple of S. David.?2 That there existed such a
Dinot is doubtful. He seems to have been thrust into the pedigree
to serve as a hook upon which might be hung the fable of S. Ursula,
as her father is called Dinothus (or Nothus), of which the Welsh form
is Dunawd.

2. King Arthur is said to have been holding his court at Goyr; the
place was apparently Aber Llychwr (kodie Lougher), the old Roman
station Leucarum, said by tradition to have been the principal seat of
Urien Rheged and his son Owen.? '

3. The child, when born, was cast into a stream—probably the Lliw
is meant—which carried it into the Lothur (Llwchwr), and thence into
the sea, which swept the cradle up on the isle Henisweryn. There
can hardly be a doubt that by Henisweryn the Worm’s Head Island
is intended. It is explained as meaning in Latin énsula turbe. The
name, however, is evidently compounded of Ynys and Gweryn, and
the writer in his explanation took gwerin, i.e. turba, for gweryn, the
worm or bot that breeds in the backs of cattle. It is also called in
Welsh Pen y Pyrod, from pwr, a worm. Worm’s Head, like Orme’s
Head, is to be derived from the Norse ormr, a worm or serpent, and
is a rough translation of the Welsh name for the headland. The old

! De la Borderie, Hist. de Bretagne, i, p. 580.

2 In the pedigree, Hist. Eccl. et Civile de Bretagne, Paris, 1750, also given by
Deric and followed by Garaby. Trésvaux, in his additions to Lobineau, Les
Saints de Bretagne, 1836, hesitates as to whether S. Quidi be Cenydd or Quinidius,
Bishop of Vaison, d. 578. But how could the cult of a merely local Provengal
saint come to Brittany ? - :

3 The Description of Pembrokeshive, by George Owen, edited by Henry Owen,
D.C.L., where is a note (i, pp. 233—4) by Egerton Phillimore. A place called
Cae’r Gynydd, possibly for Caer Gynydd, at Waunarlwydd, a few miles from
Loughor, may preserve the name of the place where the saint was traditionally
born.
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maps of Kip and Speed give a chapel of S. Kinetus near Worm'’s Head.
The Burry Holmes, a little to the north, have also been suggested for
Ynys Weryn.

4. The name in John of Tynemouth’s Life is Kynedus, Kinedus and
Kenedus. Llangenydd occursin the Book of Llan Ddvas Lann Cinith
(p. 279). William of Worcester, in his Itinerary (p. 116), calls the Saint
“ Sanctus Keneth.” Cenydd is a dialectic variant, like cebydd for
cybydd, and Keneth is a mere English corruption.t
-~ 5. The story of the thieving disciple is made up from that of Elisha
and Gehazi, and the madness of Nebuchadnezzar.

6. Morgan, King of Morganwg and Glywysing, is certainly an his-
torical character. He murdered his uncle Frioc,? and had to expiate
his crime by making grants to ecclesiastical foundations. His name
occurs several times in the Book of Llan Ddv and in the Life of S.
Cadoc. The legend unfortunately breaks off precisely where the
fabulous matter might be supposed to end, and history to begin, with
the foundation of a monastic settlement in Gower.

Turning from this childish nonsense, we come to the more reliable
information supplied by the Welsh genealogies.

In reference to the Maen Cetti on Cefn y Bryn in Gower, split by
the sword of S. David, the JTolo MSS.3 relate: ‘“ There is a church
near, called Llanddewi, where they say the Saint was confessor, before
he was consecrated bishop; and it is the oldest church in Gower.
When, moreover, he became a bishop in Caerleon on Usk, he placed a
man named Cenydd ab Aneurin ab y Caw in his stead at Llanddewi,
and that Cenydd erected a church called Llangennydd. A brother of
his named Madog % erected the church of Llanmadog ’’ (now Llanma-
dock, in the same deanery of West Gower).

Again :5 “ Cenydd ab Gildas y Coed Aur ab y Caw Cawlwyd.
His churches are Senghenydd (¢.e. Caerphilly) in Glamorgan, where
he founded a Choir, and there the castle of Senghenydd was after-
wards erected. Another church of his is Llangenydd in Gower.”

Again: & “S. Cenydd ab Gildas y Coed Aur founded a Bangor at
Llangennydd in Gower, and another in Senghennydd which was
destroyed by the pagan English.”

Again:? “The sons of S. Gildas ab y Caw, called Euryn y Coed Aur—
Nwython, Dolgan, Cennydd, Gwynnaw, they were saints in the Choir
of Illtyd (Llantwit Major), and in that of Catwg (Llancarfan), their
kinsman. Cenydd founded a church and choir at Llangenydd in

1 Owen, Pembrokeshire, i, p. 233. 2 Book of Llan Ddv, p. 152.
3 P. 83. ¢ For Madog, see under S. AIDAN, 5 Tolo MSS., p. 102.
8 Ibid., p. 114. ? Ibid., p. 117.
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Gower ; and another choir at Senghenydd. The latter was destroyed
by the Infidel, and the present castle stands on its site.” Again:?
Cenydd is given as the son of ““ Gildas ab y Caw, called Gildas y Coed
Aur” ; and, ““ S. Ffili ab Cennydd ab y Coed Aur. He is in Gower.”

Once more:2 “Ffili, son of Cennydd ab Aur y Coed Aur. His
church is Rhos Ffili in Gower.”. This is Rhosilly, now dedicated to
the Blessed Virgin. Caerphilly is supposed to be called after this son
of Cenydd.

Senghenydd is the name of the mountainous district, now repre-
sented by the hundred of Caerphilly, with the town and castle of that
name on its southern frontier. It has been generally supposed to
stand for Sant or Saint Cenydd, but its earlier forms make this deriv-
ation impossible. It occurs in the Book of Lian Ddv as Seghenid, and
elsewhere under various forms, as Seghunit, Senghenith, Sainghenydd,
etc. In Welsh historical writings it has often been confounded with
Sein Henydd, the old name for Swansea Castle.

SS.Tudwg, Rhidian and Madog (his brother) were among the members
of Cenydd’s Choir at Llangenydd. In Brut y Tywysogion, under the
year 986, we read, “ this year the Black Danes came up the Severn
Sea in fleets and landed in Gower, where they burned Cér Cennydd
and other of the churches.” 3 '

Among the ““ Sayings of the Wise ”’ is one attributed to S. Cenydd—*

Hast thou heard the saying of Cennydd,

The son of Aneurin the skilful bard ?

““ None is free from anxiety but the good.”
(Nid diofal ond dedwydd.)

To sum up what we derive from the Welsh authorities :—Cenydd
was the son of Gildas, who is identified with Aneurin, but not the
Aneurin composer of the Gododin. He was himself a married man,
and the father of S. Ffili. From other entries we know the name of
another of his sons, Ufelwy or Ufelwyn.5 He was, for a while, a
member of the college of S. Ilityd, then of S. Catwg, and he was placed
by S. David in charge of his foundation in Gower ; but afterwards
he became an independent founder of a monastic establishment, or

1 Jolo MSS., p. 137.

2 Ibid., p. 109. Cennit occurs in a list of the Abbots of Llantwit Major
printed in the appendix to Williams’ History of Monmouthshire, 1796, p. 50.

3 Myv. Arch., p. 692. 1

4 Ibid., p. 254. In four lists, pp. 109, 116, 142, Cenydd or Cennydd is given
as a ‘“son of Caw,” but this should be grandson, in the same way as several of
the grandchildren of Brychan are called his sons and his daughters. In this
‘“ Saying "’ he is called ‘‘ son of Aneurin the Bard.”

5 Iolo MSS., pp. 118, 137.
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Bangor, at Llangenydd, now generally Llangennith, also in Gower.
The ruins of a chapel of S. Cenydd, at the new village of Senghenydd,
are still pointed out, and there is a Bryn Cenydd or Cynydd at Caer-
philly. ,

It was probably somewhere about 520 that Gildas * moved into
Brittany and established himself at Ruys. Later, about 544-3,
after he had launched his tract De excidio Britannice, there would seem
to have been an exodus of his brothers and sons from Wales and Corn-
wall, to escape the vengeance of the princes assailed by him in that
work.

Whether then, or later, we do not know, but at some time, both
Cenydd and his sons seem to have been in Bro-weroc, in the neigh-
bourhood of the settlements of Gildas, where they have left their mark.

In Brittany Cenydd is called Kinéde, Kidi, Quidi, Guidec and Kihouet.

His most important settlement was at Languidic,? between Henne-
bont and Baud, at no great distance from his father’s foundation at
Castanec. There the name is variously written as Kintic, Guindic
and Guidic. Here are five avenues of upright stones, like those
at Carnac, now called-‘“les soldats de S. Cornely,” but probably
originally attributed to S. Kinéde, and the tradition is that as they
pursued the Saint, he cursed them and they were turned to stone. In
the parish are several early Celtic Christian lecks or tombstones, one
of which bears an inscription. Also, in the same commune is a Kervili,
Caer-ffili, bearing the name of one of the sons of Cenydd.3

S.Cenydd has a chapel in the parish of Ploumelin, close to his father’s
monastery of Locminé. It is picturesquely situated on a granite rock
in a hamlet, and is in the flamboyant style, cruciform, with a hell-
turret to the north transept. A carved Calvary has fallen, and the
remains strew the ground at the west end. Within is an early six-
teenth century statue of the Saint as a hermit, bare-footed, holding
a book in one hand and a staff in the other. A cowl is drawn over
his head.

At Plaintel also, near Quintin, in Cétes du Nord, he is patron, and
there is a chiteau in the place called after him, Saint Quihouet, now
transformed into a hospital. It was formerly a house of the Knights
Templars. Here is shown a stone trough, supposed to have been S.

1 For the dates in the life of Gildas we must refer to our article on this Saint.

2 In 1160 Languidec was called Lankintic ; in 1290 Languindic. Le Méné,
Pavroises du Diocése de Vannes, 1892, i, p. 408.

3 Ibid., i, pp. 408-15. The lechs are sometimes menhirs with crosses and
other Christian symbols cut on them ; but often quite distinct, round-headed
stones. On one in Languidec is the inscription, Crax Harenbiuib Fil Heranhal.
See on the. Lecks, De la Borderie, Hist. de Bretagne, ii, p. 520.

VOR LTI 5 1
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Cenydd’s bed,‘ and frescoes represent his legend. Plaintel, again,
is at no great distance from the Gildas settlements of Magoar and La
Harmoye.

Near Loudéac, in the same department, is S. Caradec, and here is
a chapel of S. Quidi, with his statue in it, representing him as an abbot,
staff in hand, and holding in the other an open book.

Not far from S. Caradec is La Croix des Sept Chemins. The legend
goes that seven brothers, SS. Gonery, Merhé, Connec, Derdanaon,
Quidec, Geran and Joret embraced there, and separated to preach
the Gospel throughout the land, and each founded a chapel in the
direction that he took.

All the seven brothers had been brought up by a doe. In remem-
brance of this, annually, on the eve of the Pardon, in the chapel of
S. Merhé in the parish of Kergrist-Neuillac (Morbihan) fresh straw is
strewn in the porch, and the doe is supposed to pass the night there
sleeping on it.! This is an extension to others of the legend of S.
Cenydd, nourished by the doe. Who S. Merhéor Mérec was is unknown ;
the name seems to be a corruption of Meurig. Connec may be Cynog ;
Geran is Geraint the great-grandfather of Cenydd ; Gonery is known,
but not Derdanaon nor Joret.

The sons of Cenydd have left some traces also in Brittany.

S. Cenydd is given in Nicolas Roscarrock’s Calendar on August I.
This is the day also in Capgrave. The Pardon at S. Quidi is on the
Sunday after August 1.

Garaby gives S. Kineéde on August 1, and a short sketch of his life.
Whytford on August 1,says: “In Englonde the feest of Saynt Kenede
that was lame borne, and therefore he was cast in to a ryver whiche
ryver caryed hym in to y° see, and y® see cast hym upon a rocke in
to an ylelonde where he was fedde and brought up by an afigel, and
he was of singuler holynes and many wonderous myracles died in y*®
tyme of Saynt David.”

S. Cenydd’s body was translated, and his translation kept on June 27.
William of Worcester says: 2 “ Translatio Sancti Kenneth here-
mite die 3° post nativitatem Sancti Johannis Baptiste ; jacet apud
ecclesiam villee Sancti Keneth in Gowerland.”” But he tells us further
that the Saint’s relics were removed with those of SS. David and Teilo
to North Wales. ‘‘ Sanctus Davidicus de ecclesia Menevensi, Sanctus
Thebaus (Teilo) de Llandaff sepultus. Sanctus Keneth de villa
Keneth in Gowerland. Isti tres sancti et non plures sunt translati
in North Wallja:”

! Oheix (R.), Les Saints inconnus, in Association Bretonne, 1880.
¢ Itin., p. 116.
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in the Iolo MSS., where we are also told that he was a saint of Cér
Catwg at Llancarfan, and one doubtful entry makes him the father
of a S. Garrai of Llanarrai, 7.e. Llanharry (now S. Illtyd) in Glamorgan-
shire.?

Local nomenclature to-day connects him more especially with
Radnorshire. He is there the patron of two churches, Aberedw and
Disserth, in the Deanery of Elwel. His name enters into place-names
in two of the neighbouring parishes. There is a farm, Cil Cewydd
(his retreat), in the parish of Llanfihangel Bryn Pabuan, and a moun-
tain track above Llandilo Graban bears the name of Rhiw Gewydd
(his hill-slope), over which he may have journeyed to visit his brother
Meilig, or Maelog, at Llowes.?

To him was also dedicated the church of Llangew: ydd near Brldgend
Glamorganshire, now extinct, but its site is still traceable in a field
called Cae’r Hén Eglwys. In the fifteenth or sixteenth century tract

n “The Winning of the Lordship of Glamorgan ~ by Sir Robert
Fitzhamon and his Twelve Knights, in the eleventh century, it is
stated that Sir Richard Grenville, one of the Knights, brought with
him from the Holy Land * a famous Sarasin that was turned Christian,
Lales, a curious man in masonry . . . which Lales built the Town of
Laleston a goodly place, and pulled down the Church of Langewydd
and moved it to his new Town of Laleston.” 3, The church, now
dedicated to S. David, is subject to Newcastle.

The Lann Ceuid (translated Podum Ceuid) of the Book of Llan
Ddy 4 is believed by Mr. Egerton Phillimore 5 to be the Landcawet of
the grant cited in Kemble’s Codex Diplomaticus, iii, p. 450, the modern .
Lancaut, on the Wye near Chepstow. Cewydd (as Cewi, like Dewi
for Dewidd) is also perhaps found in Kewstoke, North Somerset ; in
Cusop, anciently Ceushope, near Hay ; and in Capel Cawey, % an extinct
‘“ capella peregrinationis causa erecta,” in the parish of Monachlog
Ddu, Pembrokeshire. Steynton church, in the same county, is given
as dedicated to a S. Cewyll, afterwards S. Peter, by whom may possibly
be intended Cewydd. Cwm Cewydd is the name of one of the town-~

1 Pp. 107, 109, 117, 136, 142. Cewydd means the son of Caw. The Gaulish
jos termination is patronymic. Cewydd Ynad was one of the laymen appointed
to compile the Welsh Laws. .

2 Arch. Camb., 1888, p. 270.

3 Powell, History of Wales, ed. 1584, pp. 124-41; Cardiff Records, 1903, iv,
pPp. 10, 17. According to Caradog of Llancarfan’s Brut (Myv. Avch., p. 705) Lales.
removed the church to Trelalys (Laleston) about 1111. It is a doubtful story, as.
Laleston was named after the family of Lageles (G. T. Clark, Carte, iii, p. 423).
The church may be the ““ Eccl. de Landewddith ”* of the Norwich Taxatio, 1254.

4 PpiRic6 7.
5 Owen’s Pembrokeshire, i, p- 189. ¢ Ibid., i, pp. 96, 509.
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ships of the parish of Llanymawddwy, Merionethshire, so called from
_ the brook Cewydd.

Cewydd is the Welsh Rain-Saint, and used to be credited with
determining the weather for the period of forty days, according as it
rained or otherwise on his festival. The Rainy Saint in England is
S. Swithun, Jul 1505 1n France, S. Médard, June 8, and SS. Gervais
and Protais, June 19 ; in Belgium, S. Godeliéve, July 6 ; in Germany,
the Seven Sleepers, June 27; and in the Tyrol the sainted Queen
Margaret of Scotland, called “ Wetter Frau,” June 10. Cewydd is
to-day superseded in Wales by S. Swithun, but he is still sometimes
popularly alluded to in Glamorganshire as ‘“ Hén Gewydd y Gwlaw ™
(Old Cewydd of the Rain). No tradition remains to tell us how he
became the Welsh S. Swithun. The idea is probably derived from
some general pre-Christian belief regarding the meteorologically
prophetic character of some day about that period of the year.

The festival of S. Cewydd occurs as July 1 in the Calendar in the Iolo
MSS. (““ Cewydd y Glaw ") ; as the 2nd (the day on which S. Swithun
died) in the Calendars in Additional MS. 14,912 (“Gwyl Gewe”) and
Jesus Collzge MS. 22 (“ Gwyl y Glaw ) ; and as the 15th (Translation
of S. Swithun) in the Calendar in Peniarth MS. 40. At Disserth his
Wake was held on the first Sunday after S. Swithun’s Day,! and at
Aberedw in the second week in July.?

Chancellor Silvan Evans, in an article in Y Brython for 1859,% says
that in many parts of South Wales July 15 was popularly called
Dygwyl Gewydd (or rather, Dygwyl Gawe, as uttered), and that it
was generally believed that if it rained on that day it would rain for
forty days in succession. Generally throughout North Wales that
distinction belonged rather to S. Peter’s Day. He adds that it was
the popular belief in Dyfed, or South-west Wales, that the Deluge
began on July 15, lasting for forty days.

Lewis Glyn Cothi (fifteenth century), in an elegy on Morgan the
son of Sir David Gam,* says that at his death Breconshire would shed
tears, which, for profusion, would be like the rainfall on S. Cewydd’s
Festival, which lasted for forty successive days.

Among the proverbial triplets, the *“ Sayings of the Wise,” occurs
one attributed to S. Cewydd—* "

Hast thou heard the saying of S. Cewydd ,

To his numerous relatives ?

‘“ There is no true friend but the Lord.”
(Nid car cywir ond Dofydd.)

1 Aych. Camb., 18358, p. 603. 2 Ibid., 1888, p. 271. 3 Pp. 153-4.
* Gwaith L. G. C., Oxford, 1837, p. 5. 5 Iolo MSS., p. 254.
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S. CIAN, Confessor

Liancian CHURCH, under Llanbedrog, in Carnarvonshire, was
founded by S. Peris, in conjunction with S. Cian, his servant. They
are both commemorated on December 11.! Browne Willis gives
Llangian as well as Llanberis as dedicated to S. Peris, with festival
on that day.2

A Cian is mentioned incidentally in the Black Book of Carmarthen,
the Book of Aneurin, and the Book of Taliessin, from which it may be
gathered that he was a warrior and bard 3 ; but the name was at that
time rather a common one, especially in Irish. As a common noun
the name means ““ a puppy.”

S. CIANAN (KENAN), Priest, Confessor

CIANAN was a disciple of S. Jaoua (Joevin), nephew of Paul of Léon,
and probably accompanied him from Morganwg to Armorica. He was
with him for some years at Landevenec under the Abbot Judual.#

He is not, however, named among the disciples of S. Paul in the list
given in the Life of that Saint by Wormonoc.5

When, about 567, Jaoua was raised to the episcopate on the retire-
ment of his uncle, he summoned his friend Cianan to him, and ordained
him priest. He sent him to reside at Plou-cernau, now Plouguerneau,
a plebs of Cornish settlers.

After a while Jaoua was entreated to return to a monastery, over
which for a while he had been head at Daoulas, to remove a blight
that had fallen on the crops after his departure, and he probably took
his friend with him. On his way back, Jaoua sickened and died, and
was ministered to in his last moments by his disciple. According to
the legend of S. Jaoua, Cianan was at Plou-cernau, but knew by
revelation that his friend and master was ill, and so went to him. It

1 Cambrian Register, 1818, iii, p. 225 ; Rees, Welsh Saints, p. 302.

3 Suyvey of Bangor, pp. 272, 275.

3 Skene, Four Ancient‘Boaks, ii, pp. 32, 65, 101, 130. The author of the
eighth century Genealogia, attributed to Nennius, mentions Cian, a bard dis-
tinguished ‘“ in poemate Britannico ”’ (see Stephens, Gododin, pp. 159-60, and
Litevature of the Kymyy, p. 201). The Cian of Nant Nimer, now Nevern, whose
death is recorded in the Annales Cambrie, s.a. 863, is too late. A cleric of the
name occurs as witness to a grant in the Book of Llan Ddv, p. 174, during the
episcopate of Bishop Berthwyn.

4 Colgan, Acta SS. Hib., p. 413. & Vita S. Pauli Leonensis, ed. Plaine, p. 28.
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is more probable that he accompanied Jaoua to Daoulas, and was.
with him on his return journey when he sickened.?

We know nothing more about him. Canon O’Hanlon, in reference
to him, quotes Thomas de Hibernia, who says that Cianan resembled
Ruth, who, having no field of her own, was content to glean in those
of Boaz the ears which the reapers left behind them.2

Cianan is to be distinguished from Cianan of Duleek, and Kenan or
S. Kea, the latter of whom worked in Armorica.

He does not seem to have received any cult in Brittany. Colgan
supposed that he was the same as a namesake found in the Irish
Martyrologies on February 23, without any particulars as to where
he lived.

In the Llanthony Abbey Calendar (Corpus Christi Coll.,, Oxford,
cod. 197) Kynan, Confessor, is entered on November 24 ; but this is
Cianan of Duleek. (See further under S. Kenan.)

S. CIARAN (PIRAN), Abbot, Bishop, Confessor

THE authorities for the Life of Ciaran of Saighir are—

A Latin Life in the Salamanca Codex of the Lives of the Irish Saints,
Acta SS. Hibern., Edinburgh, 1888, pp. 805-18; the same in Acfa
SS. Boll., Mart. i, pp. 394-9. Another from the Codex Kilkeniensis,
in Colgan, Acta SS. Hibern., i, p. 458 et seq.

The Latin Lives are derived from, and are condensations of an
early, probably Irish, Life. This early Life is supposed to have been
composed either before the devastation of Saighir by the Northmen
in 842, or that by the men of Munster in g52 ; after which latter it
remained desolate for twenty years. In one of these plunderings of
Saighir, Ciaran’s bell, called Barcon Ciaran, was cracked, and thence-
forth was called Bearnan Ciaran. In the Irish Lives, the bell bears
its first name, and moreover in them is no mention of the destruction
of the monastery, either by the Norse or by the men of Munster. In
846 Cormac the Scribe became Abbot of Saighir, and it has been
supposed that he had composed the Life before the Northmen raided
and plundered the Abbey.

! Acta SS. Boll., S. Jaoua, 2 March, i, p.138; after the lections in the
Breviary of Léon. Also the Life of S. Jaoua from the same lectionsin Albert le
Grand, new ed., 1901, pp. 52-6.

2 Lives of the Ivish Saints, ii, p. 699.
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A fragmentary Irish Life is in Egerfon MS. g1. Another, a
transcript made in 1758 by John Murphy of Carrignaver, in Cork, is
among the MSS. of the Royal Irish Academy ; and another in the
Egerton MS. 112. It has been printed in the Silva Gadhelica,
1891 ; also by Mulcahy, Life of S. Kiaran the Elder of Seir, Dublin,
1895. A Latin Life by John of Tynemouth is in Capgrave’s Nova
Legenda Anglice, as Vita Sti. Pirani.

The original basis of all these Lives was probably The Migrations
of Ciaran, attributed to his scribe, Cairnech the Bald, a book long
preserved at Saighir. The glossator on the Félire of Oengus says that
it existed in his day, and that it was a book of wondrous writing, with
many gressa (illuminations ?) and with the colophon—** Let everyone
who shall read it give a blessing to the soul of Cairnech the Bald.”” 1

A work on S. Ciaran by John Hogan, S. Ciaran, Patron of Ossory,
Kilkenny, 1876, deserves notice. It is an ingenious attempt to show
that Ciaran preceded S. Patrick in Ireland. His calculations are based
mainly on the early genealogies. By allowing thirty years for a
generatjon and taking Ciaran as tenth in descent from Oengus Osraighe,
he gives 375 as the date of Ciaran’s birth.

But in order to arrive at this, some serious assumptions have to be
made ; as that A.D. 105 was the true date of Oengus Osraighe, and next
that the pedigree is complete, and that there are no blanks in it.

The period at which the saint lived has been confused by interested
persons for a definite object. At the beginning of the eleventh century,
perhaps as late as the twelfth, a desire manifested itself among the
chieftains of Munster to have an archbishop of their own ; and to give
colour to a demand for one, it was pretended that there had been
four bishops in the South of Ireland before the arrival of S. Patrick,
and these were Ciaran, Ailbe, Declan and Ibar. Something to this
effect was accordingly foisted into their Lives. This naturally produced
anachronisms.

According to the garbled Life, at the age of thirty he went to Rome,
where he was ordained by Pope Celestine (422-30), after he had
spent twenty years in Rome. This would throw his birth back to
about 376 or 378. But Ciaran was allowed to make his foundations
by Aengus MacNadfraich, who fell in battle 489. He was visited
at Saighir by Lugaidh, son of Laogaire, who ruled from 483 to 506,
and he was the associate of saints who belonged to the close of the
fitth century. The Martyrologist of Donegal, confronted with these
difficulties, extricated himself by fabling that Ciaran lived to the age

1 Félive of Oengus, ed. Stokes, p. Ixii.
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- of 360 years,! which was indeed a liberal and quite unnecessary allow-
ance.

In order to understand the history of S. Ciaran, it is necessary for us
briefly to consider the limits and condition of the old kingdom of
Ossory. This kingdom anciently occupied the entire tract of land
between the Suire, the Barrow and the Slieve Bloom Mountains.
The name signifies the land between the waters. The Nore flows
through it, and all three rivers unite in Waterford Harbour.

It is a district that comprises three extensive plains, separated
from each other by ranges of mountains. Northernmost is the Magh
(plain) ‘Airget Ros, extending approximately through the present
Queen’s County. The second plain is Magh Reighna, bounded in
the north by the Thornback range, and in the south by the Dundergh
mountains. It is roughly represented by the county of Kilkenny.
This communicates by the “ Wind Gap” with Magh Feimhin in
Tipperary, a wide plain in which rises the Rock of Cashel.

From a century before the Christian era the kings of Munster claimed
a fine from the kings of Leinster, called the Eric of Eidersceal, to be
levied annually on the two southern plains of Ossory. The enforce-
ment of this fine proved a fruitful source of feuds down to the end of
the tenth century.

The Ossorians attempted to shake off the burden in the second
century. They were assisted by Lughaid Laoghis, from Leinster ;
but, as a price for his aid, were forced to surrender a portion of the
northern plain between the Nore and the Barrow, which was formed
into the little kingdom of Leix, under the suzerainty of Leinster.

Another cession of land took place later, when a slice was yielded
up to the Hy Bairrche.

Next, Corc, King of Munster, abandoned the old royal seat at Knock
Grafton, and seized on the Rock of Cashel in Magh Feimhin, com-
manding the whole plain. At the same time he re-demanded the
payment of the hated tax. At this time Ruman Duach was king of
Ossory, and he was founder of the Hy Duach, a sub-clan of the royal
race of the Hy Connla.

Corc of Munster, who died in 420, was succeeded by his grandson,
Aengus MacNadfraich, who was converted to the faith by S. Patrick
about fifty years later.

Before 470 a struggle had been undertaken by the Ossorians to free
their country from subjection to Munster ; but with the most disastrous
effects. From Cashel Aengus poured his forces over Magh Feimhin

1 Todd, Life of S. Patrick, 1864, pp. 198-221.
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at the same time that his kinsman Cucraidh burst into the two other
plains and overran them. A series of battles ensued. The Ossorians
were driven out of one plain after another, and Aengus constituted
of the two plains, Magh Airget Ros and Magh Reighna, an Ossorian
kingdom which he gave up to Cucraidh, to be held under the over-
lordship of Munster; and he swept all the Ossorians out of Magh
Feimhin and delivered it over to the Southern Deisi of Waterford,
to repeople and to hold as their own.1

The date of this high-handed proceeding is given in the Chronicon
Scottorum as 445.

Most of the royal race of Ossory were slaughtered, but Lughaidh,
grandson of Ruman Duach, was spared, and sent among the Corca
Laoighe, his wife’s family, in the south, on the sea-board of the present
county of Cork from Cork to Bantry Bay. It was precisely from
this district that Cucraidh, the usurper of Ossory, came. Lughaidh
could be safely kept and watched among the people of Cucraidh’s
own clan, the Corca Laoighe. His brothers were forced to embrace
the ecclesiastical profession, so as to incapacitate them from becoming
claimants for the confiscated crown. They were suffered for a while
to have churches in the Hy Duach (Odagh) country.

In exile, Lughaidh lived with his wife Liadhain, daughter of Maine
Cerr, related to Aengus and to Cucraidh, and it was due to this that
his life was spared. He seems to have been sent to Inis Cliar, now
Clear Island, the southernmost point of Ireland, as a further pre-
caution against his giving trouble. Here Ciaran was born, and was
given to be nursed by an exile, Cuach of the Clan Cliu, and she was a
Christian ; she formed his young mind, and instilled into his heart the
love and fear of God. We are hardly wrong in attributing to her the
giving of direction to Ciaran’s whole after life (see S. Ciwa).

Cuach returned with her tribe from exile in 458 or thereabouts.
Ciaran’s birth cannot be fixed with certainty. It might have taken
place as early as 438, when the Clan Cliu were exiled, or it may have
taken place somewhat later.

We are told in his Life that Ciaran did not leave Ireland till thirty
years old, and he was not then baptized ; and we are informed that he
remained twenty years abroad.2

1 The Expulsion of the Dessi, by Prof. Kuno Meyer; in Y Cymmrodor, xiv
(1901) ; O’Flaherty, Ogygia, ii, p. 243 ; Hogan, S. Ciaran ; Keating, History of
Irveland, etc.

*# “ Permansit itaque ibidem per annos xxti.,” Vita in Cod. Sal., col. 806.
In this Life his age before leaving Ireland is not given. The Irish Life says:
* Thirty years did Ciaran spend in Erin . . . before he was baptized,” Life, ed.
Mulcahy, p. 31.
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Whither he went we do not know, for all the story of his expedition
~ to Rome and ordination by Pope Celestine must be dismissed as
unhistorical. Probably he visited Cornwall and Armorica, whither,
apparently, many Ossorians had fled when Aengus devastated Magh
Feimhin, and gave it up to the Deisi.

If we are to believe the author of the Irish Life, Ciaran was aged
fifty when he returned to Ireland. He is spoken of as a disciple of
S. Finnian of Clonard. Finnian died in 548, and Clonard was founded
in 464. If Ciaran were at any time with him, he cannot have spent
so many as twenty years on the Continent, or cannot have been so
old as thirty when he went abroad.

Probably Ciaran returned to Ireland in 474,' and went first to his
native island of Inis Cliar, for a church and cross are shown there
that bear his name, or he may have attempted to settle at Rath
Ciaran in Kilkenny, as this place bears his name. But he was very
quickly summoned to the presence of Aengus MacNadfraich, King
of Munster. A son of Erc MacDuach, one of his own kinsmen, perhaps
the son of Erc his uncle, son of Ruman Duach, and therefore his first
cousin, had maliciously killed a horse belonging to S. Patrick, whilst
the Saint was visiting Aengus. The king, not sorry for an excuse to
deal sharply with one of the family of the Hy Duach, obtained his
arrest, and declared his intention of putting him to death. Ciaran
interceded for his kinsman, and undertook to pay the eric or legal
fine for the horse. When, however, he endeavoured to raise the
money, he found it impossible to collect the sum required. He was
happily succoured by accident. Aengus caught a chill that settled
in his eyes, producing acute inflammation. He at once concluded
that Ciaran had “ ill-wished ”’ him, and in a panic sent for him, made
peace, released the man who had killed the horse, and remitted the
fine.?

However, Aengus would not suffer Ciaran to settle and make a
foundation in the land of his fathers, and the saint wandered off to a
place just beyond the confines of the intrusive Cucraidh. It was a
spot near the centre of Ireland, on the boundary between the northern
and southern divisions of Ireland, but on the Munster side. This,
Seir-Ciaran or Saighir, is now a small village in the barony of Ballybritt,
in King’s County, not far from the north-western extremity of the
Slieve Bloom Mountains.

1 Thisis the date as near as can be determined of the meeting of S. Patrick and
Aengus, and the conversion and baptism of the latter. Shearman, Loca Patri-
ciana, 1882, p. 453.

? Vita in Cod. Sal., coll. 810-1 ; Life in Colgan, p. 460.
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In the legend, as afterwards elaborated, it was a spot to which
Patrick, whom he had met abroad, had bidden him repair, and where
was the well of Uaran, probably one to which sanctity attached in
pagan times.

According to the story, Ciaran began by occupying a cell in the
midst of a wood, living as a hermit, and his first disciples were a boar,
a fox, a badger, a wolf and a doe. Happily we are able to unravel this
fable. One of his pupils was S. Sinnach, of the clan of the Hy Sin-
nach, or the Foxes, in Teffia, near Saighir.  Another may have been a
member of the Broc tribe in Munster.  Os (doe) was unquestionably an
Ossorian disciple. S. Ciaran’s wolf was none other than his uncle Laig-
hniadh Faeladh. But facladh has a double meaning, it is  hospitable,”
as well as “ wolfish.”” There is a Kiltorcan, which must have been
founded by a Torc (boar), another pupil. By this we can see how
marvels were developed out of simple facts.?

S. Ciaran induced his mother, Liadhain, to found a religious house
for women at Killeen, not far from Saighir. “ A maiden came to
Ciaran, and he made her a Christian, and a true servant of God ; and
Ciaran constructed for her a little honourable cell near to the monastery,
and he gathered other holy virgins around her.” Who this damsel
was we are not informed in the text, but it would seem to have been
Liadhain,; a namesake of his mother, and a granddaughter of Cucraidh,
who afterwards became abbess.

Saighir, the name of Ciaran’s monastery, is explained in the gloss on
the Festilogium of Oengus as “ nomen fontis ’; and there can be
little doubt that such was the ancient orthography, Saig being the
proper name, and #ar, cool, the descriptive epithet. The injunction
already referred to, given by Patrick to Ciaran, when they met on the
Continent, was—

Saig the Cold,

Erect a city on its brink,

At the end of thirty revolving years
Then .shall I and thou meet.?

The same inference may be drawn from the words of the first Latin
Life of the saint printed by Colgan, “ Adi fontem—qui vocatur
Fuaran ”’ ; whilst the immediate import of the word is fixed in the
Tripartite Life,  Huaran enim, sive Fuaran, idem Hibernis sonat
quod Fons vivus, sive viva vel frigida aqua e terra scaturiens.”

The cell erected by Ciaran was of the humblest materials ; its walls
of wicker-work, its roof of dried grass.?

! Hogan, Life of S. Ciaran, pp. 124-6. 2 Tvipartite Life, i, p. 77.

3 The boar collects for the Saint ‘‘ virgas et fenum ad materiam celle
construendz.”
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Rapidly, however, the monastery grew in size, as disciples came to
Ciaran from every quarter. In the treasury was a miraculous bell
bestowed by S. Patrick on Ciaran, and which the apostle of Ireland
had prophesied should remain mute until the latter arrived at the
place designated as the site of his future resurrection. This bell,
which was called ““ Bardan Kierani,”” had been made under the inspec-
tion of Germanus, the Gallican instructor of Patrick. It was extant,
and held in high veneration at Saighir, when the first Life of Ciaran
was written ; it was also universally honoured throughout Ossory,
being carried to the treaties of princes, sworn on for the defence of the
poor, and used to sanction the collection of the tribute due to the
monastery by the people of Ossory. The Paschal fire was lighted
every Easter and kept burning during the entire year.

Ciaran was given a pupil, Carthach, son, or more probably grandson,
of Aengus MacNadfraich, and who succeeded Ciaran as abbot. Itis
difficult to resist the conclusion that this was due to an arrangement
arrived at by Ciaran with the king of Munster and the usurper of
Ossory. Aengus agreed to allow Ciaran to organize the religious
communities on the Ossorian frontier, on condition that his son or
grandson should be made coarb ; and that when he had arrived at a
suitable age, Ciaran should resign in his favour. In like manner
Cucraidh sent his granddaughter to Killeen on the stipulation that
she was to succeed there. By this arrangement it was provided
that the headships of the two great ecclesiastical and educational
establishments for Ossory should pass ultimately into the hands
of scions of the usurpers.

Carthach, who was thrust upon Ciaran, gave him much trouble.
He carried on an amour with one of the young pupils of Liadhain’s.
establishment ; and when Cuach, Ciaran’s nurse, had either succeeded
Liadhain at Killeen, or had founded another convent close by, Carthach
carried on the same game with one of her damsels. At length the
scandal became so flagrant that Ciaran advised Carthach to travel
and sow his wild oats at Rome. S. Itha said of this escapade—

Carthach will come to you,

A man who exalts Faith ;

A son will be born to Carthach,

Who will do no credit to his parentage.t

A damsel named Bruinech the Slender was with Liadhain at Killeen.
She inspired Dioma, chief of the Hy Fiachach tribe in West Meath,
with a violent passion, and he carried her off. The story has already
been told (see S. BURIENA).

L Félive of Oengus, ed. Stokes, p. Ix.
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The relation in which Ciaran stood to S. Patrick is uncertain. That
the sons of Erc, Ciaran’s cousins, did steal his horses, we are told in
the Life of S. Patrick, as also that he cursed them for so doing.!
There is, however, no mention in it of the intervention of Ciaran.
Why they showed such hostility to the great apostle we are not in-
formed. There exists a popular tradition among the natives of
Ossory that Ciaran and Patrick were not on good terms, and that
when they met Ciaran refused to salute Patrick. The tradition
may be worthless. One thing, however, is clear, the apostle did
encounter carping criticism and disparagement of his work on the
part of some fellow workers, and his ““ Confession ”’ was written to
disarm this opposition.

In the Life of S. Ciaran we read that King Aengus went with
S. Patrick to Saighir, twenty years after Ciaran and Patrick had met
abroad, and Ciaran slaughtered eight oxen and broached so many
casks of wine that it was said he must have turned the water of his
well into wine to furnish so much good liquor.

Aengus, no doubt, did visit Saighir at some time before 480 ; and
it was between 480 and 490 that Patrick wrote his “ Confession.”
It is possible enough that he may have visited Saighir and have met
with a cool reception. There exists jealousy even among the best of
men, and Ciaran may have thought that Patrick was taking too much
upon him in trying to extend his influence in Munster.

Whether on this occasion or on another we do not know, but eight
of King Aengus’s harpers or bards were laid hold of and concealed
in a bog. It is likely that the abduction was committed by some of
the Meic Duach, who did not relish hearing the bards sing exaggerated
accounts of the achievements of the victor, who had expelled them
from the ‘heritage of their fathers. Aengus took the matter in this
light, sent for Ciaran, and stormed and threatened. Ciaran was able
to appease his resentment only by recovering for him the eight men,
who had been kept in concealment in an inaccessible fortress sur-
rounded by morass. In the Life this was developed into a resusci-
tation of the bards from the dead. In the Irish Life we are told that
Aengus consulted Ciaran about his harpers, because, having become
a Christian, he did not like to consult a Druid.

There is, however, another way of reading this story. The harpers
had been actually murdered, and all Ciaran did was to discover their
bodies. In the south-west of the county of Kilkenny and on the
borders of Munster is the church of Tullaghought, the Cill of the
Tomb of the Eight, which may or may not represent the place of the

1 Tripartite Life, i, p. 109.
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sepulchre of these bards. But against this is the statement in the
Life, that the murder took place in \Iﬁsken’y Tlrtf which is close to
Saighir.?

One autumn day Ciaran noticed a magnificent bank of blackberries,
so large and luscious that, to preserve them from rain and frost, he
threw his mantle over it.

Now it fell out that Aengus and his wife Ethne Uatach, or * the
Odious,” at whose instigation Aengus had expelled the Ossorians
and planted the Deisi on their lands, arrived on a visit to Cucraidh,
the usurper, in his dun. Ethne was daughter of Crimthan and
granddaughter of Enna Cinnselach, who had banished the Clan Cliu,
and with it Cuach, Ciaran’s nurse. She was the second wife of Aengus,
who by this time was an old man, and she was young ; had, in fact,
been married to him whilst still a girl. A prophecy had been made
to the Deisi, so says legend, that the man who should marry Ethne,
who was being fostered among them, would give them wide and fertile
lands to colonise. So they fed her on the flesh of infants to ripen her
early.2 This is the bitter comment of the Ossorians on her conduct
in goading on her uxorious husband to invade Magh Feimhin and
expel the Ossorians. What is true is that, when she married Aengus,
mindful of her obligations to the Deisi of Waterford, she urged her
husband to the wanton invasion of Ossory, and the colonizing of the
land by the Deisi after he had driven out the natives.

When the royal pair arrived at the residence of Cucraidh, they were
well received, and Ethne conceived a criminal passion for her host.
This put Cucraidh in difficulties. He had no desire to embroil
himself with his over-king ; and in his dilemma he sent for Ciaran, who
arrived, bringing with him a basket of the blackberries he had preserved
from the frost, as a present to the queen.®

The legend writer, so as to distort a very ordinary fact mto a marvel,
pretends that the season was Easter. It is far more probable that
it was Samhain, the great feast and visiting time on November 1.
Partaking of the fruit served the purpose of cooling the queen’s irregular
desires, probably by upsetting her stomach, which blackberries out of
season are notoriously liable to do; whence the popular saying that
blackberries after Michaelmas Day belong to the devil.

The incident occurred after Saighir was well established, and prob-
ably not before 480. Ethne Uatach and her husband fell in the battle

1 Colgan, from the Kilkenny Book, p. 460 ; Irish Life, ed. Mulcahy, pp. 40-1.

2 The Courtship of Ethne Uatack, in O’Curry’s Lectures on the MS. Materials
of Irvish History, p. 586.

3 Much the same story is told of S. Cyndeyrn.

’\-



128 Lives of the British Saints

of Kelliston in 489, and, according to the Life, Aengus was succeeded
by his son Ailill. But the Book of Leinster and MacFirbis do not-name
him ; they make Eochaidh succeed, who reigned thirty years and died
519, or, according to the Four Masters, 523. But it is possible that
Ailill may have had a brief and uneventful reign or may have been
associated with his brother Eochaidh.

A gloss in the Lebhar Brecc on the Félive of Oengus thus describes
the monastic establishment at Saighir.—‘ Numerous were his cattle.
There were ten doors for his kine, and ten stalls at every door, and
ten calves at each stall, and ten cows to every calf. . . . Moreover,
there were fifty docile horses for the tilling and ploughing the ground.
And this was Ciaran’s meal every night—a little bit of barley bread,
and two roots of Murathach, and water from the spring. Skins of
fawns were his raiment, and a wet hair-cloth over these. He ever
slept on a pillow of stone.” !

The gloss is late, but it represents the tradition that Saighir was
or became a large place, and that the head of it lived abstemiously.

Cairnech the Bald was Ciaran’s scribe. 'We have no means of saying
whether he were the Carannog whose life as Carantocus we possess,
and who is said to have founded a church in Cornwall ; but it is a
significant fact that Crantock adjoins S. Ciaran’s foundation of Peran-
zabuloe. Cairnech wrote books for Ciaran that were long preserved
at Saighir, and among them a record of Ciaran’s travels.?

Situated as Saighir was on the confines of Munster and Meath, it
was liable to be ravaged in times of war. We hear of the king of
Ireland, probably Lugaidh,® son of Laoghaire (483-506), marching
against Ailill, King of Munster, and camping on the north side of the
river Brosnach, and Ailill was encamped on the Munster side, on
Ciaran’s land.

Happily so much rain had fallen on Slieve Bloom that the river was
in flood, and this interfered with military operations. Ciaran took
advantage of the occasion. to pass over the stream in his coracle, and
to negotiate a suspension of hostilities. This must have taken place
shortly after 480.

Lugaidh had not embraced Christianity, and he favoured the re-
action which was setting in against the new faith. 'When he died by
a flash of lightning, it was boldly asserted by the Saints that this was.
due to the vengeance of Heaven for his obstinate pagahism.

He was succeeded by the turbulent Murtagh MacErca, who had

1 Félive, ed. Stokes, pp. Ixi-ii. 2 Ibid,, p. Ixii. o~ p~- M
3 John of Tynemouth gives his name as Loigair, but Laogaire died in 463.
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been mixed up in internecine war in Ireland ever since his return from
Britain in 488. His name does not occur in the Life of S. Ciaran.
He reigned from 508 to 533. A

As Saighir grew in importance, and its daughter establishments
increased, it became inevitably a resort for all the discontented and
disaffected of Ossory. Members of the Hy Duach took refuge within
its territory or emjoyed the privileges of sanctuary. Ciaran had,
moreover, extended his authority north, over the Hy Fiachach, and
the king of Munster and the intrusive king of Ossory perceived that
Saighir was a danger to them. This, we can hardly doubt, was the
primary cause of Ciaran abandoning his foundation and quitting
Ireland. Carthagh had returned from his travels, and it might be
hoped had mended his morals ; and Liadhain, the younger, had grown
up and was: capable of governing a convent.

Although we are not told that Ciaran received an order to quit and
make room for Carthagh, we cannot hesitate in admitting that it was
sa.

We are informed that Ciaran expressed pleasure at the return of
Carthagh, which we are disposed to doubt. The Martyrology of Donegal
says that “‘Ciaran dedicated his congregation to God and to Carthagh,”
that is to say he surrendered the abbacy to him.

It was probably now that Ciaran quitted Ireland and made his
settlements in Cornwall.

He addressed those whom he left behind as follows :—‘‘ My brethren
and dearest sons, by Divine disposal it behoves me to quit Ireland
and to seek Cornwall and there await my end. It is not in my power
to resist the will of God. I exhort you, brothers, build up this place
by good works and good example, for those who will come will be sons
of perdition and death. There will come mortality and wars; the
churches will be destroyed and deserted, and truth will be converted
into iniquity. Faith will not shine in good works, the pastors will
look to themselves rather than the sheep, feeding themselves in pre-
ference to their flocks. I beseech you, brethren, pray to God that my
journey may not be dark, and lest after my death I should find my
Lord wroth, but rather merciful and placable and glad, when I appear
before His face.”

This is found only in John of Tynemouth’s Life of S. Piran; it is
not in any of the Irish Lives. It is obviously an addition after the
destruction of Saighir. When Ciaran left Ireland he took his pupil
Bruinech with him, as also, if we are correct in our identification of
S. Kew with Cuach, then his faithful foster-mother as well, to organize
the female education in Cornwall, where already many Ossorian
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families were settled. His mother was dead, we judge, as there is no
trace left of her presence in Cornwall. But a companion, Medhran,
accompanied Ciaran, and Medhran’s brother is probably the Saint of
Lanhydroc (see SS. MADRON and HYDROC).

The Irish hagiographers have nothing to tell us about the close of
the life of S. Ciaran.! The Lives terminate abruptly, and his name
does not occur after about 480 in the accounts we have of contem-
porary Saints.

John of Tynemouth says, on reaching Cornwall, he made for him-
self there a habitation (mansionem sibi fecit), and performed many
miracles. At length failing through infirmity of body, having con-
voked the brethren, he gave them instructions concerning the Kingdom
of God. Then he ordered his grave to be prepared, and into it he
descended, and there expired on the third of the Nones of March.
““ Quiescit autem in Cornubia supra mare Sabrinum, a Petrockstowe
miliaribus quindecim, et a Mousehole vigintiquinque.” That is to
say, at Perranzabuloe.

Leland, quoting from thelegend of S.Piran preservedat Perranzabuloe,
says :—‘‘ Piran, who is also Pieran and Kyeran in Ireland, was born
in the province of Ossory. His father’s name was Domnel, and that
of his mother Wingela. He was a disciple of S. Patrick. He came
to England and died, and was buried in Britain.” 2

The quotation from the legend shows that the version by John of
Tynemouth came from thesame Life as that preserved at Perranzabuloe.3
Leland drew a wrong inference from the words ‘“ Ossiriensi provincia
. . . originem traxit.” It was true that he derived from Ossory,
but he was not actually born in Ossory.

The English version of the Life of S. Ciaran makes sad havoc of
the Irish names. Lughaidh, his father, it converts into Domuel,
and his mother Liadhain into Wingella. Aengus of Munster it calls
Cohingus, and Cucraidh converts into Concolor.  His nurse Cuach be-
comes Cota,and his disciple Medhran is rendered Medardus. In it is also
mention of a King Corban, who was possessed of the evil eye, and whom-
soever he stared at fixedly he killed. Cairbre Crom is perhaps meant
he was the great-grandson of Aengus, and was king of Munster in 542 ;

1 In the Life in the Salamanca Codex it is merely stated that he died, but not
where he died, on March 5. In not one of the first Lives in Colgan’s possession
was it stated where he died.

2 Iiin., iii, p. 195.

3 “ Beatus Piranus qui a quibusdam Keranus vocatur, in Cornubia ubi
quiescit Piranus appellatur . . . Piranus itaque Ossiriensi Hibernie provincia,
ex patre Domuel et matre Wingella originem traxit.” Capgrave, Nova Leg.
Angl.
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but he cannot have been a king at the time that Ciaran was in Ireland.
The story is to this effect. Ciaran was holding a gathering (consilium)
which was largely attended. Corban was present and stared at a
youth who came to consult Ciaran, and the youth at once fell dead.
Ciaran was very angry and the king was struck with blindness. Then
he fell at the Saint’s feet and was healed, and the youth restored to
life.

If there be any basis of fact to this story it is this—Cairbre the
Crooked, a malicious boy, inheriting the prejudice of his family against
the royal stock of Ossory, which had been driven out of its lands and
had lost its position, disturbed a religious gathering held by Ciaran,
and maltreated a lad who attended it, but did not mortally injure
him.

Some of the legends that attach to S. Ciaran may be added.

He was on intimate terms with Ciaran of Clonmacnois and the two
Brendans, but Brendan of Clonfert must have been young at the
time, as he was born in 483.

One day, Ciaran of Clonmacnois and the two Brendans visited the
house of Saighir. The steward came to the abbot in dismay and said,
“ There is nothing to offer these distinguished guests except some
scraps of bacon and water.”

‘““ Then serve up the bacon and water,” said the Saint ; and when
they had been brought on the table, the guests courteously assured
Ciaran that his bacon tasted better than anything they had hitherto
eaten, and as to the water, it was as good as wine. But there was a
lay brother at the board, and he thrust his platter away angrily, for
he was tired of bacon, and had expected something better when dis-
tinguished visitors were present. ‘“Hah!” exclaimed Ciaran, flaring
up, “ The time will come when you, son of Comgall, shall eat ass’s
flesh in Lent, and soon after you will lose your head.” !

At Clonmacnois was a child named Crithid,  and in good works he
was a fool of a fellow, and wicked in malicious works.” He came to
‘Saighir and remained a while with the senior Ciaran. Now it was
customary for fire to be lighted at Easter, and kept burning through-
out the year, and it was regarded as a transgression to let the fire out,
and to rekindle it before the next Easter came. Consequently always
some one watched the fire night and day. But Crithid, maliciously
it is asserted, but probably by carelessness, let the fire out. Ciaran
was furious, and cursed the boy and said, ““ There shall be no fire in
this church till Easter, unless God kindle it.”

! Vitain Cod. Sal., coll. 816-7 ; Irish Life, ed. Mulcahy, pp. 47-8. Here told
somewhat differently.
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Next day the boy, who had run away, was attacked by wolves and
killed. Ciaran of Clonmacnois at once went to Saighir. He found
the place very cold, with snow on the ground and no fire. Then,
we are assured, the abbot of Saighir received it miraculously
from heaven. The head of Clonmacnois demanded his boy Crithid,
who, as he heard, had been devoured by wolves. ‘“Here he is!”’
replied the head of Saighir, and produced the child.? It is easy to
see here that the story has grown. The boy, having let the fire out,
ran away in alarm. Ciaran of Clonmacnois heard a rumour that he had
" been killed by wolves, and came to Saighir, where the child was pro-
duced, and he was satisfied that he had been deceived by a false report.
As to the fire, Ciaran the Elder overcame his scruples and rekindled
it by friction. Ciaran of Clonmacnois died in 548 2; Brendan of
Clonfert in 577 ; Brendan of Birr in 571 ®; Finnian of Clonard, with
whom Ciaranof Saighir studied, though, as we are assured, when he
was an elderly man,* in 552.5 Another contemporary Saint was S.
Ruadhan of Lothra, and he died in 585.6 As we have seen, he sur-
vived Aengus MacNadfraich, who was killed in 489, and also Patrick
MacCalpurn, who died in 493. It is, therefore, quite impossible to
accept the early date given to Ciaran,and for which Mr. Hogan has
contended.

Approximately we place his chronology as follows :—

Expulsion of the Clan Cliu by Enna Cinnselach . ¢. 438
Expulsion of the Ossorians by Aengus MacNadfraich 445

Ciaran born in exile on Inis Cliar . c. 446
Return of Clan Cliu; Ciaran loses his nurse c. 458
Ciaran leaves Ireland and is baptised c. 476
Ciaran returns to Ireland : c. 479 °
Ciaran meets S. Patrick at the court of Aengus at

Cashel ; founds Saighir c. 480

Ciaran meets Lugaidh, King of Ireland, at Salghlr < w1918
Carthagh obliged to leave for his immoral conduct . ¢. 484

Aengus MacNadfraich killed J 1 489
Carthagh returns, and Ciaran resigns and departs
for Cornwall . , : ; ] s e dOR
Ciaran dies ! ; . g s 2 . ¢ 530
! Life, ed. Mulcahy, pp. 48-50. 2 Ann. Four Masters.
3 Ibid. 4 Life, ed. Mulcahy, p. 51I.

5 Annals of Innisfallen ; but Four Masters, 548.

8 Annals of Tighernach ; Ussher, Britt. Eccl. Antig., ii, p. 533.

7 The Life in the Codex Sal. says he was twenty years abroad, but does not
say he was thirty when he left Ireland. The Irish Life says he was thirty when
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The dates for the most part are approximate. Mr. Hogan’s date
for the death of Ciaranis 465. Dr. Lanigan thinks he was alive after
550. This is certainly too late.

By the above calculation we make Ciaran aged only thirty-four
when he founded Saighir. He cannot have been much older, as his
mother accompanied him thither and founded her convent at Kil-
leen. The time when Ciaran resigned is uncertain. Carthagh was
abroad for seven years. But as Ciaran, on leaving Ireland, appar-
ently took his nurse Cuach with him, and she became a foundress
there, he cannot have been very much over forty-five years old.

The dates that are fairly determined are that of the expulsion of
the Ossorians from their land by Aengus in 445; the other is much
more certain, the fate of Aengus in the battle of Kelliston in 489. Now
it was on the expulsion of the Ossorians that Ciaran was born among
the Corca Laoighe—at least this seems the most probable explanation of
his birth so far from the land of his paternal ancestors. Yet Ciaran
visits Aengus, who drove his people out, and obtained his consent to
found Saighir some time before 48g. It is consequently certain that
Ciaran was quite a young man when he made this settlement. It is
absolutely impossible that he can have been aged fifty when he returned
to Ireland and founded Saighir, if he had been born when the Ossorians
were driven from their land. At that age, his mother could hardly
have been younger than seventy, too old to become the manager of a
monastic and educational establishment.

S.Ciaran is represented as having been a bishop, consecrated abroad,
and ‘ he ordained a great number of bishops and priests and other
grades of the church.”” 1

In the Martyrologies of Tallagh and Donegal, a certain Nem Mac
Ua Birn, abbot, is entered on June 14, and the latter says that he was
brother of Ciaran at Saighir. This, however, is uncertain. The name
shows that he was of the Hy Birn, the same as the Hy Duach.2 He
had seven uncles, forced into the ecclesiastical office to save their
throats from being cut, Cairbre, Cellach and Cennfaladh, Conaill,
Muiredach, Ruagussadh and Ubnea, two of whom were bishops. They
were the founders of the church of the Hy Duach or Odagh, now

he left Ireland, and that he was twenty years abroad. But this foreign excursion
has been much altered to suit the scheme of making Ciaran to be commissioned
by Celestine, and to precede S. Patrick.

1 Life, ed. Mulcahy, p. 51. )

2 Laoghaire Birn, son of Aengus Osraigh, gave his name to the clan, which it
bore till Ruman Duach, grandfather of S. Ciaran, gave that of Hy Duach to
his branch. Nem Mac Ua Birn may have been of the family ; he died 654, three
generations after S. Ciaran.
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Castleodogh or Three Castles, near Kilkenny. Here is a great tumulus,
most probably the fulach or family burial-place of the Hy Duach.

Some account of what remains of Saighir may be of interest. Its
cemetery came at an early date to be esteemed of peculiar sanctity ;
for the Saint, in answer to one of his three last petitions, is said to have
obtained for it the privilege that the gates of hell should not, after
the Judgment Day, be closed upon those who were buried near his
““ Cathedra.” The posterity of Dymma, prince of the Hy Fiachach,
were interred there. From a passage in Keating’s History of Ireland,
it would seem also to have become the burial-place of the kings of
Ossory. The cemetery was probably, at first, enclosed by the cus-
tomary earthen rampart or stone cashel ; but be this as it may, there
was no trace of cashel or rampart remaining in the year g17—perhaps
it may have been obliterated when the Danes ravaged Saighir in 842.
Then Sadbh, daughter of Donnchadh, son of Kellagh, Lord of Ossory,
grieved that Saighir, the burial-place of her ancestors, should remain
neglected and exposed, induced her husband Donnchadh, son of Flann
Sinna, King of Ireland, to build a wall round the cemetery. Whilst
the wall was a-building, it fell out that the father of Sadbh died and
was buried there. On the following night, and for several after, nine
spectres were seen squatted on the grave with gleaming white eyes
and teeth, howling forth a long Irish song. Twenty-four men died of
fright at the hideous spectacle.? ~ Notwithstanding this mark of royal
favour, the monastery was plundered by the people of Munster,
thirty-five years after the piety of Donnchadh’s consort had procured
the enclosure.

“The circuit of the ecclesiastical civitas may yet be traced with
tolerable exactness. It apparently embraced an area of about ten
acres in extent, enclosed by a fosse and double rampart of earth. On
the north side these defences are tolerably perfect; they are in good
preservation, also, towards the south-west, where the inner rampart
1s still of considerable height, and strengthened by an external facing
of stone ; and the south-western angle is defended by a lofty earthen
fort or tumulus. The principal entrance seems to have been placed
at the north side, and another gate may be traced in the southern
rampart. The entire area slopes with an eastern exposure down to a
small stream, and its upper portion is very much intersected with
earthworks, many of them running at right angles to each other, and

! This curious story is not given in the English translations of Keating,
having been considered too fabulous. It is given, along with the  Carmen
Hibernicum,” which the ghosts howled discordantly, in Graves and Prim’s History,
Architecture and Antiquities of Kilkenny, Dublin, 1857, p. 9, note.
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presenting the appearance of streets. The present churchyard lies
nearly central in the larger area, but nearer the upper or western side ;
it contains about one acre, and is clearly the original precinct of the
monastery : its boundary wall is, for the most part, extremely ancient,
and may, with great probability, be assumed to retain some portions
of the septum erected early in the tenth century at the instance of the
queen of Donnchadh, monarch of Ireland.” !

For an account of the churches and wells in Ireland bearing the
name of the Saint, we may refer to Mr. John Hogan’s S. Ciaran
of Ossory, Kilkenny, 1876, and to Canon O’Hanlon’s Lives of the Irish
Saints, March 6, vol. iii, and to Graves (J.) and Prim, (J. G. A.), His-
tory, Architecture, and Antiquities of the Cathedral Church of S. Canice,
Kilkenny, Dublin, 1857.

Among the Celts of Brythonic speech the Goidelic form Ciaran or
Cieran appears as Piran, Perran, and Peryn, in accordance with a
~well-known phonological law, whereby such Latin loan-words as pascha
and purpura, which appear in Welsh as pasc and porphor, become
catsc and corcur in Irish. When, however, the Welsh, probably at a
later period, adopted the name from the Irish, they took it over as
Carawn, later Caron.

As usual in the case of Irish Saints culted by the Welsh, what they
know of Caron is very little. The early copies of Bonedd y Saint know
nothing of him. In a Bonedd in Cardiff MS. 25 (p. 115), copied in
1640, he is, however, said to have been a son of Ithel Hael of Llydaw,
and brother to SS. Trillo, Tegai and Llechid. Nicolas Roscarrock,
from the MSS. of Edward Powell, says the same, and that he is rever-
enced in SouthWales. Here, probably, Caron is a misreading of Twrog.

He is the patron of Tregaron, Cardiganshire, which sometimes occurs
as Plwyf Caron. Lewis, in his Topographical Dictionary, says of
Tregaron. that it is “ the burjal-place of Caron, a Welsh king, who,
from a low situation in life, raised himself, by his bravery and gener-
ous deportment, to the sovereignty, which he held seven years ; after
his death, in the year 219, he was canonized.” 2 Rees includes him
among the Welsh Saints of the seventh century and * those of uncer-
tain date.” 3

The local tradition, still current, varies—that he was a prince, a
brave chieftain, or a bishop—but it agrees in saying that he was
buried where the church tower now stands, and that over his grave

! Graves and Prim, op. cit., p. 12.
2 The extract is an expansijon of Meyrick, History of Cardiganshive, 1808,
p. 252. In Geoffrey’s Welsh Brut Carawn is the form for Carausius,

3 Welsh Saints, p. 306.
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a large mound was raised. -We have here evidently traditions of two
distinct persons, a chieftain and an ecclesiastic, who have become
mixed up in the popular mind.

The festival of Caron or Ciaran, on March 35, occurs in the Welsh
Calendars in Cotton MS. Vesp. A. xiv, Additional MS. 22,720, Peniarth
MS. 191, the Tolo MSS., and the Prymers of 1618 and 1633, and he
is entered as bishop. He is also given in the Demetian Calendar (denom-
inated S), and the copy of it in Cwrimawr MS. 44 (sixteenth century)
adds that on his day there was “a fair, at which people used to swear
over Caron’s grave and to offer.” This fair, called Ffair Garon, held
on the 15th, 16th, and 17th, N.S. (the eve, day, and morrow of his
festival, O.S.), was in the olden days one of the largest fairs in Wales,
and even to-day (held on the two last days only) it has not lost its
popularity. Lewis Glyn Cothi, in the fifteenth century, who invokes
Caron in several of his poems, in one passage exclaims, “ By Caron’s
hand !’ ! which seems to point to a statue or hand-relic of the
Saint. ' '

His Holy Well there, Ffynnon Garon, was at Eastertide, in days
gone by, a centre of great attraction for the young of both sexes. On
Easter Eve crowds of children resorted thither, each one kringing
a small mug or cup and a quantity of brown sugar, and drank copious
draughts of the water sweetened with sugar. On Easter Day, or
Low Sunday, the swains met their sweethearts at the spot, and
made them gifts of white bread (bara can), which they ate, washing
it down with the crystal spring-water in token of affection.

Vuarth Caraun (Buarth Caron), Caron’s cattle-fold, at Castell
Fflemish, near Tregaron, is mentioned in the charters of Strata
Florida.?

A chapel was formerly dedicated to him as Piran in Cardiff. Giral-
dus Cambrensis says that King Henry II, on his way home from
Ireland, heard Mass in “ Capella Sancti Pirani”’ at Cardiff on Low
Sunday, 1172.2 It stood in Shoemaker Street, in the parish of S.
John, and it would seem that at the Reformation it was transformed
into the Guild Hall of the Cordwainers and Glovers, in whose records
for 1550 it is mentioned as “ Seynt Peryns Chappell.” 4

Ciaran is the Kerian to whom a church is dedicated in Exeter.

The church andhoely well at Perranzabuloe in Cornwall mark the

! Gwaith, Ox{., 1837, p. 473 ; cf. Myv. Arch., p. 330.

? Dugdale, Monasticon, 1825, v, p. 632; Arch. Camb., 1889, p. 51; cf.
Buarth Liwni. Caron occurs in three of the Tregaron township names.

3 Itin. of Wales, i, c. 6 ; Conquest of Iveland, i, c. 39.

¢ Cardiff Records, Cardiff, 1901, iii, pp. 349-50. Lewis Morris (Celtic Remains,
P- 346) mentions a Melin Beiran, in Anglesey.
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principal foundation there of the Saint, and there he was buried, and
his head was preserved in a shrine and exhibited to the faithful. The
relics of the Saint were highly venerated, and were resorted to by:
crowds of pilgrims. Bishop Bronescombe taxed the Vicarage on
August 13, 1269, assigning to the Vicar, infer alia, “ omnes obvenciones
de turnis Reliquiarum obvenientes.” They were again referred to in
the Visitation of 1331 ; the parishioners were then accused of abusing
their trust, by carrying the relics from place to place, and even
to a great distance ; an irregularity as to which they had been warned
before. In the Will of Sir John Arundel, Knight, dated 18 April,
and proved 7 June, 1433, is the following bequest :—** Item, lego ad
usum parochie Sancti Pyerani in Zabulo, ad claudendum caput Sancti
Pyerani honorifice, et meliori modo quo sciunt, quadraginta solidos.”?

In Domesday the church (Lampiran) is spoken of as collegiate.

- The ancient oratory of Perranzabuloe lies among the sandhills or
towans of Penhale, that extend three miles in length, and almost two
inland in parts. The moving hills of sand are held in check to the
north and north-east by the little stream that finds its way into Holy
Well Bay. The sands encroached to such an extent on the church
that the parishioners built a second about 300 yards off. This again
was invaded by the moving hills of sand, and a third church was erec<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>